
Meeting papers

Pension Committee

Friday 23 September 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





    

Pension Committee

Friday 23 September 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Andrea Griffiths

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

To answer any written questions about matters that are within the powers 
and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 15th September 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 15th September 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

5  PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES - (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the Public Minutes of the meeting held on 
16th June 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

6  PENSION BOARD DRAFT MINUTES (Pages 7 - 10)

The Committee is asked to note the draft Pension Board minutes from the 
21st July 2022

Andrea Griffiths

7  GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 
1 (Pages 11 - 46)

The Committee is asked to note the funding, investment position and 
governance activities.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

8  RISK REGISTER (Pages 47 - 56) Matthew 



    

The Committee is asked to note the Risk Register and the current 
elevated risks.

Trebilcock

9  GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE & POLICY STATEMENT (Pages 57 - 80)

The Committee is asked to approve the Governance Policy and 
Compliance Statement.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

10  LGPS PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKING REPORT (Pages 81 - 92)

The Committee is asked to note the LGPS Performance Benchmarking 
Report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

11  ANNUAL REPORT OF THE PENSION BOARD FOR 2021/22 (Pages 93 
- 98)

The Committee is asked to note the Pension Board Annual Report for 
2021-22.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

12  PENSION FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021/22 (Pages 99 - 138)

The Committee is asked recommend the Fund’s financial statements for 
2021-22, attached as Appendix 1, to the Audit Committee for approval.  

Matthew 
Trebilcock

13  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
agenda items, because it is likely that if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public.

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

14  PENSION COMMITTEE EXEMPT MINUTES (Pages 139 - 146)

To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the Pension 
Commttee meeting held on 16th June 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

15  PENSION BOARD DRAFT EXEMPT MINUTES (Pages 147 - 152)

The Committee is asked to note the draft exempt Pension Board minutes 
from the 21st July 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

16  2022 VALUATION RESULTS (Pages 153 - 232)

The Committee is asked to receive the 2022 actuarial valuation results 
and approve the report recommendation.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

17  INVESTMENT ADVISORS QUARTERLY REPORT AND STRATEGY 
ASSET ALLOCATION REVIEW (Pages 233 - 258)

The Committee is asked to agree the report recommendation.

John Arthur

18  GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE - PART 2 (Pages 259 - 
266)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock



    

Membership –  Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, 
Cllr Wendy Thomas, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr David Brown

Added Members - Peter Clark

Co-Opted Member - Cllr David Gray

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324204 /fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Thursday 16 June 2022 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Wendy Thomas
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr David Brown

Peter Clark
Cllr David Gray
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller

Apologies: Cllr Matt Babbage and Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington

In Attendance: Matthew Trebilcock (Head of Pensions), Alastair Rush (Head of 
Finance), John Arthur (independent Advisor) and Andrea Griffiths.  

58. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 

Councillor Stowe was duly elected as  Chairperson for the ensuing civic year.

59. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR 

Councillor Brown was duly elected as Vice-Chairperson for the ensuing civic year.

60. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

No declarations of interest were made.  

61. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

One public question had been received and the response was tabled at the 
meeting.  

62. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No member questions were received.  

63. PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the 3rd March 2022 were approved as a correct record.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

64. PENSION BOARD DRAFT NOTES 

It was noted that the Pension Board meeting was not quorate, so notes of the 
meeting were taken.

The Committee received the notes of the meeting held on the 27th April 2022.  

65. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 1 

The Head of Pensions presented the report which summarised the Fund’s funding 
position, market value, asset allocation, investment performance for the quarter 
ending 31 March 2022.

Members noted that by the end of the quarter to 31 March 2022, the Fund’s total 
market value had decreased by £120.655m, to £3,106.093m and over the quarter, 
total Fund assets produced a negative return of -3.8%, compared to a target of -
1.5%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 2.3%. It was reported that 
performance over the 3 years to 31 March 2022 was 8.3% annualised slightly 
behind the benchmark by 0.2%.

The Head of Pensions explained that Fund Administration remained challenging 
and he explained that two Group Pension Leader posts had been appointed to 
internal candidates, providing career progression. Their posts will now require 
backfilling, so currently no actual additional resources have been introduced into 
the team. 

Members were also advised that the Pensions Administration Manager had applied 
for and been granted flexible retirement as of November 2022 and he would be 
actively working on the triennial valuation from now until November 2022.  The 
Head of Pensions explained it was vital in retaining the Manager’s knowledge at 
this time within the service. It was noted that currently the performance statistics 
were not meeting their targets. The Head of Pensions advised that the team current 
focus was on delivering an equal service to all members of the fund and this can be 
seen by the average case time only being marginally outside of the performance 
target. This situation will improve with the addition of the new resources agreed by 
Committee, but it was advised that the onboarding and upskilling of new recruits 
into the technical nature of the work of the team and LGPS regulations will take 
time, before it will result in improvements in the key performance indicators.

The Committee noted the Taskforce for Climate related Financial Disclosure 
(TCFD) consultation document is now due in the Autumn 2022.  It was explained 
there a number of core projects were tracking the 2022/23 business plan and these 
were detailed within the report.  

During the discussion it was noted that an Employer Representative had been 
recruited to the Pension Board and the appointment process for the Employer 
Representative position on the Committee was currently underway.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Members raised concerns regarding the Pension Fund Administration figure of 
90%, they felt this figure was unrealistic as it hadn’t been achieved for over six 
years.  The Committee wondered if agile working had impacted this figure.  The 
Head of Pensions referred to year prior to the pandemic and he explained that the 
service had been under resourced for a considerable amount of time and it would 
undoubtedly take time to bring in staffing resources as individual’s knowledge 
needed to be built upon as it was a complex area of work.  He advised the 
committee that the issues cannot be resolved just by appointing new staff as it 
would take six to 12 months to see these additional resources being in a position to 
aide improvement due to the training and upskilling required This is a key area of 
focus for the Head of Pensions He did also advise that currently no breaches of the 
statutory requirements    

It was noted there would also be upcoming additional pressures on the 
administration team in terms of the McCloud ruling and this would require a 
considerable amount of manual intervention at times.  Officers explained he was 
aware of other funds who were operating at similar KPI levels, however many had 
taken the decision to reduce their targets in response to the pandemic and these 
remain at reduced levels.  

The Chair sought reassurance that newly appointed staff would receive direct 
training on a one to one in person basis.  The Head of Pensions confirmed that 
would the case, he reiterated that the pension administration team had worked on a 
rota basis in the office throughout the pandemic and they continued to do so.  

In response to a question, the Head of Pensions confirmed that all statutory 
timeframes as prescribed by regulation where being met. Some member felt there 
were no point of the KPI as they were aspirational targets and unrealistic in the 
current climate.

During the discussion it was suggested that IT software could help mitigate some of 
the issues.  It was noted there were a small number of pension software suppliers 
nationally and GCC currently used the services of one of the main provider.  
Members were informed that staff manually checked the calculations for accuracy 
and didn’t just rely on the output from the software and they should be commended 
on their efforts and accuracy, as this reduces the scope for errors and potential 
complaints.  The Committee were advised that an IT procurement exercise was 
currently being undertaken as is one of the key core projects contained in the 
Business Plan for 2022/23.  

Members referred to Brunel’s poor performance on equities compared to the 
benchmarks.  The IA agreed it was a fair point and that oil, gas and commodities 
had performed well this quarter while the majority of our sectors fell.  It was noted 
that the vast majority of portfolios hadn’t performed very well this quarter, as given 
the drive to reduce carbon emissions many of Brunel’s managers had reduced 
exposure to oil and gas and this should be recognised as a result of the outcome of 
the responsible investment approach taken.  The market position was compounded 
by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, hence the underperformance.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the funding and investment position and 
governance activities as at 31 March 2022 and supported the revised timeline 
on the governance work plan activities.

66. RISK REGISTER 

The Head of Pensions explained that in accordance with the Risk Management 
policy agreed by Committee on 3 December 2021, progress and activity in 
managing risks would be monitored and recorded on a risk register and key 
information would be provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and 
the Pension Board, as part of the regular update reports on governance, 
investments and funding, and administration and communications.  The Committee 
were advised that there were no major changes and the next version of the risk 
register would be brought to the September Committee meeting.  

In response to a question, it was confirmed that statutory risks were graded as 
amber.  Members also sought assurance that pension fund cyber security was 
tested regularly, this was confirmed by the Head of Pensions.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the risk register and the current elevated risks and 
the new risks as outlined in the report.  

67. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

68. EXEMPT MINUTES 

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 3rd March 2022 were agreed as a 
correct record.  

69. QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT AND STRATEGY ASSET ALLOCATION 
PORTFOLIO MODELLING 

The Independent Advisor presented the report in detail and advised members of the 
Fund Asset Allocation and investment performance for the quarter ending 31 March 
2022.   

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the report.  

70. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLEY UPDATE - PART 2 

The Head of Pensions presented the report in conjunction with the Independent 
Adviser and explained that the report was designed to be read in conjunction with 
the Part 1 report, which provided more detailed analysis and commentary on the 
Fund’s asset allocation, investment performance for the quarter ending 31 March 
2022.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the detailed performance reports for the quarter 
ending 31 March 2022 and the employer, Brunel and future investment 
activities of the Fund.

The Committee also approved the change to the actuarial assumption, as 
stated within the report.  

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.32 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Thursday 21 July 2022 
commencing at 10.00 am at the Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Annette Benson
Sean Collins (Chairman)
Colin Williams 

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Micheal Hunt

Officers: Matthew Trebilcock (Head of Pensions) and Andrea Griffiths 
(Democratic Services)

Apologies: John Abbott and Jon Topping

22. NEW APPOINTMENT TO THE PENSION BOARD 

The Board welcomed Colin Williams as the newly appointed Employer 
Representative, on behalf of the Lower Severn Drainage Board to the meeting.  

23. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

24. PENSION BOARD NOTES 

The notes of the previous meeting held on the 27th April 2022 were received.

25. PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES 

The Pension Committee draft minutes were noted.

26. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLEY UPDATE - PART 1 

The Head of Pensions presented the report which summarised the Fund’s funding 
position, market value, asset allocation, investment performance for the quarter 
ending 31 March 2022.

Members noted that by the end of the quarter to 31 March 2022, the Fund’s total 
market value had decreased by £120.655m, to £3,106.093m and over the quarter, 
total Fund assets produced a negative return of -3.8%, compared to a target of -
1.5%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 2.3%. It was reported that 
performance over the 3 years to 31 March 2022 was 8.3% annualised slightly 
behind the benchmark by 0.2%.

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The Head of Pensions explained that Fund Administration remained challenging 
and he explained that two Pension Group Leader posts had been appointed to 
internal candidates, providing career progression. Their posts would require 
backfilling, so currently no actual additional resources had been introduced into the 
team. 

Members were advised that the Pensions Administration Manager had applied for 
and been granted flexible retirement as of November 2022 and he would be actively 
working on the triennial valuation from now until November 2022.  The Head of 
Pensions explained it was vital in retaining the Manager’s knowledge at this time 
within the service. 

It was noted the performance statistics were not meeting their targets. The Head of 
Pensions advised that the team's focus was on delivering an equal service to all 
members of the fund and this was supported by the average case time only being 
marginally outside of the performance target. This situation would improve with the 
addition of the new resources as agreed by Committee, but it was advised that the 
on boarding and upskilling of new recruits into the technical nature of the work of 
the team and LGPS regulations would take time, before it would result in 
improvements in the key performance indicators.  This was a key area of focus for 
the Head of Pensions and he explained there were no breaches of the statutory 
timeframes.  

The Board were pleased to see that the fund position had improved but were 
concerned for team resources.  In response to a question, it was explained that the 
team was currently resourced by 25 full time equivalent (fte), but the aim was to 
increase to 33 fte positions and the roles needed to be core business in terms of 
administration.  The Head of Pensions explained that he was working with the 
actuary to develop a staff training programme for the new team.  The Board were 
reassured that no statutory breaches had occurred.  

It was explained a number of core projects were tracking the 2022/23 business plan 
and these were detailed within the report.  During the discussion it was noted that 
an Employer Representative would be recruited to the Pension Committee in 
September.  

Members asked if it was possible to split the investment return between the income 
and capital, the Head of Pensions explained that he would investigate the request 
further.  

During the discussion it was suggested that IT software would help mitigate some 
of the issues.  It was noted there were a small number of pension software 
suppliers nationally and GCC currently used the services of one of the main 
providers.  The Committee were advised that an IT procurement exercise was 
currently being undertaken as it was one of the key core projects contained in the 
Business Plan for 2022/23.  It was noted that Head of Pensions would lead on this 
project and was working closely with the procurement team.  The Chair added that 
Oxfordshire was in the same position, and suggested it might be beneficial to work 
jointly on this area going forward if feasible.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Resolved 

The Board noted the position of the Fund as at 31 March 2022 and the 
governance undertaken and subsequent recommendations agreed by the 
Pensions Committee at their meeting held on 16 June 2022.

27. RISK REGISTER 

The Head of Pensions explained that in accordance with the Risk Management 
policy agreed by Committee on 3 December 2021, progress and activity in 
managing risks would be monitored and recorded on a risk register and key 
information would be provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and 
the Pension Board, as part of the regular update reports on governance, 
investments and funding, and administration and communications.  

The Board were advised that there were no major changes and the next version of 
the risk register would be brought to the October Board meeting.  

In response to a question, members were advised that reputation risk was 
considered within the risk register and the metrics for risk were detailed in page 73 
of the report.  

During the discussion, it was noted that risk 8 on page 78 of the report had not 
been included.   Members also noted that risk 8 on page 76 of the report was 
amber and heat map needed to be amended to reflect this rating.  Also the title in 
the heat map box on page 75 needed amending.  The Head of Pensions agreed 
that the report would be reformatted and recirculated.  (Action - MT)

Resolved 

That the Board noted the Risk Register and the current elevated risks, as 
outlined in this report and the amendments agreed by Committee.

28. BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 

The Head of Pensions explained the report provided an overview of the items 
received and reviewed by the Board at its meetings in 2021/22, with additional 
commentary on the key items that the Board supported and continued to support, 
such as the Training Strategy and the Governance Review.

It also provided an indication of the future work programme for the Board, which 
would focus on the triennial valuation, governance review and the Funds core 
projects within the business plan for 2022/23.

The report detailed the constitution of the Board, the respective Employer and 
Member representatives and their attendance at meetings.  

Resolved 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

That the Board approved the Annual Report 2021-22.  

29. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

30. DRAFT EXEMPT MINUTES OF PENSION COMMITTEE 

The Pension Committee draft exempt minutes were noted.

31. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 2 

The Head of Pensions presented the report and explained that the report was 
designed to be read in conjunction with the Part 1 report, which provided more 
detailed analysis and commentary on the Fund’s asset allocation, investment 
performance for the quarter ending 31 March 2022.  

Resolved 

The Board noted the employer, Brunel and investment activities and the 
revised actuarial assumptions of the Fund.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.14 am

Page 10



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Pension Committee 
23 September 2022 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund update – Part 1 
Quarter ending 30 June 2022 

 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

 

Summary 
 

This report summarises the Fund’s funding position, market value, asset allocation, 
investment performance for the quarter ending 30 June 2022.  

 

Administering authorities, under the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 must keep under review the performance of 
their investment managers. This report fulfils this requirement. 

 

This report also summarises the Funds administration performance and activities up to the 
same period. 

 

Funding position 
 
The below information is to provide an update on the funding position as at 30 June 2022 
and how these compare to the position at the last formal valuation of the Fund (31 March 
2019). The results consider the Fund as a whole and not the positions of individual 
employers (which may vary materially). Further details on the methodology, data, 
reliance’s and limitations of the results is contained in Appendix 1. 
 
Please note that the results below are not based on the results of the 2022 formal 
valuation.   
 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 
Past service funding position: The Fund has a surplus of £647m as at 30 June 2022 compared 
to a surplus of £41m at 31 March 2019. This is up from £415m as at 31 March 2022. The 
improvement since 2019 has been largely driven by strong investment performance. 
 
Investment outlook: Prudent expectations of future investment returns have risen to 4.9% 
p.a. at 30 June 2022 based on a 75% likelihood of being achieved (at 31 March 2019, the 
equivalent return was 4.2% p.a. based on a 70% likelihood of being achieved). 
 
Fully funded required return:  
The likelihood of achieving the future investment returns needed to have sufficient assets 
to pay past service benefits has increased since the last valuation (there is now a 89% chance 
of achieving the returns needed).  
 
Therefore, the Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to meet earned benefit 
payments than at the valuation in 2019. The detailed funding report, prepared by Hymans, 
is attached at Appendix 1.  

 

Fund Investment Performance 
 

Over the quarter to 30 June 2022, the Fund’s total market value decreased by £181.909m, 
to £2,924.184m.  
 
Over the quarter, total Fund assets produced a negative return of -5.9%, compared to a 
target of -5.4%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.5%. 
 
Performance over the 3 years to 30 June 2022 was 4.7% annualised slightly behind the 
benchmark by 0.6%. A detailed investment performance report is attached as Appendix 2 
to this report. 
 
Investment Strategy and Activities 
 
During the Quarter the following investment activity took place: 

• During the quarter there has been a number of calls into the alternative asset classes of 
circa £20m in GBP terms and circa £18m in GBP terms into property, resulting in the Fund 
moving more towards its target allocation to alternatives and property. 

 

The current Strategic Asset Allocation is as follows: 

Asset Class 
 

Target 
Allocation 

% 

Range 
+/- % 

Allocation as 
at 30 June 

2022 
% 

Variation from 
Target 

% 

Equities 55.0 3.0 56.1 +1.1 

Fixed Interest 22.0 2.0 17.8 -4.2 

Alternatives* 23.0 2.0 26.1 +3.1 

 
A detailed Strategic Asset Allocation report is attached as Appendix 3 to this report. 
 

Page 12



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

Responsible Investment update 
 
On 1 September, the UK Government launched their consultation on Governance and  
Reporting of climate risks. The proposals apply to LGPS funds in England and Wales with 
regulations expected to come into force by April 2023.  
 
As widely expected, the consultation follows the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) framework and will require Administering Authorities to consider and 
report against the four key areas of governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and 
targets.  
 
The aim of this framework is to help the LGPS demonstrate how the consideration of climate 
change risks and opportunities are integrated into each Authority’s entire decision-making 
process. The proposals under the consultation are similar to the new requirements that came 
into force for private sector pension funds in October 2021 but include some key differences 
in order to reflect the needs of the LGPS, the desire to have consistency in data and reporting, 
and to try to positively impact the ability to accurately measure and report climate risk and 
emissions data. 
 
Key requirements proposed in the consultation 

• Establish and maintain a Governance approach for oversight of climate risks and 
opportunities. 

• Assess the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on funding and 
investment strategies. 

• Carry out scenario analysis reflecting different temperature pathway alignments (one 
being Paris aligned). 

• Establish and maintain processes for identifying and managing climate-related risks 
and opportunities. 

• Report on a minimum of four prescribed climate metrics which need to be measured 
and disclosed annually. 

• Set a (non-binding) target in relation to one metric, chosen by the Authority. 

• As part of ongoing disclosure requirements Authorities will need to publish an annual 
climate risk report with the Scheme Advisory Board also preparing an annual report, 
linking to individual reports and aggregate figures for the prescribed metrics. 

• Other requirements including taking proper advice and having the knowledge and 
skills required. 
 

The consultation opened on 1 September and has a closing date of 24 November 2022. The 
relevant regulations are expected to be in force by April 2023 with our first report due by 
December 2024 covering the 2023/24 scheme year. 
 
We will be holding a workshop/training day for Committee at the end of October which will 
include a session on the consultation. This will enable us to gather the views/consensus of 
Committee in formulating the Funds response to the consultation ahead of the 24 November 
2022 closing date. Further details of the workshop/training day will follow in due course.  
 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales-governance-and-reporting-of-climate-change-risks/local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales-governance-and-reporting-of-climate-change-risks


 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Fund Administration 
 
The focus of the Administration Team over the quarter to the 30 June has been the collation 
and validation of the membership data for the year ending March 2022. With this being a 
triennial valuation year the timetable for validation of the data received by the c200 
Employers and after validation checks and any required rectifications, after dialogue with the 
Employer, onward delivery to the Actuary meant a redeployment of the team resources to 
ensure this was met. 
 
The accuracy of the data is paramount in the valuation process, so the team have also 
undertaken additional checks on the 3 year data as part of our internal valuation process to 
ensure that our data is as accurate as possible, as this will have a direct impact on the required 
contribution rates that the Actuary will set for the Employers as part of the process.   
 
Further details on the valuation process are contained in the later agenda item, but I can 
confirm that the membership data was uploaded to Hymans on 20 July 2022, slightly ahead 
of timetable. Hymans have stated that accurate results depend on good data quality. Based 
on the DataPortal’s validations, Hymans believe the membership data we have submitted is 
fit for purpose for the initial results. The data will be further reviewed again as they prepare 
employer-level results at the next valuation stage. 
 
Annual Benefit Statements are required to be issued to all active and deferred members by 
31 August. Again this is a major one off exercise each year that requires some redeployment 
of resources to ensure delivery. I am pleased to confirm that we have met this statutory 
deadline and the benefit statements were actually issued slightly ahead of the deadline as 
this coincided with a postal dispute so we wanted to ensure delivery by the 31 August. 
 
As is always the case the receipt of the ABS does cause a substantial increase in telephone 
and email enquiries from the members in the initial 2 weeks of receipt of the statements. This 
normally also sees a increase in retirement estimate requests at the same time.    
 
The team are now implementing agile working, as per GCC guidelines, which will see greater 
flexibility across the team, but will result in a major change to the overall teams working 
behaviours. Th main objective of the Fund, to pay the right benefits, to the right person at the 
right time. The current performance indicators remain under challenge due to the volume of 
casework, which have returned to 2019/20 levels in most areas and new working practises 
(i.e. agile working) that remain in place. We have had to embed new Transfer Out 
requirements, which now require more due diligence checks to be undertaken by the team 
before payment can be made. We are addressing this through the increasing the resources 
within the team as set out below. 
 
The focus remains for the team to provide an equal service to all members of the Fund, which 
is demonstrated by the average days taken in all cases v the average day taken in cases that 
exceed the target, and I can advise that all payments are being made within statutory 
timeframes in accordance with the regulations. 
 
 

Page 14



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Staffing update 
 
I am pleased to advise that further to the appoints of Zoe Bowen-Viner and Chris Payne to the 
roles of Group Pension Leaders with effect from 1 June. 
 
The recruitment for Lead Pensions Officers (1 new post and 2 resulting from Zoe and Chris 
appointments) has been concluded and I am pleased to advise that Lauren Fielding, Zoe 
Broughton and Jessica Webley have all been appointed to the roles of Lead Pensions 
Officers with effect from 1 July. 
 
As a result of the above appointments we now have 6 Pension Officer vacancies (2 new posts, 
3 resulting from Lauren, Zoe and Jessica’s appointment, plus a vacancy from the resignation 
of Sam Woodridge). 
 
The Pensions Officer role has been advertised externally and we received 6 applications, or 
which 4 proceeded to interview. We subsequently had 1 withdrawal and from the 3 
interviews we have successfully appointed 2 new members of the team, Shaun Comer and 
Stacy Ridler, who will join the team on 3 October and 10 October respectively. 
 
We have readvertised the Pension Officer role again with a view to recruiting to the 4 
remaining vacancies. The application for this role closes on Wednesday 14 September, after 
which shortlisting and interviews will be arranged. 
 
As previously advised the Funds Pension Administration Manager, Alan Marshall applied for 
and has been granted flexible retirement, which will come into effect from 1 November 2022. 
With the impending projects such as McCloud and Pensions Dashboard retaining Alans vast 
knowledge within the Fund is key as well as developing succession planning and reducing the 
key person risk that currently exists. The recruitment process for a new Pension 
Administration Manager is currently underway and a verbal update will be provided at the 
meeting. 
 
Finally, I am also pleased to advise that the recruitment of the Pension Investment & 
Accounting Manager post has been concluded and I am pleased to advise that Nigel Gabb, 
who will be known to many members of the Committee will move into his role on 14 
November. 
 
Recruitment remains a challenging area across the entire LGPS and there are a vast number 
of Funds actively recruiting at this time in both administration and investment arenas and as 
the volume of membership continues to increase, as do the complexities of peoples 
circumstances, therefore, to ensure that we are able to deliver the ongoing level of service 
required we will need to undertake a review of all our processes to see how we can improve 
them either with efficiencies or with the implementation of IT systems. Alongside this, we will 
also be undertaking a review of the administration strategy and the performance indicators, 
that were previous reviewed in 2017 to see if they remain appropriate, this activity is built 
part of 2022/23 business plan alongside other key projects such as the Pensions Dashboard 
and McCloud. 
 

Page 15



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 
The onboarding on new members of the team, either existing team members in new roles or 
completely new members into the team, can create an additional burden onto existing 
resources, therefore, we have taken the following steps to help mitigate this impact. 
 

1. Hymans have been retained to provide a help desk facility for senior members of the 
team to seek technical guidance on complex case work, thereby alleviating the 
continual burden on internal knowledgeable persons and creating more resilience. 

2. Hymans will be providing a programme of high-level administrator training sessions 
to new and existing team member, via multiple streams (such as in person and 
online) on the key elements that go into administering the scheme. This will help in 
delivering a comprehensive training plan to upskill the new role holders as quickly 
and efficiently as possible. The rest of the training will be delivered by existing team 
members in a face to face mentoring programme. 

3. We have currently offered voluntary overtime to the existing team, of which 3 
members have taken up the offer, and we are monitoring this to ensure it does not 
have a detrimental impact on the individual. 

 
Further recruitment of the additional resources will be undertaken through the remainder of 
the Fund year to ensure we balance the requirements of delivery and staff onboarding and 
upskilling, which in the nature of the work that is undertaken can take up to 3 to 6 months 
for the staff member to become effective. In the meantime, we as a team remain focussed 
on paying the right benefits, to the right people at the right time, adapting where possible 
and ensuring we strive to deliver an equal service to all members. 
 
 

Business Plan 2022/23 
 

The following is a summary, together with commentary of the amber key tasks from the 

work plan agreed as part of the business plan for 2022/23.  

A detailed report against all items is attached as Appendix 5 to this report 

Governance 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Annual review against The 

Pensions Regulators Code of 

Practise 

✓ - on the 

2022/23 

business 

plan 

    

Approval of audited Fund 

accounts 

  ✓ - draft 

accounts on 

agenda. 

Audit 

ongoing 

  

 

Page 16



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

Core projects tracking from 2022/23 business plan 

Below is a brief tracking of the core projects identified in the 2022/23 business case. Further updates 

are provided in Appendix 5 to this report 

1) 2022 Actuarial valuation 

and associated tasks 

On track and operating to schedule  

2) Review pensions 

administration system 

contract  

On schedule – project planning in phase  

3) Pensions Dashboard 

(including a Data 

Improvement Strategy) 

Scheduled Q2/Q3 2022/23  

4) McCloud  Awaiting guidance  

 

Governance Review 
 

A detailed report on the tasks from the work plan agreed by Committee in September 2021 

is attached as Appendix 6 to this report. 

The task on the update of the Funds Governance Compliance Statement and Policy, 

together with the review of the scheme of delegation is contained as a separate agenda 

item to this meeting. 

With the revised timeline agreed by Committee at its previous meeting on certain tasks 

there are currently no amber items and the workplan is tracking to schedule 

 

LGPS National Knowledge Assessment 

In accordance with the Funds approved training policy and training plan we will be partaking 

in the the 2022 National Knowledge Assessment (NKA), the assessment will launch on 

Wednesday 28 September.  

The assessment will provide the Fund with a benchmark of current knowledge levels against 

other LGPS funds' Committee and Boards and will be tracked against the previous 

knowledge and skills assessment that we undertook in 2021 to see if the training 

opportunities that has been provided has been effective. 

The assessment will take 15-20 minutes to complete and will be an important step in 
helping us develop the next training plan for the Fund. Further details will follow via email in 
due course.  
 
 

Page 17



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Recommendation 

That the Committee note the funding, investment position and governance activities as at 30 
June 2022. 
 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 18



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP  

Funding update as at 30 June 2022 

This paper has been commissioned by and is addressed to 

Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”).  

Its purpose is to provide an update on the funding position and risk 

metrics as at 30 June 2022 and how these compare to the position at the 

last formal valuation of the Fund (31 March 2019).  The results consider 

the Fund as a whole and not the positions of individual employers (which 

may vary materially). Further details on the methodology, data, reliances 

and limitations of the results is contained in the Appendix and the Fund’s 

2019 valuation report.   

The results in this paper are not based on the results of the 2022 

formal valuation. 

Key points to note on the commentary of this funding update are: 

• The funding position is only a snapshot in time, based on a single 

set of assumptions about the future, and is therefore extremely 

sensitive to the choice of assumptions and market movements, 

particularly the expected future investment return assumption. 

• Actual benefit payments in the future will be in respect of both 

service accrued up to today (“past service”) and service that will be 

accrued in the future (“future service”).  The funding position 

presented is only in respect of past service benefits. 

• The assumptions have been derived in line with the Fund’s current 

Funding Strategy Statement (with the exception of the assumed 

future investment return, which has been set in line with the Fund’s 

desired level of prudence for the 2022 formal valuation i.e. a 75% 

likelihood of the future investment return being achieved, compared 

to 70% at 31 March 2019). The approach to setting all assumptions 

will be reviewed as part of the 2022 formal valuation.  

• The judgements relating to McCloud and Goodwin will impact 

employers differently (the analysis does not allow for these). 

Executive summary 

 

* likelihood of the Fund’s portfolio achieving these returns over the next 20 years 

Past service funding position: The past service funding position has 

improved. The Fund has a surplus of £647m at 30 June 2022 (compared 

to a surplus of £41 at 31 March 2019). The improvement has been largely 

driven by strong investment performance since 31 March 2019. 

Investment outlook: Prudent expectations of future investment returns 

have risen to 4.9% p.a. at 30 June 2022 based on a 75% likelihood of 

being achieved (at 31 March 2019, the equivalent return was 4.2%p.a. 

based on a 70% likelihood of being achieved). 

Fully funded required rate:  The likelihood of achieving the future 

investment returns needed to have sufficient assets to pay past service 

benefits has increased since the last valuation (there is now a 89% 

chance of achieving the returns needed). 

Therefore, the Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to 

meet earned benefit payments than at the previous valuation.   

Reported funding position 31 March 2019 30 June 2022

Assets (£m) 2,379 2,924

Past service liabilities (£m) 2,338 2,277

Surplus/(Deficit) (£m) 41 647

Funding level 102% 128%

Assumed future investment return (% p.a.) 4.2% 4.9%

Likelihood of achieving this return* 70% 75%

Fully funded target 31 March 2019 30 June 2022

Funding target 100% 100%

Future investment return required to be 100% funded (% p.a.) 4.1% 3.3%

Likelihood of achieving this return* 71% 89%

P
age 19



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

August 2022 002 
 

Liabilities 

Benefit projections allowing for changes in inflation: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The blue bars are the projected annual future benefits payments at 30 

June 2022 and the pink line on shows the total benefit payment 

projections at 31 March 2019.   

Actual pension increases at April 2020 and April 2021 were less than 

expected (1.7% vs. 2.3% and 0.5% vs 2.3% respectively). This reduces 

the future benefit payments from the Fund. However the actual pension 

increase at April 2022 was more than expected (3.1% vs 2.3%) which 

increases the future benefit payments from the Fund. 

Market derived long-term future inflation expectations at 30 June 2022 

have remained broadly the same as 31 March 2019 at 2.3% p.a. (noting 

that no allowance has been made for any changes resulting from RPI 

reform).   

The impact of the lower than expected pension increase at April 2020 and 

April 2021 has resulted in a decrease in the projected benefit payments as 

at 30 June 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 20



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

August 2022 003 
 

Funding level versus future investment return assumption  

At 30 June 2022 the estimated funding position has improved with the 

surplus increasing from £41m at 31 March 2019 to £647m at 30 June 

2022.   

 

The funding level has been calculated using a future investment return 

assumption which has a 75% likelihood of being achieved (in line with the 

Fund’s desired level of prudence for the upcoming 2022 formal valuation).  

The reported funding level is extremely sensitive to this likelihood.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The chart below shows how the funding level varies under different future 

investment return assumptions.  The likelihood of achieving these returns 

is noted next to each point of the chart.   

• From this chart, we can see that the likelihood of achieving any 

given future investment return is higher than it was at 2019.   

• However, regardless of the investment return assumption used, 

there has been an improvement in the funding position at 30 June 

2022 compared to the 2019 valuation, reflecting an increase in 

assets held today per pound of benefit to be paid out in future.  

• This improvement has been driven by strong investment 

performance over the period (19.6% since 31 March 2019). 

  

Reported funding position 31 March 2019 30 June 2022

Assets (£m) 2,379 2,924

Past service liabilities (£m) 2,338 2,277

Surplus/(Deficit) (£m) 41 647

Funding level 102% 128%

P
age 21



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

August 2022 004 
 

Indicative impact on future contributions 

Secondary rate contributions 

It can be inferred that the improved past service funding position at 30 

June 2022 is likely to have a positive impact on Secondary rates at the 

next valuation for the average employer, all else being equal.   

Of course any changes in funding position (and any impact on 

contributions rates) will be varied across the Fund’s employers and is 

dependent on each individual employer’s membership and funding plans. 

Primary rate contributions 

As discussed above, the past service funding position has improved. 

However, the assets held today only cover past service benefits – we still 

need to fund those benefits yet to be earned (i.e. Primary Rate 

contributions in respect of future accrual). For the average fund, two-thirds 

of the benefit payments made over the next 50 years will be in respect of 

benefits yet to be earned.   

Compared to the 2019 valuation, we expect a more challenging economic 

outlook in general which would apply upward pressure to Primary Rates. 

The key drivers of the expected increases in Primary Rates are   

• Lower yield environment in the future;  

• Higher future inflation expectations; and  

• Increased market volatility leading to wider spreads on yields and 
inflation.  

While improvement in funding positions is good news for the Fund (and 

the Employers), this only serves to limit the impact of the above. 

Summary 

Combining both these factors together, if the Fund’s funding strategy and 

investment strategy remained static, we may expect funding plans to be 

broadly unchanged at the 2022 formal valuation. However this may vary 

between employers. 

Reliances and limitations 

This paper has been prepared for Gloucestershire County Council as 

Administering Authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the 

purpose described above.  It has not been prepared for use for any other 

purpose and should not be so used.  The paper should not be disclosed to 

any third party except as required by law or regulatory obligation or with 

our prior written consent.  We accept no liability where the paper is used 

by or disclosed to a third party unless we have expressly accepted such 

liability in writing.  Where this is permitted, the paper may only be released 

or otherwise disclosed in a complete form which fully discloses our advice 

and the basis on which it is given.   

This funding update is based on a rollforward of the 2019 valuation 

and assumptions in line with the current Funding Strategy 

Statement.  For the 2022 valuation we will refresh the underlying 

membership data and assumptions which may result in the 30 June 

2022 funding position being different from the results in this update. 

The following Technical Actuarial Standards are applicable in relation to 

this advice, and have been complied with where material and to a 

proportionate degree: 

• TAS100 

This report together with the formal valuation report for the Fund (issued 

March 2020) and the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement set out the 

aggregate of my advice.  

 

 

 

Julie West FFA   

   

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

16 August 2022 

P
age 22



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

August 2022 005 
 

Appendix 

Assumptions and methodology 

Liabilities 

All demographic and financial assumptions underlying the benefit 

projections have been derived as per the Funding Strategy Statement in 

force as at the 31 March 2019 formal valuation of the Fund, with the 

exception of the assumed future investment return and the future inflation 

assumption (which affects the rate of future pension increases, CARE 

revaluation and salary increases). 

No allowance has been made for any other changes in the formulation of 

underlying actuarial assumptions. For example, future assumed long-term 

inflation expectations may be affected by the recent RPI reform 

announcement (RPI is expected to align with CPIH from 2030 onwards) or 

longevity assumptions may need to be revisited in light of any emerging 

data on the long-term health impact of Covid-19. As part of the 2022 

valuation all assumptions will be revisited, and any changes deemed 

necessary may have an impact on the funding position.  

Further details about the assumptions can be found in the 2019 formal 

valuation report dated March 2020. 

The future long-term inflation assumption used in the benefit projections 

as at 30 June 2022 is 2.3% p.a.. Therefore, as at 30 June 2022 we have 

assumed that: 

• Future pension increases are 2.3% p.a. 

• Future CARE pot revaluation is 2.3% p.a. 

• Future salary increases are 2.6% p.a. 

 

 

The benefit projections assume that membership experience since 31 

March 2019 has been in line with the assumptions made.  At a whole fund 

level, this assumption is reasonable to make and, for the purpose of this 

paper, we do not expect this to result in a material inaccuracy. 

We have also allowed for additional benefit accrual between 1 April 2019 

to 30 June 2022. This allows comparison with the Fund’s asset value as 

at 30 June 2022. 

Future investment returns 

To calculate the expected future investment returns, we have used our 

proprietary Economic Service Scenario (“ESS”) model.  Further details 

about the ESS model, and the calibration of the model as at 31 March 

2019, can be found in the 2019 valuation formal report dated March 2020. 

The calibration of the model as at 30 June 2022 is detailed below.  The 

following figures have been calculated using 5,000 simulations of the 

ESS, calibrated using market data as at 30 June 2022.  All returns are 

shown net of fees.  Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 5,000 

simulations and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 and 20 years, 

except for the yields which refer to the simulated yields for at that time 

horizon.  Only the overall Fund portfolio returns are shown, however 

similar information for separate asset classes is available on request. 

The portfolio returns are based on the Fund’s current strategic portfolio of 

assets (further details on this portfolio are detailed in the Fund’s 

Investment Strategy Statement, dated December 2021). 

 

P
age 23



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

August 2022 006 
 

 

 

The current calibration of the model indicates that a period of outward 

yield movement is expected.  For example, over the next 20 years our 

model expects the 17 year maturity annualised real (nominal) interest rate 

to rise from -0.9% (2.7%) to 1.1% (3.3%). 

Model limitations 

The models used to calculate the results in the paper make some 

necessary simplifying assumptions. I do not consider these simplifications 

to be material and I am satisfied that they are appropriate for the purposes 

described in this report. 

Sensitivity of results 

The results in this report are dependent on a number of factors including 

the membership details, current financial conditions, the outlook for future 

financial conditions and demographic trends such as longevity.  Changes 

in each of these factors can have a material impact on the results.  I have 

not sought to quantify the impact of differences in the above because of 

the complex interactions between them.  If further information about the 

sensitivity of the results to different data or assumptions is required, this 

can be provided on request. 

Funding Risks 

Please see the FSS for details of the funding risks that apply to the future 

ability of the Fund to pay all members’ benefits.  These include, but are 

not limited to: 

• Market risks – these include investment returns being less than 

anticipated or liabilities increasing more than expected due to 

changes in market conditions underlying the financial assumptions 

(e.g. inflation or pay increases above that assumed etc.). 

• Demographic risks – these include anything that affects the timing 

or type of benefits (e.g. members living longer than anticipated, 

fewer members opting into the 50/50 option, etc.). 

• Regulatory risks – the LGPS is a statutory scheme.  There is a risk 

that central Government legislation could significantly change the 

cost of the scheme in future. 

In particular, the benefit structure of the LGPS is currently 

under review as a result of the consultation on the McCloud 

and Sargeant judgement, HM Treasury’s and Scheme Advisory 

Board’s cost-sharing valuations as well as the recent outcome 

of the Goodwin tribunal.  Benefit changes as a result of these 

issues may materially affect the value of benefits earned by 

members both in the past and future.  I have made no direct 

allowance for these changes and may need to review my 

calculations once the outcomes are known.   

• Administration and Governance risks – failures in administration 

processes can lead to incorrect actuarial calculations.  For 

example, where membership data is not up to date (e.g. leaver 

forms not being submitted in a timely matter) material inaccuracies 

in respect of the level of deficit and contributions may occur at 

future valuations.  

16th %'ile 0.9% 1.1% -1.1%

50th %'ile 6.3% 2.6% -0.2%

84th %'ile 11.4% 4.2% 0.7%

16th %'ile 2.6% 0.9% -0.9%

50th %'ile 6.5% 2.5% 0.2%

84th %'ile 10.2% 4.1% 1.5%

16th %'ile 4.0% 0.8% -0.6%

50th %'ile 6.9% 2.3% 1.2%

84th %'ile 10.0% 3.9% 2.8%

Dispersion (1 year) 13% 1.4%

5

y
e
a
rs

1
0

y
e
a
rs

2
0

y
e
a
rs

17 year real 

yield

Portfolio 

returns

Inflation 

(CPI)

P
age 24



Gloucestershire Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

August 2022 007 
 

• Resource and Environmental risks – i.e. risks relating to potential 

resource constraints and environmental changes, and their impact 

on Fund employers and investments: such risks exist and may 

prove to be material. Given the lack of relevant quantitative 

information available specifically relevant to the Fund, I have not 

explicitly incorporated such risks in this advice. The Administering 

Authority may wish to seek direct advice on these risks. 

 

 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1

Performance vs Benchmark @ 30 June 2022
Market Value 

31.03.22
Market Value 

30.06.22

Asset Class Manager Inception Date £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark %
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark %

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel Nov-18 405,122           382,269               -5.6 -4.6 -2.6 2.9 0.4 2.1 2.9 4.3

Emerging Market Equities Brunel Oct-19 179,114           170,253               -4.9 -3.9 -19.5 -14.7 0.0 0.0 0.6 3.1

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel Nov-19 408,878           366,828               -10.3 -9.0 -10.7 -2.1 0.0 0.0 10.8 9.0

Sustainable Equities Brunel Sep-20 362,852           325,361               -10.3 -8.4 -10.5 -3.7 0.0 0.0 3.5 9.1

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 136,169           116,650               -14.3 -14.3 -11.5 -11.4 7.4 7.5 6.2 6.3

Passive Developed Eq Paris Aligned Brunel - LGIM Jan-22 307,747           279,735               -9.1 -9.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -6.3 -6.2 

Total Asset Class 1,799,882        1,641,096            

Fixed Interest

Multi-Asset Credit Brunel Jun-21 200,543           183,448               -8.6 1.2 -10.1 4.4 0.0 0.0 -9.2 4.4

Sterling Corporate Bonds Brunel Jul-21 365,269           336,610               -7.8 -6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -13.6 -13.2 

Total Asset Class 565,812           520,058               

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel Jul-20 233,716           226,813               -3.0 0.9 -1.5 3.4 0.0 0.0 2.1 3.2

UK Property Brunel Apr-20 258,077           254,249               4.8 3.9 20.8 23.3 0.0 0.0 11.5 12.8

International Property Brunel Apr-20 25,483              45,309                 12.8 7.9 30.0 25.9 0.0 0.0 10.4 10.7

Infrastructure - Cycle 1 Brunel Apr-18 26,046              28,360                 4.8 4.0 12.1 9.4 6.3 4.1 4.2 3.8

Infrastructure - Cycle 2 Brunel Apr-20 34,058              39,843                 2.6 4.0 8.7 9.4 0.0 0.0 1.2 6.6

Private Equity - Cycle 1 Brunel Apr-18 23,558              28,623                 16.1 -8.4 54.1 -3.7 22.6 8.4 27.3 10.5

Private Equity - Cycle 2 Brunel Apr-20 13,731              19,178                 16.6 -8.4 41.2 -3.7 0.0 0.0 70.0 4.7

Private Debt - Cycle 2 Brunel Sep-21 20,921              31,478                 3.7 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 3.5

Private Debt Golub Capital Partners Jul-17 33,228              36,025                 11.9 1.4 29.4 5.4 11.1 5.5 10.8 5.6

Private Debt Arcmont Asset Management Aug-17 22,878              22,325                 -3.9 1.4 1.4 5.4 5.6 5.5 6.2 5.6

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Oct-17 3,998                3,853                   -3.6 0.0 10.6 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

In-house Cash In-house Cash 5,431                7,263                   0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Fund Manager Cash Fund Manager Cash 39,274              19,711                 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total Asset Class 740,399           763,030               

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 3,106,093      2,924,184         -5.9 -5.4 -4.5 -1.7 4.7 5.3 7.2 7.7

3 Years 
Annualised Return

1 Year 
Total Return

3 Months 
Total Return

Since Inception
 Annualised Return

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 .

Fund Asset Allocation vs Strategic Asset Allocation @ 30 June 2022

Market Value 
30.06.22

Target Allocation* Range
Fund Asset 
Allocation
30.06.22

Variation from 
Target

Variation from 
previous quarter

Asset Class Manager(s) £000's % +/- % % %

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel 382,269                   12.0 2.0 13.1 1.1 

Emerging Market Equities Brunel 170,253                   6.5 1.5 5.8 -0.7 

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel 366,828                   13.5 2.0 12.5 -1.0 

Sustainable Equities Brunel 325,361                   13.0 2.0 11.1 -1.9 

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel - LGIM 116,650                   0.0 0.0 4.0 4.0 

Passive Developed Eq Paris Aligned Brunel - LGIM 279,735                   10.0 2.0 9.6 -0.4 

Total Asset Class 1,641,096               55.0 3.0 56.1 1.1 

Fixed Interest

Multi-Asset Credit Brunel 183,448                   7.5 1.0 6.3 -1.2 

Sterling Corporate Bonds Brunel 336,610                   14.5 1.5 11.5 -3.0 

Total Asset Class 520,058                   22.0 2.0 17.8 -4.2 

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel 226,813                   0.0 10.0 7.8 7.8 

UK Property Brunel 254,249                   7.5 1.0 8.7 1.2 

International Property Brunel 45,309                     2.5 1.0 1.5 -1.0 

Infrastructure Brunel 68,203                     5.0 1.0 2.3 -2.7 

Private Equity Brunel 47,801                     3.0 1.0 1.6 -1.4 

Private Debt Golub/Arcmont/Brunel 89,828                     5.0 1.0 3.1 -1.9 

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP 3,853                       0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 

Cash In-house Cash/Fund Manager Cash 26,974                     0.0 0.5 0.9 0.9 

Total Asset Class 763,030                   23.0 2.0 26.1 3.1 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,924,184               100.0 0.0 100.0

 Moving further away from target
 Moving closer to target
 Stable against target

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Pension Administration Summary Performance  

 

Table 1 – Summary Performance 

 

Service Target 2018/19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Actual 

2020/21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 to 
30/06/2022 

(previous 
quarter) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 96% 98% 90% 75% 58% 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 69% 61% 80% 64% 31% 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 98% 99% 93% 63% 73% 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 82% 67% 70% 51% 21% 

Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% 100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

Due by end 
of Aug 22 
- 100% see 

note 1 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 98% 99% 97% 96% 92% 

 

Table 2 – 2022/23 Performance to 30 June 2022 

Service Standards 
– Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 
(previous 
quarters) 

No. 
processed 
on time 
(previous 
quarters) 

Actual 
achievement 
(previous quarters) 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 
 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 155 90 58% 14 not available 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 244 76 31% 18 23 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 132 96 73% 14 18 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 24 5 21% 14 16 

2021/22 Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% Not due 
until 31 
August 
2022 

Not due 
until 31 
August 
2022 

Not due until 
31 August 

2022 

N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 59 54 92% 8 29 

Page 31



2 

Table 2 – 2021/22 Performance (full year) 

Service Standards 
– Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 
 

No. 
processed 
on time 
 

Actual 
achievement 
 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 
 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 699 523 75% 12 not available 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 968 624 64% 12 19 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 504 320 63% 14 20 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 74 38 51% 10 14 

2020/21 Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,265 34,265 100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 198 191 96% 6 35 

 

2020/21 Performance (full year) 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 534 482 90% 9 not available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 872 701 80% 12 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 424 395 93% 10 20 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 89 62 70% 10 17 

2019/20 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,434 see 
note 1 

34,434 see 
note 1 

100% see note 
1 

N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 136 132 97% 6 22 

 

Page 32



3 

2019/20 Performance (full year) 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 739 724 98% 8 not available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 983 603 61% 13 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 649 641 99% 7 23 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 76 51 67% 7 10 

2018/19 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,167 see 
note 1 

34,167 see 
note 1 

100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 194 192 99% 4 16 

 

2018/19 Performance (full year) 

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement 

No. Processed No. 
processed on 
time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 

Estimates to employees (15 
days) 

90% 615 587 96% 7 

Retirements and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 858 592 69% 13 

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 620 609 98% 7 

Death Grants Paid (8 days) 90% 79 65 82% 7 

2017/18 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within the 
statutory deadline 

100% 32,817 see 
note 1 

32,817 see 
note 1 

100% see note 
1 

N/A 

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days) 

90% 147 144 98 5 

 

 

Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were 

received by the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the 

member records held within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% 

of the Annual Benefit Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory 

deadline. 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Business Plan 2022/23 
 

The following is an update on the Key Tasks/Work Plan which formed part of the agreed 

business plan for 2022/23.  

Comments on each topic are contained within the table. For the amber items, this 

represents that these activities are yet to commence, but these activities are scheduled to 

take place over multiple quarters: 

Governance 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of Risk Register ✓ ✓ ✓ - on 

agenda 

  

Approval of External Audit Plan  ✓    

Implement outcomes of the 

Funds Governance Review 

✓ ✓ ✓ - 

operating to 

workplan 

  

Review and approve Business 

Plan 

✓     

Annual review against The 

Pensions Regulators Code of 

Practise 

✓ - on the 

2022/23 

business 

plan 

    

Approval of audited Fund 

accounts 

  ✓ - draft 

accounts on 

agenda. 

Audit 

ongoing 

  

Approval of Annual Report      

Review Policy Statements ✓  ✓ - on 

agenda 

  

Training Needs Analysis      

Review Breaches log ✓ ✓ ✓ - 

confirmation 

on agenda 

  

Monitor employer activity ✓ ✓ ✓ - on 

agenda 

  

 

 

 

Page 35



 

 

Funding 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of ongoing funding 

position 

✓ ✓ ✓ - on 

agenda 

  

Cash flow modelling    To be 

delivered 

earlier 

 

Review the Funding Strategy 

Statement 

  ✓ - on 

agenda. 

Brought to 

Committee 

1 quarter 

earlier 

  

 

Investment Management 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Monitor Fund Performance ✓ ✓ ✓ - on 

agenda 

  

Responsible Investment 

Reporting 

 ✓    

Review the Funds Investment 

Strategy Statement 

 ✓ ✓ - on 

agenda 

  

Review the Funds Responsible 

Investment Policy 

     

Review the recommendations 

of the Taskforce for Climate-

related Financial Disclosure 

(TCFD) and requirements for 

UK Stewardship code signatory 

status 

✓ - on the 

2022/23 

business 

plan 

x – awaiting 

consultation 

from DHLUC 

✓ - 

consultation 

on agenda. 

Workshop 

to be 

arranged to 

provide 

response 

  

 

 

 

Page 36



 

Administration 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Issue Annual Benefit 

Statements to active and 

deferred members 

  ✓ - 

completed 

  

P60’s distributed to pensioner 

members 

 ✓ - 

completed 

   

Recruitment of agreed 

additional resources 

 ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

  

Annual pension in payment and 

CARE accrual increase exercise 

 ✓ - 

completed 

   

Annual submission of HMRC 

Event report 

✓ - 

completed 

    

Issue notices to employees for 

breaches of HMRC Annual 

Allowance limits 

     

Provision of data to actuary to 

produce financial accounting 

required for employer accounts 

 ✓ ✓ - 

completed 

  

Reconciliation of membership 

data for all employers 

✓ ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

with 1 

remaining 

employer 

  

Review and correct data errors   ✓ - 

ongoing 

  

Process and reconcile 

membership pay and 

contribution data for year end 

 ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

  

Data quality assessment for the 

Pensions Regulator 

  ✓ - 

completed 

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Core Projects for 2022/23 

 

 

1) 2022 Actuarial Valuation and associated tasks 

What is it?  

It is the formal actuarial valuation of the Fund detailing the solvency position and other financial 
metrics. It is a legal requirement of the LGPS Regulations. It determines the contribution rates 
payable by the employers to fund the cost of benefits and make good any existing shortfalls as set 
out in the separate Funding Strategy Statement. This is considered in conjunction with an 
employer risk management assessment. The exercise will include cash flow projections that can 
be used to prepare the Funds cash management and investment strategy.  

Timescales and Stages 

Effective date 31 March 2022 

Initial whole Fund results (expected) 2022/23 Q2 

Individual Employer results (expected) 2022/23 Q3  

Deadline for agreement of all contributions and sign-off 31 March 2023 

Resource and Budget Implications 

The exercise will be performed by the Funds Actuary and it will determine contribution 
requirements for all participating employers from 1 April 2023. It is a major exercise for the Fund 
and will take considerable resource from the Administration and Finance teams over 2022/23. 
Employers will be formally consulted on the funding strategy as part of the process. The Fund 
Actuary's costs in relation to this exercise are included in the 2022/23 budget. 

Current Status  

 

Current activity 

 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

2) Review pensions administration system contract  

 

What is it?  

The Fund has a contract with Aquila Heywood in relation to their Altair administration system 
which expires in 2023. The Fund have access to the LGPS National Frameworks, which includes a 
framework for pensions administration systems. It is envisaged that the Fund would make use of 
this framework.  

Should a new software supplier be appointed, there will be a significant amount of work required 
to migrate to the new system.  

Timescales and Stages  

Finalise national framework for pensions administration system 2020/21 Q1  

Conduct tender for CPF administration system 2022/23 Q2 to Q4  

Transition to new administration system if required June 2023  

Resource and Budget Implications  

To be led by the Head of Pensions and Pension Administration Manager. If transition to a new 
system is required, there are likely to be significant transition costs and the ongoing cost for 
systems included in the 2022/23 budget will probably change. 

Current Status  

 

Current Activity 

Project planning initiated with GCC procurement team 

1. Business case being prepared regarding internal signing off process 

2. Access to LGPS national framework confirmed possible, if required 

3. High level project plan in draft mode. 

Target completion for steps 1 & 3 - 30 November 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

3) Pensions Dashboard (including a Data Improvement Strategy) 

 

What is it?  

The Pensions Dashboard is a Government initiative first announced in the Budget 2016. The idea 
behind the Dashboard is to allow all pension savers in the UK access to view the values of all of 
their pension pots, including state pension, through one central platform. A consultation was 
undertaken by Government in early 2019 which sought views on the potential phasing of the 
introduction of the pensions dashboards as well as how the architecture, funding and governance 
arrangements would work. The legislative requirements to participate in the Pension Dashboard 
for schemes (including public sector schemes) was launched by DWP in February 2022. The actual 
timescales that will apply to public sector pension schemes are not yet known so the timescales 
below are estimated. However, in preparation for this, the Fund will embark on producing a Data 
Improvement Strategy and plan. 

Timescales and Stages  

Data Improvement Strategy 2022/23 Q2 to Q3  

Data Improvement Plan 2022/23 Q4 

Potential Pension Dashboard launch 2023/24  

Resource and Budget Implications  

The Data Improvement Strategy and Plan will be led by the Head of Pensions and the Pensions 
Administration Manager. Resource and budget implications cannot be determined until more 
detail is available, especially around the Pensions Dashboard. 

Current Status  

 

Current Activity 

Not yet commenced 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 

4) McCloud  

 

What is it?  

The McCloud case has highlighted that the introduction of the new CARE schemes for Firefighters 
and Judges in April 2015 were unlawful. This impacts on other public service pension schemes 
including the LGPS where the new CARE scheme from April 2014 included a statutory underpin for 
older members. Remedies are being worked through by Government to remove the inequality in 
the schemes, which will result in changes to scheme benefits some of which will be retrospective. 
From an administrative perspective the impact of McCloud will result in a change to how benefits 
are calculated for a large number of scheme members including members who have left. This is 
likely to significantly impact on administration process and systems as well as requiring a robust 
communication exercise with employers and scheme members. The additional resource/system 
requirements are likely to be significant. The remediation is subject to a Public Service Pensions 
and Judicial Offices Bill, which is currently laid before parliament. 

Timescales and Stages  

McCloud planning/impact analysis 2022/23 Q1 ongoing 

Timescales will be updated as more information becomes available.  

Resource and Budget Implications  

It will impact across all of the Administration Team. No estimated allowance for additional 
resource has been included in the 2022/23 budget at this time. Support from the pensions 
administration software provider is likely to require additional budget is also likely to be needed in 
future years as the impact is realised. 

Current Status  

 

Current Activity 

Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill now laid in statue. 

Awaiting further guidance from DHLUC on the implementation of the bill in respect of LGPS. 

 

Page 42



   
  

Gloucestershire Pension Fund   

Governance Review – Work Plan  
This action plan builds on the recommendations set out in our Governance Review report dated 9 June 2021. This is designed to be a high-level action plan setting 

out the key actions and we have added timescales to assist the Fund in monitoring progress of these actions on an ongoing basis.   

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Review of PC Constitution - produce 

report to take to  
September 2021 PC meeting with 
proposal   

Consider whether the Committee could have further  
representation from other employers and scheme members in the  
Fund. Also need to consider voting rights of these representatives.   

Completed  ✓ - agreed proposals 
taken to Constitution in 
January 2022 at Council in 
February 2022 

Review of duties of the PC  The majority of the duties of the PC are investment focused.  
Consider including a number of non-investment duties as well.  

Action is ultimately to update the PC Terms of Reference  

Completed  ✓ - agreed proposals 
taken to Constitution in 
January 2022 at Council in 
February 2022 

Develop a Fund Conflict of  
Interest Policy  

No policy currently in place.  

Fund currently relies on the Council's Conflicts of Interest Policy  

Completed  ✓ - agreed by 
Committee in September 
2021 

Develop a Fund Risk  
Management Policy  

No policy currently in place.  

Develop a policy to provide a clearer risk management framework 
(incorporating existing risk register)  

Completed  ✓ - agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021 

Review the Fund's Breaches log  Ensure breaches log covers all expected areas, and ensure this is 
populated and taken to PC and PB for information.  

Completed - Q3/Q4 
2021/22    

Policy was agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021. New log adopted 
Jan 2022, thereby first 
reportable period will be 
31 March 2022 

Review the Fund's Breaches of  
Law Procedure  

We understand that this was last reviewed in 2016.  Completed  ✓ - agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021 

P
age 43



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  2  
  

  

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Update the Administering  
Authority's Discretionary Policy  

Current policy dates back to September 1999  

Due to the age of the current policy this is effectively going to be a 
brand-new policy given that so much has changed since the current 
policy was written.  

Completed  ✓ - agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021 

Update the Fund's Governance  
Compliance Statement and  
Policy  

The current Compliance Statement is dated July 2017. We would 

anticipate this document being reviewed in conjunction with the 

Governance Policy statement which was last reviewed in February 

2020.  

We understand that an updated Compliance Statement has been 
drafted so we assume that our input would be to review the draft 
updated policy  

Q3 - Q4 2021/22 – 
On agenda  

✓ - on agenda 

Review of Scheme of Delegation  Review Council’s Scheme of Delegation to ensure that pension fund 

matters are covered.  

Consider this in conjunction with recommendation from SAB Good 
Governance review regarding LGPS senior officer.  

Q3 - Q4 2021/22 – 
on agenda 

✓ - on agenda 

Review the Fund's  
Communications Policy  

We understand that a review was due to be undertaken in  
2019/20 but this did not take place  

Q4 2021/22 – Q1 
2022/23  

Revised timeline - Will 
commence in Q4 
2022/Q1 2023 

Review the Fund's  
Administration Strategy  

Last reviewed in 2017  Q4 2021/22 – Q1 
2022/23  

Revised timeline Will 
commence in Q4 
2022/Q1 2023 

P
age 44



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  3  
  

Review the Fund's Investment  
Strategy Statement  

Our report suggested some potential enhancements to the current 
policy in relation to Responsible Investment.  

As per Fund's 
business plan  

Initial stage on June 2022 
agenda 

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Develop a Fund Business  
Continuity Policy / Plan  

Expected to be included in TPR New Code.   

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's approach 
to Business Continuity.  

Q3 2022/23  Operational business 
continuity plan as 
required by GCC has 
been completed. Gap 
analysis for the specific 
Fund requirements now 
needs to be undertaken 

Develop a Fund Cyber Strategy  Expected to be included in TPR New Code.   

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's approach 
to Cyber Security.  

Q4 2022 – Q1 2023   

Carrying out a review of Fund's 

practices against TPR's New  
Code of Practice    

As part of best practice, we would expect the Administering Authority 
to carry out a regular review of their practices against the New Code.  

Awaiting code of 
practice from TPR  

On hold 

Develop a Fund Data  
Improvement Policy  

We understand that the Fund do the common / scheme specific 
scoring through Aquila Heywood but currently no formal data 
improvement policy or plan is in place. We recommend that having a 
Data Improvement Policy is best practice.  

Forms part of core 
projects for 2022/23 
business plan 

 

Develop a Fund Data  
Improvement Plan  

  Forms part of core 
projects for 2022/23 
business plan  

 

P
age 45



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  4  
  

Implementation of new Training  
Strategy  

A Training Strategy was put in place in April 2021. Ensure successful 

implementation of this Strategy and the associated training plans.  

As part of this we would recommend that a training needs analysis is 
carried out to identify any gaps.  

Ongoing  ✓ - training needs 
analysis undertaken and 
training plan established 
and agreed by 
Committee in September 
2021.  
 
 

Action  Reason   Timescales  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Development of Fund's own 

identity separate from the  
Council  

This could include the Fund having different branding to the Council.  

Creation of a separate Fund website or more distinctly separate section 
within the Council's website.  

Ongoing   

Ensuring all of the Fund's policies 
and procedures are easy to access 
from Fund's website / section of 
Council's website  

Currently not all of the Fund's policies and procedures are easy to find 
on the Fund's section of the Council's website  

Ongoing   

Increase the number of Pension  
Board meetings each year  

We don't think that the current approach of having two meetings a year 

is sufficient.  

We note that in the March 2021 meeting it was proposed that the PB 
moves to quarterly meetings.  

Completed   

  

  

  

P
age 46



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Pension Committee 
23 September 2022 

 

Risk Register 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 

Summary 
 
In accordance with the Risk Management policy agreed by Committee on 3 December 2021, 
progress and activity in managing risks will continue to be monitored and recorded on a risk 
register and key information will be provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee 
and the Pension Board as part of the regular update reports on governance, investments 
and funding, and administration and communications.  The reporting information will 
include as a minimum: 
 

o a summarised version of the risk register   
o a summary of the main changes since the previous report 
o the Fund’s risk dashboard showing the score of all existing risks and any changes as 

part of that dashboard. 
 

Risk Evaluation 
 
The evaluation of risks is based on the Gloucestershire County Council Risk Scoring Matrix 
customized to the needs of the Fund. The assessment matrix and interpretation of risk 
exposure is detailed below. These elements are fully defined in the Risk Management Policy 
of the Fund, and for completeness I attach at appendix 1 to this report the full details   

 

Assessment of risk:               

Im
p

ac
t 

(c
o

n
se

q
u

en
ce

s)
 Insignificant Low Low Low Low Low 

    

Minor Medium Medium Low Low Low 
    

Moderate High Medium Medium Low Low 
    

Major High High Medium Medium Low 
    

Critical High High High Medium Low 
    

    
Almost 
certain 

Highly 
likely 

Probable Possible Rare 
    

    >90% 76%-90% 41% - 75% 10% - 40% <10%     

    Likelihood (probability) of risk happening     

                  

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Interpretation of risk exposure     

  Level of risk Level of concern Action required   

  

High 
Very concerned, major 
consequences and high 
likelihood of happening 

Unacceptable level of risk exposure 
which requires immediate corrective 
action to be taken.  Regular monitoring 
required; at least monthly   

  

Medium 
Concerned, moderate 
consequences and possible 
occurrence 

Acceptable level of risk exposure 
subject to regular active monitoring 
measures, at least quarterly.   

  

Green 
Content, insignificant 
consequences  

Acceptable level of risk exposure 
subject to regular active monitoring 
measures, at least annually.   

 

Risk Register Review 

As part of the agreed risk management policy the risk register will provide a dashboard 
(heatmap) overview of the risks in the following 3 categories: 

• Governance 

• Funding & Investment Risks 

• Administration & Communication Risks (Operational) 

The risk register including the dashboard is attached as appendix 2 to this report. 

As part of the ongoing exercise the risks have been reviewed against previous rating and there 
are no material changes to risk levels since the Committee considered the risk register at its 
last meeting in June 2022. The following risks remain above their target and will remain to be 
tracked through the dashboard: 

Highlighted Risks 

o Governance 
o Risk 2 - elevated until the successful deployment of the training strategy/plan 

has been delivered and the assessment of knowledge repeated. 
o Risk 3 – elevated as per risk 2 above. 

 
o Funding & Investment 

o Risk 6 – risk remains elevated and will be reviewed once the inflation and 
interest rate risk exposure of the Fund has been reviewed, as part of the 
valuation and strategy review process. 

o Risk 8 – increased until the valuation process has been concluded and the 
potential impact reconsidered in the overall Fund context. Although this risk 
remains within its overall risk status. 

 
o Operational (Administration & Communication) 

o Risk 2, 3 & 6 – remain at an elevated level as the recruitment plan for the 
agreed team resources is still ongoing.  

o Risk 1 – remains a specific risk in relation to working practices adopted as a 
result of the pandemic until the embedding of agile working and the review 

Page 48



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

on processes has been undertaken. 
 
 
Future development 
 
The risk register is a live document and will continue to evolve and be reviewed by Committee 
and Board each quarter. As part of the valuation process and as part of the proposed future 
development of the risk register, we will consider the way we evaluate and report the Funds 
risks to you.  
 
 
Recommendation 

That the Committee notes the Risk Register and the current elevated risks, as outlined in this 
report.  
 
Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Evaluation and Likelihood and Impact Explanations

The following information outlines how risks are to be evaluated.  It is based on the Gloucestershire County Council Risk Scoring Matrix 
customised to the needs of the Fund

Assessment of risk:

Insignificant Low Low Low Low Low

Minor Medium Medium Low Low Low

Moderate High Medium Medium Low Low

Major High High Medium Medium Low

Critical High High High Medium Low

Almost certain Highly likely Probable Possible Rare
>90% 76%-90% 41% - 75% 10% - 40% <10%

Gloucestershire County Council's interpretation of risk exposure
Level of risk

High

Medium

Green

Criteria for assessing likelihood
potential timescale

Greater than 90%
76% to 90%

Probable 41% to 75%
10% to 40%
Less than 10%

Criteria for assessing impact
Critical Service disruption > 20 days

Critical Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Ministerial/Regulatory intervention
Public enquiry
Exceedingly negative national publicity

Major Service disruption 10-20 days 
Major Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Legal action almost certain and difficult to defend
Adverse national media coverage

Moderate Service Disruption 5-10 days
Moderate Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Legal action expected
Adverse local media coverage/lots of service user complaints

Minor Minor impact on service, typically between 1 to 4 days
Minor Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Non-compliance with regulations / standards or local procedures resulting in disciplinary action
Moderate volumes of service user complaints contained within the Fund

Insignificant Insignificant impact on service, typically no more than a couple of hours
Insignificant financial loss
Legal action possible but unlikely and defendable
Isolated service user complaints contained within the Fund

Some specific examples for each impact criteria:
Critical Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by more than 25% over a 1-month period

Delay in paying pensioners by more than 3 working days
Consistently missing both legal and Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect actual benefit calculations affecting >300 members
Formal DLUHC, Pension Regulator or Scheme Advisory Board (or other) intervention or exercise of powers. 

Major Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level 15-25% over a 1-month period
Delay in paying pensioners by more than 2 working days
Missing some legal timescales and regularly missing the Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect actual benefit calculations affecting 200-300 members

Moderate Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by 10-15% over a 1-month period
Delay in paying pensioners by 1 working day
Meeting the majority of legal timescales but missing some of the Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting 100-200 members

Minor Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by 5-10% over a 1-month period
Delay in paying pensioners by less than1 working days
Meeting the majority of legal and Fund’s service delivery timeframe
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting 50-100 members

Insignificant Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by up to 5% over a 1-month period
Meeting all legal but occasionally not meeting all the Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting up to 50 members

Criteria for assessing the difference between the current and target risk exposures:

Unacceptable level of risk exposure which requires immediate 
corrective action to be taken.  Regular monitoring required; at least 
monthly

Once in 5 to less than 10 years
Possible

Almost certain Once in 1 to less than 3 years
Highly likely

Im
pa

ct
 (c

on
se

qu
en

ce
s)

Likelihood (probability) of risk happening

Description % of risk happening       OR

Once in 10 to less than 20 years

Acceptable level of risk exposure subject to regular active 
monitoring measures, at least quarterly.

Acceptable level of risk exposure subject to regular active 
monitoring measures, at least annually.

Once in 3 to less than 5 years

Concerned, moderate 
consequences and possible 
occurance

Content, insignificant 
consequences 

Level of concern
Very concerend, major 
consequences and high 
likelihood of happening

Action required

K
The current impact and likelihood of the risk are individually no more than 2 
classifications higher than the target, and the combined difference is no more than 3 
classifications higher than the target.

L
The current impact and likelihood of the risk are individually more than 2 
classifications higher than the target, and/or the combined difference is more than 3 
classifications higher than the target.

Rare Once in 20 or more years

Symbol Description

J The current impact and likelihood of the risk are equal to, or less than, the target 
impact and likelihood.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Register
All Fund Risk Heat Map and Summary of Governance Risks Number of actual risks Number of target risks

9 13

10 9 6 10 11 12

3 2 6 7 8

5 4 1 3 4 5

8 7 1 2

Likelihood Likelihood

1

1

5 4

6 2 3 1

8 7
`

0

11

20

0

6

25

RareAlmost certain Almost certain Highly likely Probable Possible

Administration & Communication Risks

14 September 2022

Insignificant

Major

Critical
Key

New risks since the last reporting date are denoted with a blue and white 

border.

An arrow denotes a change in the risk exposure since the previous 

reporting date, with the arrow coming from the previous risk exposure.Minor

Moderate

Each risk is represented in the chart by a number in a square. 

- The number denotes the risk number on the risk register.

- The location of the square denotes the current risk exposure.

The background colour within the square denotes the target risk 

exposure.

Im
p

a
c

t

Rare Possible Probable Highly likely

Governance Risks
Funding & Investment Risks (includes accounting and 

audit)

Im
p

a
c

t

Insignificant

Major

Critical

Minor

Moderate

P
age 53



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at 

risk (see 

above)

Current 

Impact

(see key)

Current 

Likelihood

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact

(see key)

Target 

Likelihood

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back on 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date

Last 

Updated

1

Administering Authority unaware 

of structural changes in an 

employer’s membership (e.g. 

large fall in employee members, 

closing to new entrants)

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities over the 

long term
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Close relationship with employers and communicate required 

standards, e.g. for submission of data

2 - Actuary may revise Rates and Adjustments certificate to increase 

employers conts between triennial valuations

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

2

Lack of experience, knowledge, 

skills on the Pension Committee 

or Pension Board, and/or the lack 

of adequate training, resulting in a 

negative impact on governance 

arrangements within the 

Gloucestershire LGPS.

- High turnover of PC and/or 

board members

- Failure to take appropriate 

advice

- Poor engagement /preparation / 

commitment

- Poor oversight / lack of skills & 

knowledge

- Poor and ineffective decision 

making processes

Moderate Probable 3

1 - Training Policy, Plan and monitoring in place for PC and PB 

members. Training needs assessment now undertaken which has 

informed an appropriate training plan

2 - Range of professional advisors covering Fund responsibilities 

guiding the PC, PB and officers in their responsibilities

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2024

Delivery of training plan across the 

new cycle of Committee members and 

1st annual assessment to determine 

training effectiveness. 

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

3

Lack of relevant expertise, 

knowledge, skills and resources at 

officer level in relation to 

administering the LGPS

- Non-compliance potentially 

resulting in inaccurate benefit 

calculations

- Increase in customer 

dissatisfaction and decrease in 

KPIs

- Poor oversight / lack of officer 

skills & knowledge

- Poor and ineffective decision 

making processes

Moderate Probable 3

1 - Training needs assessment carried out for each individual officer

2 - Annual training plan produced

3 - Subscription to the CIPFA K&S framework

4 - Appropriate qualified external advisers and consultants used when 

necessary

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Recruitment to post within the senior 

leadership team will provide greater 

resilience and reduce key person risk. 

Technical expertise from Hymans 

Robertson is now being made 

available to senior pension staff to 

assist in complex case management

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

4

Actuarial or investment advice is 

not sought, or is not heeded, or 

proves to be insufficient in some 

way

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Possible 1

1 - Close contact maintained with specialist advisers

2 - Advice delivered via formal meetings involving elected members 

and recorded appropriately

3 - Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

5

Administering Authority fail to 

commission the Actuary to carry 

out a termination valuation for a 

departing Admission Body.

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Possible 1

1 - Employers with Best Value contractors required to inform the 

Fund of forthcoming changes

2 - Contract periods of admission bodies monitored

3 - Regular monitoring of levels of active employees across all 

employers and further steps taken where necessary

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

6
Failure to comply with the Myners’ 

Investment Principles

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Possible 1

1 - Compliance regularly reviewed as detailed in the Investment 

Strategy statement and Governance statement Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

7
Failure to comply with the General 

Data Protection Regulation 

- Increase in data breaches

- Negative publicity and 

reputational damage

- Potential costs/fines. 

- Complaints from members

Major Possible 3

1 - Guidance and support from GCC Information management team -

website now contains info to meet GDPR requirements 

2 - Recent Internal audit confirmed arrangements are satisfactory
Major Possible 3 J

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

8

Failure to protect the Pension 

Fund's key information and data 

as a result of exploited 

technological vulnerabilities 

facilitated through malicious 

attack, primarily from external 

sources.

- Inability to pay member benefits

- Member complaints

- Permanent / temporary loss of 

member data

- Financial impact of restoring 

systems

Major Possible 3

1 - Anti-malware and internet security software in place

2 - Patch management policies and procedures in place

3 - Compliance with PSN

4 - Internal and external ICT security testing takes place regularly

5 - Managing user privileges

Major Possible 3 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

9

Failing to adequately take account 

of, and monitor and report on, 

Environmental, Social and 

Governance ("ESG") factors, 

including Climate Change, in 

relation to the investment of the 

Funds’ assets

- Negative ESG implications 

- Financial loss
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Being a member of Brunel - ESG factors are integral to 

investment process

2 - ESG factors are considered for all Investment Manager 

appointments made by Brunel

3 - Robust process for on-going monitoring / reporting of ESG factors, 

so PC receives regular updates and assurance

4 - Adoption of Brunel Climate Change policy in January 2020

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

10

Failure to internally hold personal 

data securely and keep pension 

records up-to-date and accurate

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund

- Members potentially paid 

incorrect benefits

- Risk of breaching GDPR 

Regulations

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Personal data and scanned member documents are maintained in 

a secure password controlled online system

2 - Documented procedures for maintaining pension records are in 

place and regularly reviewed within the admin team

3 - Procedures regularly reviewed by internal auditors

4 -Physical access controls in operation within the Pension Fund 

office

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

Meets target?

Objectives extracted from Governance Policy

Risk Register - Governance Risks

14/09/2022 Governance Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 23 09 2022 PC Final

P
age 54



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at 

risk (see 

above)

Current 

impact (see 

key)

Current 

likelihood 

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact (see 

key)

Target 

Likelihood 

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back on 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date
Last Updated

1

Fund assets fail to deliver returns 

in line with the anticipated returns 

underpinning valuation of liabilities 

over the long-term

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities
Major Possible 3

1 - Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in suitably 

diversified manner, across asset classes, geographies and managers

2 - Analysis of progress at three yearly valuation for all employers

3 - Strategic asset allocation following valuation results re-examined 

by an investment specialist 

4 - Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between valuations at whole 

fund level 

Major Possible 3 J

Long term forecasting of Strategic 

Asset Allocation ongoing by 

Independent Advisor and reported 

quarterly to Committee

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

2
Inappropriate long-term 

investment strategy

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Major Possible 3

1 - Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow and actuarial estimates of 

future cash flow positions

2 -Overall investment strategy options including diversification 

considered as an integral part of the funding strategy

3 - Use of asset modelling in place

Major Possible 3 J

The new final strategic investment 

allocation and strategy was approved 

by the Pension Committee on 14th 

February 2020. Further reviews have 

taken place in January 2021 

December 2021. Further review now 

underway

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

3

Fall in risk-free returns on 

Government bonds, leading to rise 

in value placed on liabilities.

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate Possible 1

1 -Stabilisation modelling at whole fund level including Inter-valuation 

monitoring

2 - Investment in bonds

3 - Strong deficit recovery plan

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

4 Increasing Pension Fund deficit

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate Possible 1

1 - Triennial valuation plus regular update reports

2 - Regular consideration at PC meetings of investment performance 

relative to funding assumptions, funding position and strategy

3 - Strong deficit recovery plan

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

5

Active investment manager under-

performance relative to 

benchmark.

- Impacts on achieving funding 

target
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market performance and 

Brunel portfolios relative to their index benchmark

2 - Diversification of investments across asset classes and across 

different fund managers

3- Brunel's portfolios monitored against agreed performance targets 

and reported to PC quarterly

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

6
Pay and price inflation significantly 

more than anticipated.

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate
Highly 

likely
3

1 - Focus of the valuation process on real returns on assets, net of 

price and pay increases

2 - Inter-valuation monitoring (provides early warning)

3 - Some investment in index-linked bonds

4 - Employers pay for their own salary awards

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 2 too 

high

21/09/2021 Mar 2023

Increased risk of a potential sustained 

inflationary environment is now a 

possibility. An ongoing review of the 

inflation and interest rate risks on the 

Fund is being included into the 

triennial valuation process and current 

SAA review.

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

7
Unexpected increase in 

employer’s contribution rate

- Volatility of employer contribution 

rates leading to affordability 

pressures

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed for eligible 

employers as part of funding strategy

2 - Additional measures to limit sudden increases in contributions

3 - Discussions take place with employers regarding their ability to 

absorb rises in their contribution level                 

4 - Option to use deficit spreading and phasing in of contribution 

increases, with appropriate security / analysis

Moderate Possible 1 J

Engagement with Employer base for 

the 2022 Valuation has undertaken. 

The Contribution Strategy of the Fund 

is being tabled at the September 

Committee meeting

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

8

A company, without a guarantor, 

admitted to the Fund as an 

admission body may become 

financially unviable, leaving a 

significant financial deficit with the 

Fund

- Likelihood of increased 

contribution requirements falling 

back on other Fund employers

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Community admission bodies only admitted if have a funding 

guarantee from a tax-raising scheme employer 

2 - A surety bond is required by the employer to cover costs if 

company goes into liquidation

3 - Value of surety bond reviewed regularly to ensure is adequate              

Minor Possible 1 K
Current impact 1 too 

high 31/03/2019 Mar 2023

Four Admitted Bodies without 

guarantors now remain within the 

Fund. At the 2019 valuation the 

contribution rates for these employers 

were calculated using a gilts based 

investment return, resulting in higher 

contributions, partially addressing this 

risk. Further engagement and review 

of the current position has been 

undertaken with these Employers as 

part of the 2022 valuation.

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

9
Pensioners living longer, thus 

increasing cost to Fund.

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Minor Possible 1

1 - Mortality assumptions set with some allowance for future 

increases in life expectancy

2 - Life expectancy assumptions set using ClubVita - a specialised 

longevity firm

3 - Encouragement of employers concerned at costs to promote a 

later retirement culture 

Minor Possible 1 J

Fund utilises specific Gloucestershire 

related data supplied by Club Vita 

analysis. 

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

10

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of 

actively contributing employees 

declines relative to retired 

employees leading to the 

possibility of there being 

insufficient liquid funds available 

to pay liabilities as they fall due

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Monitored at each valuation - seeking monetary deficit amounts 

rather than % of pay

2 - Inter-valuation monitoring of level of active members, both at whole 

fund level and by individual employer

3 - Regular review of investment strategy 

4 - Regular review of how cash flow positive the fund is (significant 

cash flow modelling recently undertaken by the Actuary)

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

11

Adverse demographic changes 

within employers, such as 

changing patterns of early 

retirements, reductions in payroll 

and more ill-health retirements 

than expected

- Volatility of employer contribution 

rates leading to affordability 

pressures

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Employers are charged the cost of non-ill-health retirements 

upfront following each individual decision

2 - Employers required to pay deficit recovery contributions as fixed 

monetary amounts rather than as a % of pay.

3 - Each employer’s ill-health experience monitored on an ongoing 

basis, and may be charged additional contributions if this exceeds the 

assumed number of ill-health retirements. Ill health insurance is 

available to be purchased by individual employers

Moderate Possible 1 J

IHLI procedure introduced in April 

2020 applicable to all highest risk 

employers. All other employers 

covered under a central policy unless 

formally opt out, under procedures 

agreed by PC in September 2019. To 

date 3 employers have opted out

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

12

Adverse effect on the Fund’s 

investment strategy and employer 

contributions if large numbers of 

active members are outsourced on 

a “closed” (to new entrants) basis

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate Possible 1

1 - Advice provided by the actuary on likely impact on investment out-

performance assumptions and employer contributions

2 - Monitoring of levels of outsourcings on a 'closed' basis and advise 

employers of implications

3 - Regular review of investment strategy and strategic asset 

allocation

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

13

Transfers out of the Fund into DC 

schemes due to introduction of 

"Freedom & Choice" resulting in a 

change in funding level

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Minor Possible 1

1 - Advice provided by the actuary on the proportion of active and 

deferred members over 55, and the maximum exposure of the Fund to 

these transfers

2 - Consideration given to impact on funding level on different possible 

levels of take up

Minor Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022

Risk Register - Funding & Investment Risks (includes accounting and audit)

Objectives extracted from Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy Statement:

Meets target?

14/09/2022 FundingInvestment Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 23 09 2022 PC Final

P
age 55



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at risk 

(see above)

Current 

impact (see 

key)

Current 

likelihood 

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact (see 

key)

Target 

Likelihood 

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back On 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date
Last Updated

Previous 

Impact

Previous 

Likelihood 

Previous 

Risk 

Status

Risk removed 

(date)

1

COVID-19 Pandemic having a 

detrimental impact to the Pension 

Fund service provided to members 

and/or to the collections of pension 

fund contributions and investments.

- New retirees may not receive 

accurate and timely benefits

- Contributions may not be received 

and invested

- New investments may not be 

actioned

Moderate
Highly 

likely
3

1 - Minimal service impact within finance and investment team due to 

remote working

2 - Due to paper-based nature of admin service, team split in two rotating 

home working with office working

3 - Future agile working requirements are being assessed for the admin 

team with a view to be rolled out in Q2 2022

Moderate Probable 3 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Review of operational process 

continues to develop to identify 

efficiencies that can be achevied, whilst 

ensuring robust process remain.

As part of the administration system 

review, system support will be review in 

relation to further process efficiency 

gains that can be acheived.

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

2

Significant additional costs resulting 

from changes to national pension 

requirements and/or HMRC rules 

e.g. public sector pensions reform, 

and/or more complex regulations 

requiring increased administration 

resources

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Probable 3

1 - The Fund considers government consultation papers and comments 

where appropriate

2 -Results of recent forms built into the valuation

3 -Changes to contribution rates or benefit levels carefully 

communicated with membership to minimise potential opt outs or other 

adverse actions

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Expected regulations in relation to 

McCloud, and additional wide reaching 

consultation on pooling guidance and 

levelling up white paper, that may impact 

on the Fund

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

3

Under resourcing of Pension 

Administration staff resulting in a 

deterioration of performance 

against key performance indicators 

and/or intervention from the 

Pensions Regulator.

- Increase in member complaints 

due to standards not being met. 

- Increase in workloads if additional 

performance improvement activities 

needed. 

- Negative publicity. 

- Potential adverse financial 

implications

Moderate
Highly 

likely
3

1 - Additional Pension Officers recruited to improve KPIs

Moderate Probable 3 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Recruitment ongoing. 2 x Group 

Pension Leaders post filled. 

3 x Lead Pension Officer posts now 

filled. Pension Investment & Accounting 

Manager post appointed to. 2 x 

Pensions Officers appointed and 

starting in October. 4 x Pensions Officer 

posts readvertised and currently being 

shortlisted and interviewed to. Hymans 

Robertson are providing an onboarding 

training plan for new starters to reduce 

burden on current team members to 

enable administrative delivery

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

4

Failure to collect and account for 

contributions from employers and 

employees on time

- Potential for TPR to intervene. 

- Requirement to report on 

breaches log

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Monitoring and reconciliation of contributions carried out monthly

2 - Robust debt management process to recover late payments Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

5

Failure to undertake a full 

reconciliation of Guaranteed 

Minimum Pensions records held on 

the Altair system with those held by 

HMRC.

- Non-compliance

- Additional financial costs

- Member dissatisfaction leading to 

complaints

Moderate Possible 1

1 - A detailed reconciliation procedure is underway - resulting in a 

significant reduction in potential GMP liabilities Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

6

Having inadequate resource to 

provide sufficient input to the 

oversight of the Brunel to ensure it 

operates efficiently and effectively

- Reputational damage

- Detrimental impact on Fund if 

Brunel doesn't operate efficiently

Moderate Probable 3
1 - Future recruitment of Pension Investment and Accounting Manager 

to provide greater resilience
Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Recruitment to post within the senior 

leadership team will provide greater 

resilience and reduce key person risk

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

7
Loss of funds through fraud or 

misappropriation

- Significant reputational damage

- Additional financial costs

- Member dissatisfaction leading to 

complaints

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Documented checking procedures and processes in place, and staff 

trained on implementing them

2 - Multiple authorisation levels for claims and payments

3 - Internal Auditors carry out regular reviews

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

8

Loss of Pensions Administration 

software usage due to expiration of 

the contract

- Significant reputational damage

- Additional financial costs

- Member dissatisfaction leading to 

complaints

- Inability to manage and pay 

benefits

Moderate Possible 1

1- Procurement identified as part of Business Plan 2022/23

2- Project plan being developed with internal procurement oversight

3- Access to the LGPS National Frameworks

4- Quarterly oversight of project by Committee and LPB

Minor Rare 1 K
Current impact 1 too high

Current likelihood 1 too 

high

07/06/2022 Dec 2022
Project plan and preocurement process 

ongoing

Head of 

Pension Fund
08/12/2022 14/09/2022 0

Meets target?

Risk Register - Operational Risks

Objectives extracted from Administration Strategy and Communications Strategy:

14/09/2022 Operational Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 23 09 2022 PC Final

P
age 56



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Pension Committee 
23 September 2022 

 

Governance Policy & Compliance Statement 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 

Summary 
 
This report brings back to Committee the Governance Policy & Compliance Statement for 
review as part of the governance review workplan. 
 
Background 
 
Regulation 55 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 requires Administering Authorities to publish a 
Governance Policy and Compliance Statement setting out information relating to how the 
Administering Authority delegates its functions under those regulations and whether it 
complies with guidance given by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing, and 
Communities. It also requires the Administering Authority to keep the statement under 
review, to make revisions as appropriate and, where such revisions are made, to publish a 
revised statement. 
 
The previous Governance Policy & Compliance Statement was reviewed and agreed by 
Committee in February 2020. The document now attached as appendix 1 to this report is 
the proposed new Governance Policy and Compliance Statement for the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund that has been prepared by the Administering Authority to meet the 
requirement of the current LGPS Regulations and reflect the recent changes to the terms of 
reference of the Pensions Committee. The policy has also been comprehensive reviewed 
and redraft to include the recently adopted Training, Conflicts of Interest, Breaches and Risk 
Management Policies approved by Committee since the last review in February 2020. 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 also require Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) Administering Authorities to measure their governance 
arrangements against the standards set out in the Statutory Guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government. 
 
The Compliance Statement is contained within appendix 1, at appendix A. This sets out 
where the Fund is compliant with the guidance and where it is not compliant, an explanation 
is provided for non-compliance. This has been prepared by Officers and has been reviewed 
by AON as part of the governance workplan. The Compliance Statement review concludes 
that we are fully compliant with the guidance in the areas that are applicable. 
 
Also included in the Governance Policy within appendix 1, at appendix B, are the operational 
delegated functions by the Pensions Committee. This document captures and documents 
the operational responsibilities for the day to day management of the Fund and importantly 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

outlines how Committee will receive information to enable the Committee to monitor the 
use of the delegations. 
 
The Governance Policy and Compliance Statement, including the appendix within, reflect 
the current governance of the Fund and these documents will replace the previous 
Governance Policy and Compliance Statements in the Funds Annual Report for 2021/22. It 
will also be published onto the Funds website. 
 
 
Review 
 
The Governance Policy & Compliance Statement will be reviewed in detail at least every two 
years.  It is expected that amendments may be needed within the two year period with 
anticipated regulatory changes as a result of the Scheme Advisory Boards (SAB), good 
governance review.  
 
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Committee approve the Governance Policy and Compliance Statement, attached 
to this report. 
 
 
Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 58



 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

Governance Policy and Compliance 

Statement 

v1.0 

 

 

 

 
Version Control 
 

Document owner Head of Pensions 

Version Number 1.0 

Date 23 September 2022 

Committee approval 23 September 2022 

Next review due September 2024 

 

Page 59



 

 
Introduction and legal requirements 

Gloucestershire County Council is the Administering Authority responsible for managing the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund and the administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

on behalf of participating employers and members. 

Regulation 55 of the LGPS Regulations 2013 requires Administering Authorities to publish a 

Governance Policy and Compliance Statement setting out information relating to how the 

Administering Authority delegates its functions under those regulations and whether it complies with 

guidance given by the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing, and Communities. It also requires 

the Administering Authority to keep the statement under review, to make revisions as appropriate 

and, where such revisions are made, to publish a revised statement. 

This document is the Governance Policy and Compliance Statement for the Gloucestershire Pension 

Fund that has been prepared by the Administering Authority to meet the requirement of the LGPS 

Regulations.  

Aims and Objectives 

Gloucestershire County Council recognises the significance of its role as Administering Authority to 

the Gloucestershire Pension Fund on behalf of its stakeholders, which include: 

• around 60,000 current and former members of the Fund, and their dependants 
 

• over 200 employers within the Fund which includes scheduled bodies, academies and 
admitted bodies 
 

• local taxpayers within Gloucestershire County Council. 
 

In relation to the governance of the Fund, our objectives are as follows: 

• Act in the best interests of the Fund’s members and employers  

• Strive to ensure compliance with the appropriate legislation and statutory guidance, and to 

act in the spirit of other relevant guidelines and best practice guidance  

• Act with integrity and be accountable to our stakeholders for our decisions, ensuring they are 

robust and well based 

• Have robust governance arrangements in place to facilitate informed decision making, 

supported by appropriate advice, policies and strategies 

 

Page 60



Governance Arrangements and Structure 

As per the County Council’s Constitution, the Pension Committee provides advice on the proper 

management of the Fund and carries out some of the functions of the Council in respect of its duties 

as an Administering Authority. The overall operational responsibility for the running of the Fund has 

been delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and the Head of Pensions. The 

Executive Director of Corporate Resources and / or the Head of Pensions will consult with the Chair of 

the Pension Committee for all decisions with financial implications over £250,000. The Executive 

Director of Corporate Resources and the Head of Pensions are supported in their roles by: 

• The Director of Finance (Deputy Section 151 officer) 

• The Pensions Investment and Accounting Manager 

• The Pensions Administration Manager 

• The wider pensions team within the Council 

The Pensions Team carries out the day to day running of the Fund including administration, 

investments and accounting. The Fund participates in the Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel) who 

manage some of the Fund's assets on its behalf.  

A range of consultants also provide guidance and advice in relation to the management of the Fund. 

In line with the Local Government Pension Regulations 2013, a Pensions Board has been established 

which assists the Administering Authority in ensuring: 

• compliance with the regulations and The Pensions Regulator’s requirements and  

• the effective and efficient governance and administration of the Fund.   

The Constitution of the Council sets out the framework under which the Pension Fund is to be 

administered. This framework is depicted in the diagram below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PENSIONS BOARD 
 

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

FUND OFFICERS 

ALL SUPPORTED BY VARIOUS ADVISORS 

Page 61



Pension Committee 

The Council’s Constitution outlines that the purpose of the Pension Committee is to give advice on the 

proper management of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and carry out the function of the Council as 

Administering Authority.  

Terms of Reference for the Pension Committee 

The following are the terms of reference for the Pension Committee as agreed by the Council and 

included in the Constitution: 

1. To ensure the Fund is managed, and that pension payments are made, in compliance with the 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations. 

2. To approve and keep under review the Investment Strategy Statement of the Fund, drawing 

upon appropriate professional advice. 

3. To approve and keep under review the Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund, drawing upon 

appropriate professional advice. 

4. To ensure robust risk management arrangements are in place. 

5. To ensure the Council operates with due regard and in the spirit of all relevant statutory and 

non-statutory best practice guidance in relation to its management of the Fund. 

6. To agree the Administering Authority responses to consultations by Central Government, 

professional and other bodies. 

7. To appoint and review the performance of all Fund Managers. 

8. To appoint and terminate the appointment of the Fund's advisers, including actuaries, 

investment advisers, governance advisers and specialist lawyers (where required) and 

periodically to review those arrangements. 

9. To consider any other matter relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund. 

10. To approve the Fund's annual business plan and budget and monitoring progress against it. 

11. To approve the Fund's Governance Policy Statement and Governance Compliance Statement 

within the framework as determined by the Council and make recommendations to the 

Council about any changes to that framework. 

12. To approve the Fund's Administration Strategy determining how the Council will administer 

the Fund including collecting payments due, calculating, and paying benefits, gathering 

information from, and providing information to scheme members and employers. 

13. To approve the Fund's Communications Policy Statement, determining the methods of 

communications with the various stakeholders including scheme members and employers. 

14. To approve the Fund’s Conflicts of Interest policy covering the management of actual and 

perceived conflicts of interest for the Pension Committee, the Local Pension Board, and 

Page 62



officers. 

15. To agree the Fund's Training Strategy for all Pension Committee and Board members and for 

all officers of the Fund, including determining the Fund’s knowledge and skills framework, 

identifying training requirements, developing training plans and monitoring compliance with 

the policy. 

16. To report annually to the full Council. 

17. To review the County Council’s performance as Administering Authority. 

18. To decide upon arrangements for managing the Administering Authority’s relationship with 

employers in the fund, e.g., agreeing contribution rates, establishing dispute resolution 

procedures and ensuring employers have established policies as required by Regulations. 

19. Determining, reviewing, and monitoring the Fund's policy in regard to employer admission 

and cessation arrangements. 

20. To decide upon key pension policy and discretions that is the responsibility of the 

Administering Authority. 

21. To consider advice and recommendations from the Pension Board on areas that may improve 

the governance of the Pension Fund (the remit of the Pension Board is detailed in its Terms of 

Reference). 

22. To consider the Pension Board’s proposed business plan for the forthcoming financial year 

and annual budget request. 

23. To undertake such tasks deemed necessary in order to promote the interests of the County 

Council with respect to investment pooling, which without limitation shall include agreeing 

and authorising any documentation, contracts, terms of reference, financial expenditure or 

investment that may be required consequential upon the County Council’s participation in the 

Brunel Pension Partnership. 

Membership of the Pension Committee 

The County Council decides the composition of, and makes appointments to, the Pension Committee. 

Currently the membership of the Pension Committee comprises 7 County Councillors,  all of whom 

have voting rights.  

One employer representative without voting rights is co-opted by the Pension Committee following 

nomination by the Gloucestershire branch of the Local Government Association to represent the 

interests of District Councils. 

One employer representative without voting rights who can demonstrate their capacity to represent 

other scheme employers, and their knowledge and understanding of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme, with applications invited from all employers (excluding GCC and the district councils). An 

interview process that would include the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Pension Committee and the Head 

of Pensions would be used to fill the position. 

Page 63



One employee representative without voting rights is co-opted by the Pension Committee following 

nomination by the unions.  

Elected councillors already have legal responsibilities for the prudent and effective stewardship of the 

Fund, and in more general terms have a clear fiduciary duty in the performance of their functions. 

Employer and Employee representation owe a duty of care to the fund beneficiaries and are required 

to act in their best interests at all times. 

Although the Employer and Employee representatives do not have voting rights, they are treated as 

equal members of the Committee and have access to all Committee meeting papers, advisers, officers, 

meetings and training as if they were Council Members and have the opportunity to contribute to the 

decision-making process.  

Substitutions are not permitted on the Pension Committee. 

Employer and Employee representatives serve for a 4-year term from their appointment date and can 

be removed on grounds of non-attendance, breach of code of conduct and non-participation in 

training. An employer or employee representative may only be removed from office during a term of 

appointment by the unanimous agreement of all voting members in attendance at the Pension 

Committee meeting where this is being considered. 

Other ways of ensuring interests of key stakeholders are represented in the management of the Fund 

include: 

• Bi-lateral discussions and similar forums involving employers and other stakeholders  

• An annual meeting for all employers and fund members 

• A triennial meeting between all employers and the actuary to discuss the results of the 

actuarial valuation 

Pension Committee Meetings 

The Pension Committee meets at least four times a year in the ordinary course of business and more 

frequently if formal decisions on fund management are required. Work for the year will be agreed 

with the Committee. As per the Training Strategy, all Committee members must complete a training 

requirement self-assessment form annually, and these are used to determine the training to be 

provided to Committee members. A log of training undertaken is maintained by the Administering 

Authority.  

Agendas for the meetings are agreed with the Chair and circulated with supporting papers to all 

members of the Committee, officers of the County Council as appropriate and the Fund’s Consultants. 

A meeting of the Pension Committee is only quorate when there are three voting members present 

for the duration of the meeting.  

At least five clear working days’ notice of any meetings are given by posting details of the meeting on 

the County Council’s website. Copies of the agenda and reports open to the public are made available 

for inspection at least five clear working days before the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda 

later, the revised agenda will be open to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. 

Page 64



The reason for lateness will be specified in the report.  

There may on occasions, be items which may be exempt from the agenda, reports and minutes of the 

meetings when it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 

proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed.  

Copies of the minutes of the meetings and records of decisions taken are made available for a period 

of six years after a meeting. Minutes of meetings and records of decisions are available for inspection 

on the Council’s website. 

Senior Officers 

Under the Council’s Constitution responsibility for all other functions relating to pensions, not already 

delegated to the Pension Committee, are delegated to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources 

(in addition to their role as the Section 151 Officer, whereby they are responsible for ensuring the 

proper financial administration of the Fund) and the Head of Pensions. . As appropriate, the Executive 

Director of Corporate Resources and the Head of Pensions will delegate aspects of the management 

of the Pension Fund to other officers of the Council, including;  

• The Director of Finance (Deputy Section 151 officer) 

• The Pensions Investment and Accounting Manager 

• The Pensions Administration Manager 

• The wider pensions team within the Council 

as well as appointing suppliers and consultants to assist as necessary. 

Other Delegations of Responsibilities 

The Pension Committee has also agreed a further scheme of delegation as included in Appendix B.  

This includes responsibilities relating to how the ongoing implementation of decisions made by them 

are carried out, as well as how urgent matters that must be considered outside of the Pension 

Committee cycle are dealt with. 

Pensions Board 

Each Administering Authority is required to establish a local Pensions Board to assist them with: 

• securing compliance with the LGPS Regulations and any other legislation relating to the 

governance and administration of the Scheme, and requirements imposed in relation to 

the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator 

• ensuring the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund  

The Pensions Board is not a local authority committee; as such the elements of the Constitution of 

Gloucestershire County Council, such as the procedure rules, do not apply to the Pensions Board 

unless it is expressly referred to in the Board’s terms of reference. The Gloucestershire Pension Board 

was established by Gloucestershire County Council and the full terms of reference of the Board can 

Page 65



be found within the Council’s Constitution. The key points are summarised below. 

Role of the Pensions Board  

The County Council has charged the Pensions Board with providing oversight of the matters that the 

Pension Committee is responsible for. The Pensions Board, however, is not a decision-making body in 

relation to the management of the Pension Fund. The Pension Fund’s management powers and 

responsibilities which have been delegated by the Council to the Pension Committee and the 

Executive Director of Corporate Resources remain solely their responsibilities. However, the remit of 

the Board includes: 

1. Ensuring the Pension Fund’s key strategy and policy documents are in place and have been 

maintained in accordance with the LGPS Regulations.  

2. Ensuring the Pension Fund’s internal Risk Register is in place and reviewed at least annually. 

3. Reviewing the Pension Fund’s performance in complying with the requirements of the LGPS 

Regulations and any other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the 

LGPS. 

4. Reviewing the Pension Fund’s performance in complying with the requirements of the Pension 

Regulator. 

5. Providing advice and making recommendations when required, to the Pension Committee, on 

areas that may improve the governance of the Pension Fund. 

6. Formulating and agreeing an annual work plan for the Board. 

7. Carrying out any other activities relating to the efficient governance and administration of the 

Pension Fund, which the Pension Committee may request the Pension Board to undertake. 

Membership of the Pension Board 

The Pensions Board consists of seven members as follows: 

• three employer representatives 

• three scheme member representatives  

• one independent member (non-voting) to act as the Chair of the Pensions Board. The Chair of 

the Pension Board cannot be a Gloucestershire County Councillor. 

The Chair of the Pension Board must be able to demonstrate their knowledge and understanding of 

the LGPS and will be appointed by the Scheme Manager (the Administering Authority), taking due 

regard of the Appointment of Other Member guidance, as set out in the LGPS Guidance in the creation 

and operation of Local Pension Boards. 

One of the employer or member representatives should be a County Councillor appointed annually at 

a meeting of Full Council. 

Page 66



In order to ensure that effective Board Members are appointed who can demonstrate their capacity 

to represent other scheme employers or members (as appropriate), a direct appointment process will 

be followed wherever possible, with member representatives being selected through nominations 

made by recognised trade unions, and employer representatives being selected through nominations 

made from established employers within the Fund. 

Only members of the Pensions Board who are employer or member representatives will have 

individual voting rights, but it is expected the Pension Board will as far as possible reach a consensus. 

No substitutions are permitted on the Pensions Board. 

Pension Board Meetings 

The Pensions Board meets at least twice each calendar year and additional meetings may be arranged 

as required to facilitate its work. This will be determined by the Chair. 

A meeting of the Pensions Board is only quorate when there are three Board members present for the 

duration of the meeting, one of which must be an employer representative and one of which must be 

a member representative. 

Meetings of the Local Pension Board will always be chaired by the appointed Chair of the Board when 

in attendance. Where the Chair is not in attendance at a meeting, those members present will elect a 

temporary chairperson for that meeting. 

Each member of the Pensions Board is expected to declare, on appointment, annually, and at each 

meeting, any interests which may lead to conflicts of interest in the subject area or specific agenda of 

that Pensions Board. 

Members of the public may attend Pensions Board meetings and papers will be made public in the 

same way as described above for the Pension Committee. 

 

Policy Documents 

There are a number of key documents which are relevant to the governance and management of the 

Fund, including various policies and strategies which incorporate the Fund’s objectives. Brief details of 

these are listed below and the full copies of all documents can be obtained on the County Council’s 

website. 

Annual Report and Accounts 

As part of the financial standing orders, it is the duty of the Section 151 Officer to ensure that record-

keeping and accounts are maintained by the Pension Fund. The Pension Fund accounts are produced 

in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. The financial statements 

within the accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and detail the net assets of the Fund. The 

statement of accounts is reviewed by the Pension Committee and the Audit and Governance 

Committee and incorporated in the Statement of Accounts for the Council. The accounts are 

incorporated into an Annual Report which provides an update on other key matters during the year 

such as scheme details, financial performance and administration matters. Full copies of the Fund’s 

Annual Report and Accounts are distributed to employers in the Fund and other interested parties and 

Page 67



a copy placed on the County Council’s website.  

 
Funding Strategy Statement 

The Funding Strategy Statement is one of two key parts of the framework which ensures there are 

sufficient assets in the Fund to pay its liabilities (mainly pension benefits) and sets out how the 

contribution rates that are required to be paid by the employers participating in the Fund are 

calculated. The Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) is developed in collaboration with the Fund’s actuary 

and, after consultation with the Fund’s employers, it is formally approved by the Pension Committee.  

 
Investment Strategy Statement 

The Investment Strategy Statement is the second key part of the framework for ensuring appropriate 

assets are in the Fund to meet the liabilities.  The strategy sets out: 

• the Fund’s approach to investment risk including ways in which risks are measured and 

managed  

• the Fund’s approach to pooling of assets (which is done through the Brunel Pension 

Partnership)  

• how social, environmental or corporate governance considerations are taken into 

account in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of investments 

• the exercise of voting rights attached to investments. 

The Investment Strategy Statement also sets out the target percentage of the total value of all Fund 

money that should be invested in particular asset classes, including any restrictions on those 

investments. 

Governance Compliance Statement 

This sets out our compliance with the Secretary of State’s Statutory Guidance on Governance in the 

LGPS. The Gloucestershire Pension Fund’s Governance Compliance Statement is attached as Appendix 

A and shows where the Fund is compliant or not compliant with the expectations in the statutory 

guidance and the reasons why the Fund may not be compliant. 

Training Strategy 

The training strategy provides Pension Committee members, Pensions Board members and senior 

officers with a clear framework setting out how they acquire and retain the knowledge and skills 

required to perform their individual roles. The aim of this policy is to ensure that those responsible for 

the management, delivery and governance and decision making in the Fund have the appropriate 

levels of knowledge and skills. 

As part of this policy, the Fund aims to comply with the requirements of: 

• the CIPFA Code of Practice and Knowledge and Skills Framework 

• the knowledge and skills elements of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and the 

Page 68



Pensions Regulator's (TPR) Code of Practice for Public Service Schemes / the new TPR 

Single Code due to be introduced in 2022 

• MiFID II (Markets in Financial Instruments Directive). 

Members of the Pension Committee, Pensions Board and officers involved in the management of the 

Fund receive training following completion of a Training Needs Assessment (TNA) to ensure that they 

meet the aims of the Knowledge and Skills Policy. Specific TNAs on particular subjects will also be 

carried out as and when required by the appropriate officer and will be used to inform subsequent 

training requirements. 

Conflicts of Interest Policy 

Conflicts of interest have always existed for those with LGPS Administering Authority responsibilities 

as well as for advisers to LGPS funds. This simply reflects the fact that many of those managing or 

advising LGPS funds have a variety of other roles and responsibilities, and may also have individual 

personal, business or other interests which might conflict, or be perceived to conflict, with their role 

managing or advising an LGPS fund.  It is generally accepted that LGPS Administering Authorities have 

both fiduciary and public law duties to act in the best interest of both the scheme beneficiaries and 

participating employers.  

The Fund’s Conflict of Interest Policy details how actual and potential conflicts of interest are identified 

and managed by those involved in the management and governance of the Fund whether directly or 

in an advisory capacity. The policy is established to guide Pension Committee members, Pensions 

Board members, officers and advisers, ensuring that those individuals do not act improperly or create 

a perception that they may have acted improperly. 

Breaches Policy 

The Breaches Policy sets out how the Fund monitors, records and takes action where breaches of the 

law occur. The policy sets out the responsibility of Pension Committee members, Pensions Board 

members, Fund officers and advisers to report breaches of the law to The Pensions Regulator where 

they are deemed material (as set out in the Policy). A log is maintained of all breaches of the law, 

whether reported to The Pensions Regulator or not.  

Risk Management Policy  

We recognise that effective risk management is an essential element of good governance in the LGPS. 

The Risk Policy details the risk management strategy for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, including:  

• the risk philosophy for the management of the Fund, and in particular attitudes to, and 

appetite for, risk  

• how risk management is implemented  

• risk management responsibilities  

• the procedures that are adopted in the risk management process 

The Fund recognises that it is not possible, or even desirable, to eliminate all risks.  Accepting and 

Page 69



actively managing risk is therefore a key part of the risk management strategy for Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund. A key determinant in selecting the action to be taken in relation to any risk will be its 

potential impact on the Fund’s objectives in light of the Fund’s risk appetite, particularly in relation to 

investment matters. Equally important is striking a balance between the cost of risk control actions 

against the possible effect of the risk occurring. 

Communications Policy Statement 

This document sets out the communications strategy for the Fund.  The aim of the strategy is to ensure 

that all stakeholders are kept informed of developments in relation to the Fund. This helps to ensure 

transparency and an effective communication process for all interested parties. 

Pension Administration Strategy  

The Pension Administration Strategy is key to the administration and efficient running of the Pension 

Fund.  It encompasses administrative procedures and responsibilities for the County Council (as the 

Administering Authority for the Fund) and employing authorities participating in the Fund.  It includes 

quality and performance standards.  It is distributed to employers within the Fund following regular 

review and consultation. This represents part of the process for ensuring the ongoing efficient 

management of the Fund and maintenance of accurate data and forms part of the overall governance 

procedures for the Fund. 

Discretions Policies 

Under the Local Government Pension Scheme regulations, the Administering Authority has  a level of 

discretion in relation to a number of areas. The approaches to these areas of discretion are outlined 

in the Administering Authority’s Discretions Policy. This policy is reviewed as appropriate and 

interested parties are notified of any significant changes. Employing Authorities are also required to 

set out their discretions policies in respect of areas under the Regulations where they have a 

discretionary power. 

 

Key Risks 

The main governance risks that Pension Committee members monitor on an ongoing basis include: 

• Recruitment and Retention - insufficient experienced staff to meet Fund objectives 

• Knowledge and Skills - insufficient knowledge and skills amongst those charged with Fund 

Management 

• Conflicts of Interest - actual conflicts of interest permitted to materialise 

• Internal Fraud - financial loss resulting from actions of employee 

• Data Protection - failure to adequately protect data results in potential financial or personal 

impact on members 

• Reliance on external systems - the Fund's assets, systems or data are compromised including 

financial/data loss or systems downtime 

Page 70



• Business continuity failure 

• External factors including regulatory changes impact the governance of the Fund 

• Incorrect advice/guidance received from third parties. 

• Failure to comply with relevant legislation / best practice / guidance 

Monitoring Governance Objectives 

Objective Monitoring Arrangements 

We will aim to act in the best interests of the 

Fund’s members and employers  

 

• Fund specific conflicts of interest policy 

in place 

• Training undertaken on role in 

managing the Fund on behalf of 

members/employers as part of 

induction 

We will strive to ensure compliance with the 

appropriate legislation and statutory guidance, 

and to act in the spirit of other relevant 

guidelines and best practice guidance  

 

• Governance of the Fund is considered 

by both the External and Internal 

Auditors.  

• A log of all breaches of the law is 

maintained in accordance with the 

Fund's breaches procedure which is 

reported on and monitored as outlined 

in that procedure. 

• Pensions Board prepares and publishes 

an annual report which should include 

comment on compliance matters. 

• Regular reviews of the Fund’s 

compliance with the Pensions 

Regulator’s Code of Practice. 

We will act with integrity and be accountable to 

our stakeholders for our decisions, ensuring 

they are robust and well based 

 

• Employers within the Fund are invited to 
an Annual Employers’ Forum. Attendees 
receive presentations and have the 
opportunity to ask questions on the 
governance of the Fund. 
 

• Pension Committee includes 
representatives from scheme members 
and employers in the Fund. 
 

Page 71



• Pensions Board includes representatives 
from scheme members and employers 
in the Fund. 
 

• Pension Committee receive advice from 
officers, and a range of consultants are 
in place to provide advice across all 
fund aspects, and members are given 
sufficient time to consider any 
recommendations. 
 

We will have robust governance arrangements 

in place to facilitate informed decision making in 

a transparent manner, supported by 

appropriate advice, policies and strategies 

 

• Pension Committee carry out regular 
effectiveness of governance surveys. 

• Ongoing monitoring against key 
objectives at Pension Committee 
meetings. 

• Ongoing monitoring of business plan 
targets at Pension Committee meetings. 
 

 

 

Approval, Review and Consultation 

This Governance Policy and Compliance Statement was approved at the Gloucestershire Pension 

Committee meeting on 23 September 2022 and will be formally reviewed and updated at least every 

three years or sooner if the governance arrangements or other matters included within either of them 

merit reconsideration. 

Contact Information 

Further information on the Gloucestershire Pension Fund can be found as shown below: 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund  

Shire Hall 

Gloucester 

GL1 2TG 

 

Telephone: 01452 328888 

Email: peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk (Finance) 

                       pensions@gloucestershire.gov.uk (Administration) 

Website: Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) - Gloucestershire County Council 
 

 

 

 

Page 72

mailto:peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:pensions@gloucestershire.gov.uk
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/local-government-pension-scheme-lgps/


Appendix A- Governance Best Practice Compliance Statement 

 

Regulation 55 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 requires Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Administering Authorities to 

measure their governance arrangements against the standards set out in the Statutory Guidance issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 

Government. 

The following compliance statement has been approved by the Pension Committee. This sets out where the Fund is compliant with the guidance and where 

it is not compliant, an explanation is provided for non-compliance. 

Structure 

a) The management of the administration of benefits and strategic 

management of fund assets clearly rests with the main committee 

established by the appointing council.  

Fully compliant 

 

Council Constitution delegates responsibility for the 

Pension Fund to the Pension Committee in respect of 

these matters. 

b) That representatives of participating LGPS employers, admitted 

bodies and scheme members (including pensioner and deferred 

members) are members of either the main or secondary 

committee established to underpin the work of the main committee.  

Fully compliant Employer and Scheme member representatives are 

appointed to the Pension Committee. 

c) That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, 

the structure ensures effective communication across both levels.  

Fully Compliant/not 

applicable 

No secondary committee. 

d) That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, 

at least one seat on the main committee is allocated for a member 

from the secondary committee or panel.  

Fully Compliant/not 

applicable 

No secondary committee. 

P
age 73



Representation  

a) That all key stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to be 

represented within the main or secondary committee structure. 

These include: - 

i) employing authorities (including non-scheme employers, 

e.g., admitted bodies); 

ii) scheme members (including deferred and pensioner 

scheme members); 

iii) where appropriate, independent professional observers; 

and 

iv) expert advisers (on an ad-hoc basis). 

 

Fully Compliant (i) Employing authorities are represented by an 

employer representative.  

(ii) Scheme members are represented by a 

scheme member representative.   

(iii) At this stage the Pension Committee has 

determined that there is no requirement for 

an independent professional observer. 

(iv) Expert advisers – investment consultant 

participates at all meetings of the Pension 

Committee and other expert advisors are 

invited to attend as and when required. 

b) That where lay members sit on a main or secondary committee, they 

are treated equally in terms of access to advisers and meetings, 

training and are given full opportunity to contribute to the decision-

making process, with or without voting rights. 

Fully Compliant All members are sent Pension Committee papers 

ahead of meetings, are invited to training and are able 

to fully contribute to the decision-making process. 

P
age 74



Selection and role of lay members 

a) That committee or panel members are made fully aware of the 

status, role and function they are required to perform on either a 

main or secondary committee. 

Fully Compliant See Governance Policy and members made fully 

aware of this during induction training. 

b) That at the start of any meeting, committee members are invited to 

declare any financial or pecuniary interest related to specific matters 

on the agenda. 

Fully Compliant Members of the Pension Committee declare interests 

at the start of each meeting. 

 

 

Voting 

a) The policy of individual administering authorities on voting rights is 

clear and transparent, including the justification for not extending 

voting rights to each body or group represented on main LGPS 

committees 

Fully Compliant See the Council’s Constitution and the Fund’s 

Governance Policy 

 

Further Information 

Whilst the co-opted employer and scheme member representatives do not have voting rights, they are encouraged to fully participate in the meetings and 
decision-making discussions. 

P
age 75



Training/Facility Time/Expenses 

a) That in relation to the way in which statutory and related decisions 

are taken by the administering authority, there is a clear policy on 

training, facility time and reimbursement of expenses in respect of 

members involved in the decision-making process. 

Fully Compliant  See Training Strategy, Governance Policy and 

Members allowances scheme within the Council’s 

constitution  

b) That where such a policy exists, it applies equally to all members of 

committees, advisory panels or any other form of secondary forum. 

Fully Compliant See Training Strategy and Governance Policy  

c) That the administering authority considers the adoption of annual 

training plans for committee members and maintains a log of all 

such training undertaken. 

Fully Compliant See Governance Policy and Training Needs 

Assessments (TNAs) are regularly completed by all 

Committee Members 

 

 

Meetings (frequency/quorum) 

a) That an administering authority’s main committee or committees 
meet at least quarterly. 

Fully Compliant 
 

 

b) That an administering authority’s secondary committee 

or panel meet at least twice a year and is synchronised 

with the dates when the main committee sits. 

Fully Compliant/not 

applicable 

No secondary committee 

c) That an administering authority that does not include lay members 

in their formal governance arrangements must provide a forum 

outside of those arrangements by which the interests of key 

stakeholders can be represented 

Not applicable See Governance Policy for other ways of engaging 

stakeholders. Employer and scheme member 

representatives are on the main Pension Committee. 

 

 

P
age 76



Access 

a) That subject to any rules in the council’s constitution, all members 

of main and secondary committees or panels have equal access to 

committee papers, documents and advice that falls to be 

considered at meetings of the main committee 

Fully Compliant Committee papers are despatched 5 clear working 

days prior to a Committee meeting 

 

Scope 

a) That administering authorities have taken steps to bring wider 

scheme issues within the scope of their governance arrangements 

Fully Compliant The Pension Committee reviews all aspects of 

Pension Fund management. The finance and 

operational arrangements of the Fund are subject to 

review and audit by both external and internal 

auditors. 

 

Publicity 

a) That administering authorities have published details of their 

governance arrangements in such a way that stakeholders with an 

interest in the way in which the scheme is governed, can express an 

interest in wanting to be part of those arrangements 

Fully Compliant Governance Policy and Compliance Statement 

published in full in the Pension Fund Annual Report & 

Accounts and on the County Council’s website.  

The Annual Report is also discussed at the Fund’s 

AGM which is open to all Fund members and 

employers 

 

 

P
age 77



Appendix B - Delegation of Functions by Pensions Committee 

Key: 
PC  – Pensions Committee 
EDCR  – Executive Director of Corporate Resources (S151 Officer) 
DoF  –Director of Finance (Deputy S151 Officer) 
HoP  – Head of Pensions 
PIAM  – Pensions Investment and Accounting Manager 
PAM  – Pensions Administration Manager 
FA  – Fund Actuary 
Advisors  – Investment, actuarial, governance and/or benefits consultants as appropriate 

 

Function delegated to PC 
Further Delegation to 
Officer(s) Delegated Officer(s) 

Communication and Monitoring of 
Use of Delegation 

To formulate and publish an Investment 
Strategy Statement and to monitor 
performance and effectiveness of 
investment managers  

Implementation of strategic allocation 
including use of both rebalancing and 
conditional ranges 

HoP (in consultation with the 
Funds independent investment 
advisor) 

Monitored at PC as a regular standing 
agenda item 

To formulate and publish a Funding 
Strategy Statement in order to manage 
the Fund’s approach to funding its 
liabilities and to determine all policy 
matters relating to employer admission 
and cessations  

Making decisions in line with policy 
with regards to individual employer 
admissions and cessations, i.e. to 
determine the amount of any 
cessation surplus or deficit.  
 

Agreeing (in conjunction with the FA) 
the terms and payment of bulk transfers 
into and out of the Fund where there is 
a bulk transfer of staff. 

HoP (in consultation with the 
FA) 

Monitored at PC as a regular standing 
agenda item 

P
age 78



Function delegated to PC 
Further Delegation to 
Officer(s) 

Delegated Officer(s) 
Communication and Monitoring of 
Use of Delegation 

To agree the Administering Authority 
responses to consultations on LGPS 
matters and other matters where they 
may impact on the Fund or its 
stakeholders.  

Agreeing the Administering Authority 
responses where the consultation 
timescale does not provide sufficient 
time for a draft response to be 
approved by PC. 

HoP (or PAM or PIAM) and in 
consultation with relevant 
advisors, subject to agreement 
with Chair of PC 

PC advised of consultation via e-mail (if 
not already raised previously at PC) to 
provide opportunity for other views to 
be fed in. Copy of consultation 
response provided at following PC for 
noting. 

To set the overall strategic objectives for 
the Pension Fund and ensure these are 
reflected in the annual business plan, 
delivered on budget and to review the 
Administering Authority’s performance  

Regular day to day operational 
delivery of objectives  

HoP (in conjunction with PAM 
and / or PIAM)  

Regularly monitored at PC with further 
monitoring by EDCR and DOF via 
Administering Authority’s Corporate 
Service Plan 

To approve / agree the Pension Fund’s 
policy and strategy documents on a 
regular cycle  

Changes to policy and strategy 
documents - authority to make minor 
amendments or required regulatory 
changes (i.e., where no impact on 
strategy and having no significant 
financial implications). 
 

Changes to Administering Authority 
discretionary policies necessitated by 
changes to regulations - authority to 
amend the policies to reflect the 
requirements of such new regulations, 
subject to those decisions having no 
significant financial implications.  
  

Note that the discretionary policy itself 
contains a number of specific 
delegated responsibilities to various 
Fund officers. 

HoP (in conjunction with PAM 
and / or PIAM after taking 
appropriate advice from 
advisers) 

Copy of policies to be provided to PC 
members at next available PC meeting 
following changes being made. 

P
age 79



Function delegated to PC 
Further Delegation to 
Officer(s) 

Delegated Officer(s) 
Communication and Monitoring of 
Use of Delegation 

To determine arrangements for 
managing the Fund’s relationships with 
its employers  

Ensuring employers have established 
policies as required by Regulations 
(for example Employing Authority 
Discretions policy and a nominated 
person to consider Internal Dispute 
Resolution Procedure) cases 

HoP and/or PAM and PIAM 
(having regard to advisers) 

Ongoing reporting to PC for noting, where 
applicable 

To determine the Fund’s risk 
management strategy and arrangements  

Ensuring the processes outlined in the 
Fund’s risk management strategy are 
carried out and that risks are 
recorded and monitored on the risk 
register on an ongoing basis 

HoP and/or PAM and PIAM 
(having regards to advisers) 

Ongoing reporting to PC for noting 

 

To select, appoint and dismiss the Fund’s 
advisers, including actuary, benefits 
consultants, governance consultants, 
investment consultants and global 
custodian  

Ongoing monitoring of suppliers HoP  Ongoing reporting to PC for noting 

 

Selection, appointment, and 
termination of suppliers following 
approval by PC 

HoP (having regard to ongoing 
advice of legal and procurement 
advisers) and subject to 
ratification by PC 

Notified to PC via ratification process. 

The Committee may delegate a limited 
range of its functions to one or more 
officers of the Authority. The Pension 
Committee will be responsible for 
outlining expectations in relation to 
reporting progress of 

delegated functions back to the Pension 
Committee. 

Other urgent matters as they arise HoP or PAM / PIAM / DoF, 
subject to agreement with Chair 
of PC 

PC advised of need for delegation via e-
mail as soon as the delegation is 
necessary. Result of delegation to be 
reported for noting to following PC. 

Other non-urgent matters as they 
arise 

HoP or PAM / PIAM, subject to 
agreement to Chair of PC 

PC advised of need for delegation via e-
mail as soon as the delegation is 
necessary. Result of delegation to be 
reported for noting to following PC. 

 

P
age 80



 

Agenda Item 10 

 

Pension Committee 
23 September 2022 

 

LGPS Performance Benchmarking 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

 

Summary 
 

The Fund participates in the LGPS Investment Performance benchmark undertaken by 
PIRC. 

 

For the 2021/22 analysis the universe comprised 63 LGPS Funds (64 in 2020/21), with a 
combined value of £250bn (£230bn in 2020/21). For information, five Funds, including 
Gloucestershire, who form part of the Brunel Pension Partnership, took part in the 
universe for 2021/22. 

 

Below is a summary of the Total Fund Performance verses the universe average and range 
for 1, 3 and 5 years 

 

 1 Year 
Performance 

% 

3 Year 
Performance 

% 

5 Year 
Performance 

% 

10 Year 
Performance 

% 

Gloucestershire 6.9 8.3 6.9 8.9 

     

Universe average 8.6 8.3 7.1 8.9 

     
Range of Results     

Upper Quartile 10.0 9.3 7.7 9.2 

Median 8.0 8.6 7.0 8.8 

Lower Quartile 6.0 7.6 6.5 8.3 

 

The underperformance verses the universe average over the 1 year was primarily driven 
by the higher weighing in equities and bonds than the majority of universe. Developed 
equities performed well until the first Quarter of 2022 when the Ukraine war and fear of 
resulting inflation weighed heavily and markets fell, however, over the twelve months to 
31 March developed markets were still positive. Emerging markets however, battered by 
a strong US Dollar and the continuing impact of COVID were the worst performing of all 
asset classes. Performance was also impacted by the Funds current lower levels of 
alternatives exposure, as these allocations continue to develop.  

 

The Fund has been exposed to the high volatility associated with the slightly larger equity 
allocation, but over the last 10 this has delivered a return in line with the average.     

 

Attached as appendix 1 to this report, is the full report on performance to March 2022, 
prepared by PIRC for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

Page 81

Agenda Item 10



 

Agenda Item 10 

 

 
 

Recommendation 

That the Committee notes the LGPS Performance Benchmarking Report as at 31 March 
2022. 
 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 82



Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund
Performance to March 2022

pirc.co.uk

P
age 83



Universe Returns 2021/22

• Last year the average Fund returned 8.6%, with 50% of Funds delivering a return between 6% and 10%.
• Developed equities performed well until the first Quarter of 2022 when the Ukraine war and fear of resulting 

inflation weighed heavily and markets fell.  
• Over the twelve months however, developed markets were positive. Emerging markets, battered by a strong US 

Dollar and the continuing impact of COVID were the worst performing of all asset classes. 
• Bond markets delivered negative results for the year, only inflation linked and private debt making it onto 

positive territory.
• Strong results were delivered from alternative assets. Private equity once again delivering outstanding returns. 

Property too continued to do well, returning almost 18% 2

P
age 84



Universe Asset Allocation 

• Over the year there was further disinvestment from Equities into 'diversifying' assets.
• Within Equities there was a continuation of the move started the previous year into 'climate aware' investments. 
• Most portfolio changes through the year reflected the ongoing move into Pool sub-funds.

3

% Allocation 2021 2022 Change

Equities 56 52 -4

UK 10 10 0

Overseas 46 42 -4

Bonds 17 18 1

UK 7 8 1

Global 2 1 -1

Absolute Return 5 4 -1

Multi Asset Credit 3 4 1

Private Debt 1 1 0

Cash 2 2 0

Alternatives 14 17 3

Private Equity 7 8 1

Infrastructure 5 6 1

Absolute Return 2 2 0

Private Debt 1 1 0

Diversified Growth 2 2 0

Property 8 9 1

End March

P
age 85



Universe Longer Term Results

4

Long Term Asset Returns (% p.a.)

3 Years 5 Years 10 Years 20 Years 30 Years

Equity 10.2 8.4 10.6 8.0 9.2

UK 5.6 4.7 7.4 6.2

Global 11.5 9.6 11.7 6.4

Emerging 4.1 4.5 6.3 8.4

Bonds 2.6 2.5 4.5 5.7 6.9

Cash 0.5 0.4 0.9 2.3 2.8

Alternatives 11.0 9.8 10.0 7.6

Private Equity 19.5 16.5 14.7 8.8

Infrastructure 5.7 6.9

Hedge Funds 4.9 3.2

Diversified Growth 4.7 5.1

Property 6.3 6.8 8.0 7.0 8.2

Total Assets 8.3 7.1 8.9 7.3 8.5

0

2

4

6

8

10

%
 p

.a
.

P
age 86



Performance

Fund Performance Within Universe Range of Results

The figure shows the Fund return within the range

of results achieved by the LGPS Universe in the

latest year. The returns are divided into quarters

(quartiles) and the fund is shown as a red diamond.

• The average Fund returned 8.6% with most funds returning between 6% and 10%.
• In the latest year the Fund return of 6.9 % was below average.
• The return ranked in the 64th percentile.

5

P
age 87



Fund Asset Allocation
Asset Allocation Relative to Universe Average

• The Fund is structured quite closely to the average.
• The key difference is the high exposure to diversified growth and lower exposure to alternatives,
• This structure had a negative impact on relative performance last year.

6

P
age 88



Fund Longer Term Performance

7

Longer Term Returns and Rankings

Fund 8.3 6.9 8.9 7.1

Universe Average 8.3 7.1 8.9 7.3

Ranking (57) (56) (42) (59)

CPI Inflation 3.0 2.7 2.1 2.1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

3 Year 5 Year 10 Year 20 Year

A
b

so
lu

te
 R

et
u

rn
 %

 p
aP

age 89



Fund Risk and Return – Ten Years
Last Ten Years (% p.a.)

• Over the last ten years the Fund (red dot) had a higher than average level of volatility 
and  delivered a return in line with average.

8

P
age 90



Fund Risk And Return – Five Years
Last Five Years (% p.a.)

• In the last five years the Fund (red dot) relative volatility has increased but the relative 
performance has slipped slightly to just below average.

9

P
age 91



This report is intended solely for the use of the participating funds. Whilst individual fund returns and rankings may be used, the 
report in its entirety should not be copied or distributed beyond these funds.

While all  reasonable efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this document there is no 
warranty, express or implied, as to its accuracy or completeness. Any opinions expressed in this document are subject to chan ge 
without notice. The document is for general information only and PIRC Ltd accepts no responsibility for any loss arising from any 
action taken or not taken by anyone using this material.

Pensions & Investment Research Consultants Limited (PIRC Ltd) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA 
Register number 144331, see FCA register for registration details) and registered in England and Wales No 2300269.

10

P
age 92

http://www.fsa.gov.uk/register/


 

Agenda Item 11 

 

Pension Committee 
23 September 2022 

 

Annual Report of the Pension Board for 2021/22 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 

Summary 
 

Under their constitution, the Pension Board shall provide an annual report to the Pension 
Committee and then to a full meeting of Gloucestershire County Council. The report will 
include information on the business conducted by the Pension Board with any risks or 
concerns identified. The report will also be published on the Pension Fund’s website.  

 

The report, approved by the Pension Board at their meeting on 21 July 2022, attached at 
Appendix 1, meets that requirement for the 2021/22 financial year, covering the work 
from the July 2021, October 2021, January 2022 and April 2022 Pension Board meetings.   

 

The report provides details of the constitution of the Board, the respective Employer and 
Member representatives and their attendance at the meetings held. 

 

The annual report provides an overview of the items received and reviewed by the Board 
at its meetings in 2021/22, with additional commentary on the key items that the Board 
supported and continue to support, such as the Training Strategy and the Governance 
Review. 

 

It also provides an indication of the future work programme for the Board for 2022/23, 
which will focus on the triennial valuation, governance review and the Funds core projects 
within the business plan for 2022/23. 

 

The report will be included in the Funds Annual Report, which will be published on or 
before 1 December 2022. The Funds Annual Report will be taken to the Gloucestershire 
County Council meeting on 15 February 2023. 

 

Recommendation 

The Committee note the Pension Board Annual Report for 2021-22, which will be included 
in the Funds Annual Report for 2021/22. 
 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



The Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Pension Board 
 
All Public Sector Pension schemes were required under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to set 
up a Pension Board with effect from 2015/16 to assist the administering authorities of their Pension 
scheme in ensuring compliance with Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and other pension 
regulations. 
 
The County Council, as administering authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund agreed the 
terms of reference of the Pension Board in February 2015 and amended them during 2019/20. The 
terms of reference are included within the Fund's Governance Policy document, which can be found 
on the Funds website and in the 2021/22 Annual Report. 
 
Under the constitution, the Board shall provide an annual report to the Pension Committee and then 
to a full meeting of Gloucestershire County Council. The report will include information on the  
business conducted by the Pension Board with any risks or concerns identified. The report will also 
be published on the Pension Fund’s website. This report meets that requirement for the 2021/22 
financial year, covering the work from the July 2021, October 2021, January 2022 and April 2022 
Board meetings.    
 
Board Membership and Attendance 
 
During the year the Board received the resignation of Paul Jones as a Scheme Employer 
Representative. Expressions of Interest from Scheme Employers was sought and Colin Williams from 
the Lower Severn Internal Drainage Board has been appointed to the Board with effect from June 
2022.   
 

 Meeting attendance 

28 July 2021 19 October 
2021 

19 January 
2022 

27 April 
2022 

Scheme Employer 
Representatives 

    

Annette Benson (University of 
Gloucestershire)   ✓ ✓ 

Paul Jones (Cheltenham Borough 
Council) *resigned position August 2021    

 

Cllr Stephen Hirst 
(Gloucestershire County Council) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

     

Scheme Member 
Representatives 

   
 

John Abbott ✓ ✓ ✓  

Michael Hunt ✓ ✓ ✓  

Jon Topping ✓ ✓ ✓  

 
All meetings were chaired by the Independent non-voting chair, Sean Collins, Head of Pensions from 
the Oxfordshire Pension Fund. 
 
In addition to attendance at Board Meetings, members of the Pension Board are provided with 
training opportunities in accordance with the training strategy and training plan. Members of the 
Pension Board are also sent all agenda papers for the Pension Committee meetings, which they can 

Page 95



attend as observers. The minutes of the Pension Board are reported to the next Pension Committee. 
All meetings in 2021/22 have taken place virtually.  
 
Work Programme 
 
The Board receives the following items in respect of its key responsibilities at every meeting: 
 

• Operational update on funding levels and investment activities  

• Risk Register 

• Pension Administration Report 

• Business Plan update 
 
The Board received the following additional reports at its meetings: 
 

• 28 July 2021 
o Governance Review 

 

• 19 October 2021 
o Annual Report 2020/21 (inc financial statements) 
o LGPS Benchmarking 
o Fund Conflicts of Interest Policy 
o Pensions Committee Constitution 

 

• 19 January 2022 
o Revised Investment Strategy Statement 
o Breaches of Law policy 
o Administering Authority Discretions Policy 
o Proposals for Pension Arrangements for Outsourced Services 

 

• 27 April 2022 
o Public Service Pensions Act Section 13 report 
o 2022 valuation – Actuarial Assumptions 
o Fund Business Plan 2022/23  

 
The Board particularly welcomed the work of an independent Governance Review by AON and the 
associated work plan that was agreed and resulted in a number of policy reviews, which have been 
brought back throughout 2021/22. 
 
Future Work Programme    
 
The key responsibilities as set out above will continue to be covered by the Board in 2022/23, 
including the review of the Annual Report and Business Plan.  
 
The Board will continue to monitor the delivery of the agreed the workplan as a result of the 
recommendations provided by the Governance Review. 
 
Another key focus area for the Board in 2022/23 will be the delivery for the 2022 triennial valuation. 
The Board will be invited to provide comments into the review of the Funding Strategy Statement 
which will determine the principles to be followed in the valuation. 
 

Page 96



Finally, the Board will look to support the Committee in delivering the other core projects contained 
in the business plan for 2022/23, which are;  
 

• the review of the pensions administration system contract 

• the Pensions dashboard (including a data improvement strategy) 

• the McCloud judgement.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



Board Members Training 2021/22      Appendix 
 
 
Annette Benson  Brunel Investor Day – Session 1   27 September 2021 
Annette Benson  LGA Fundamentals – Day 1   12 October 2021 
Annette Benson  LGA Fundamentals – Day 2   9 November 2021 
Annette Benson  LGA Fundamentals – Day 3   2 December 2021 
Annette Benson  2022 Funding Strategy Review: an introduction 19 January 2022 
Annette Benson  Club Vita – Longevity training   27 April 2022 
Jon Topping  Actuarial Training    19 October 2021 
Jon Topping  LGA Fundamentals – Day 1   26 October 2021 
Jon Topping  LGA Fundamentals – Day 2   23 November 2021 
Jon Topping  LGA Fundamentals – Day 3   15 December 2021 
Jon Topping  2022 Funding Strategy Review: an introduction 19 January 2022 
John Abbott  Brunel Investor Day – Session 1   27 September 2021 
John Abbott  Actuarial Training    19 October 2021 
John Abbott  LGA Fundamentals – Day 1   26 October 2021 
John Abbott  LGA Fundamentals – Day 2   23 November 2021 
John Abbott  LGA Fundamentals – Day 3   15 December 2021 
John Abbott  2022 Funding Strategy Review: an introduction 19 January 2022 
John Abbott  Club Vita – Longevity training   27 April 2022 
Michael Hunt  Brunel Investor Day – Session 1   27 September 2021 
Michael Hunt  Brunel Investor Day – Session 2   6 October 2021  
Michael Hunt  Actuarial Training    19 October 2021 
Michael Hunt  LGA Fundamentals – Day 1   26 October 2021 
Michael Hunt  LGA Fundamentals – Day 2   9 November 2021 
Michael Hunt  2022 Funding Strategy Review: an introduction 19 January 2022 
Cllr Stephen Hirst  Actuarial Training    19 October 2021 
Cllr Stephen Hirst  LGA Fundamentals – Day 1   26 October 2021 
Cllr Stephen Hirst  LGA Fundamentals – Day 2   23 November 2021 
Cllr Stephen Hirst  LGA Fundamentals – Day 3   15 December 2021 
Cllr Stephen Hirst  2022 Funding Strategy Review: an introduction 19 January 2022 
Cllr Stephen Hirst  Club Vita – Longevity training   27 April 2022 
 
 

Page 98



 

Agenda Item 12 

 

Pension Committee 
23 September 2022 

 

Pension Fund Financial Statements 2021-22 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 

Summary 
 

This report provides the opportunity for the Pensions Committee to consider the draft 
year-end financial statements of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, that once the audit has 
been completed will be presented to the Audit Committee for approval as part of 
Gloucestershire County Council’s Accounts.  

 

 

Financial Statements 2021-22 

 

The financial statements are attached as appendix 1 to this report, with the following table 
showing the income and expenditure, as well as the change in the Fund’s value over the 
year (with the prior year comparators). 

 

As can be seen from the tables below, the Fund continued to experience growth over the 
12 months, even withstanding the impact of the Ukraine crisis in the quarter to 31 March 
2022. The accounts show that the overall value of the Fund increased by £208.353m 
during the 2021/22 financial year, leading to a year-end value of £3,110.843m. 

 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 12



 

Agenda Item 12 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Fund Account for the year ended 31
st
 March 2022

2020/21

£'000 £'000 £'000

Contributions 

-123,689 employer contributions -82,992

-20,110 member contributions -21,119

-143,799 -104,111

Transfers in from other pension funds

-5,883 individual transfers from other schemes or funds -6,928

-              group transfers from other schemes or funds -                

-5,883 -6,928

Other income

-94 recoveries for services provided -89

Benefits 

75,033 pensions 77,261

11,358 commutation of pensions and lump sum retirement benefits 13,328

1,908 lump sum death benefits 1,647

88,299 92,236

Payments to and on account of leavers

227 refunds to members leaving scheme or fund 335

-2 payments for members joining state scheme or fund -2

5,706 individual transfers to other schemes or funds 6,867

-              group transfers to other schemes or funds 1,069         

5,931 8,269

-55,546 Net (additions) / withdrawals from dealings with members -10,623

12,202 Management Expenses 18,530

-43,344 Net (additions) / withdrawals including fund management 

expenses

7,907

Returns on investments

-23,888 Investment income -18,776

-43 Taxes on income -                

-590,652 Profit(-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in 

market value of investments

-197,484

-614,583 Net returns on investments -216,260

-657,927 NET INCREASE (-) / DECREASE IN THE NET ASSETS 

AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS DURING THE YEAR
-208,353

2,244,563 Opening net assets of the scheme 2,902,490

2,902,490 Closing net assets of the scheme 3,110,843

2021/22

Page 100



 

Agenda Item 12 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The Fund's financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other 
benefits after the period end but rather summaries the transactions and net assets of the 
scheme. 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Net Assets Statement as at 31
st
 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Investment assets

360,751 Bonds -                     

2,257,529 Pooled investment vehicles 2,773,831

202,134 Pooled property investments 246,138          

1,106 Derivative contracts -                     

4,856 Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity 3,853

15,816 Cash held on behalf of the investment managers 75,988

5,800 Other investment balances 1,129

2,847,992 3,100,939

Long term investment assets

112    Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 71

112           71

Investment liabilities

-813 Derivative contracts -                     

-                Other investment balances -                     

-813 -                     

2,847,291 Total net investments 3,101,010

Long term assets

308 Contributions due from employers 181

308 181

Current assets

4,974 Contributions due from employers 5,256

277 Other current assets 1,382

275 Payments in advance 5

50,668 Cash balances 4,495

56,194 11,138

Current liabilities

-7 Unpaid benefits -13

-1,296 Other current liabilities -1,473

-1,303 -1,486

2,902,490 Net assets of the scheme available to fund benefits at the 

reporting period end

3,110,843

Page 101



 

Agenda Item 12 

 

 

 

 

Audit  

 

The Audit Plan produced by Grant Thornton (the Fund’s external auditor) for the financial 
year ending 31 March 2022 was brought to Committee at its meeting in June 2022. The 
Audit Plan provided an overview of the scope of the statutory audit of the Fund. 

 

At the time of preparing this report, we are awaiting the audit findings report, which 
would raise any adjusted or unadjusted misstatements, misclassifications, disclosure 
changes and an opinion on the internal control environment, as identified by Grant 
Thornton during the audit process. A verbal update on the current audit position will be 
provided at the meeting.  

 

Once the audit findings report is received it will be circulated immediately to Committee to 
consider. 

 

 

Recommendation 

That the Committee recommends the Fund’s financial statements for 2021-22, attached as 
Appendix 1, to the Audit Committee for approval within Gloucestershire County Council’s 
overall financial statements, noting the audit findings report which will be presented at or 
before the meeting. 

 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 102



Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Fund Account for the year ended 31
st
 March 2022

2020/21 Note

£'000 £'000 £'000

Contributions 

-123,689 employer contributions -82,992 N18

-20,110 member contributions -21,119 N18

-143,799 -104,111 N7

Transfers in from other pension funds

-5,883 individual transfers from other schemes or funds -6,928

-                group transfers from other schemes or funds -                  

-5,883 -6,928

Other income

-94 recoveries for services provided -89 N20

Benefits 

75,033 pensions 77,261 N30

11,358 commutation of pensions and lump sum retirement benefits 13,328

1,908 lump sum death benefits 1,647

88,299 92,236 N7

Payments to and on account of leavers

227 refunds to members leaving scheme or fund 335

-2 payments for members joining state scheme or fund -2

5,706 individual transfers to other schemes or funds 6,867

-                group transfers to other schemes or funds 1,069          N28

5,931 8,269

-55,546 Net (additions) / withdrawals from dealings with members -10,623

12,202 Management Expenses 18,530 N20

-43,344 Net (additions) / withdrawals including fund management 

expenses

7,907

Returns on investments

-23,888 Investment income -18,776 N13

-43 Taxes on income -                  N3 & N13

-590,652 Profit(-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in 

market value of investments

-197,484 N4

-614,583 Net returns on investments -216,260

-657,927 NET INCREASE (-) / DECREASE IN THE NET ASSETS AVAILABLE 

FOR BENEFITS DURING THE YEAR

-208,353

2,244,563 Opening net assets of the scheme 2,902,490

2,902,490 Closing net assets of the scheme 3,110,843

2021/22

Page 103



Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Net Assets Statement as at 31
st
 March 2022

2020/21 2021/22 Note

£'000 £'000

Investment assets

360,751 Bonds -                       

2,257,529 Pooled investment vehicles 2,773,831 N10

202,134 Pooled property investments 246,138            

1,106 Derivative contracts -                       N2 & N15

4,856 Other investments - Venture Capital/Private Equity 3,853

15,816 Cash held on behalf of the investment managers 75,988 N25

5,800 Other investment balances 1,129

2,847,992 3,100,939 N12

Long term investment assets

112    Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 71

112             71

Investment liabilities

-813 Derivative contracts -                       N2 & N15

-                  Other investment balances -                       

-813 -                       N12

2,847,291 Total net investments 3,101,010

Long term assets

308 Contributions due from employers 181

308 181 N12 & N22

Current assets

4,974 Contributions due from employers 5,256

277 Other current assets 1,382

275 Payments in advance 5

50,668 Cash balances 4,495 N2, N21, N25

56,194 11,138 N12 & N22

Current liabilities

-7 Unpaid benefits -13

-1,296 Other current liabilities -1,473

-1,303 -1,486 N12 & N23

2,902,490 Net assets of the scheme available to fund benefits at the 

reporting period end

3,110,843 N4, N5, N12 

& N16

The notes on the following pages form part of these Financial Statements.

The Fund's financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 

period end but rather summarise the transactions and net assets of the scheme.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed at Note N24.

Page 104



Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Notes to Pension Fund Accounts

N1. Introduction

Membership Breakdown

Membership details are set out below:

31st March 2021 31st March 2022

Number of employers 204 217

County  Council                10,074                    9,762 

Other employers                  9,148                    9,158 

               19,222                  18,920 

Number of pensioners

County  Council                10,176                  10,630 

Other employers                  7,114                    7,498 

               17,290                  18,128 

Deferred pensioners

County  Council                11,744                  11,939 

Other employers                  8,530                    8,875 

               20,274                  20,814 

Total number of members in pension scheme                56,786                  57,862 

Funding

Benefits are funded by contributions and investment earnings.  Contributions are made by active members of the Fund in 

accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and range from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay 

for the financial year ending 31st March 2022.  Employers' contributions are set based on triennial actuarial funding valuations.  

The last such valuation was at 31st March 2019.  When setting contribution rates the Actuary takes into account the funding 

target, the time horizon over which the funding target is to be achieved and the strength of the employer covenant; further 

information can be found within the Fund's Funding Strategy Statement.  During 2021/22 employer contribution rates ranged 

from 0% to 36.5% of pensionable pay.

The County Council is the administering body for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund which is a contributory defined benefit 

scheme. This is not only for County Council employees but also for District Councils within the County and other local bodies 

providing public services. A full list of all employing bodies who are members of the Fund are shown in the Pension Fund's 

Annual Report alongside the detailed accounts of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.                                                                                      

The Fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and administered in accordance with the following secondary 

legislation:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

- The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended)           

- The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended)                    

- The Local Government Pension Scheme(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (as amended)               

Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are free to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the scheme or 

make their own personal arrangements outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in the Pension Fund include the following:

- Scheduled bodies, which are automatically entitled to be members of the Fund.

- Admitted bodies, which participate in the Fund under the terms of an admission agreement between the Fund and the 

employer.  Admitted bodies include voluntary, charitable and similar not-for-profit organisations, or private contractors 

undertaking a local authority function following outsourcing to the private sector.

Fire fighters, police and teachers have their own separate nationally-administered schemes.

The Fund exists to provide pensions and certain other benefits to former employees. The Pension Fund is not a Gloucestershire 

County Council fund and is subject to its own audit; therefore balances are not included in the Gloucestershire County Council 

Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The Fund is administered by the Pension Committee, which is a committee of Gloucestershire 

County Council.  The Pension Board was set up with effect from the 1st April 2015 to assist the Pensions Committee in securing 

compliance with the relevant laws and Regulations and to help the Pension Committee ensure the effective and efficient 

governance and administration of the Fund.

In addition, to the membership numbers above, there were 5,389 (5,110 2020/21) undecided or unprocessed leavers.  

Undecided leavers are those members who are no longer accruing service and to whom a refund of contributions or transfer out 

may be due.

Unprocessed leavers are those members which represent cases where we are aware that a member has left, but that case has 

not yet been processed.  

Number of employees in the scheme

Page 105



Benefits  

N2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty

Item Uncertainties

Estimation of the net liability to pay 

pensions depends on a number of 

complex judgements relating to 

the discount rate used, salary 

increases, changes in retirement 

ages, mortality rates and returns 

on fund assets. A firm of 

consulting actuaries is engaged to 

provide the fund with expert advice 

about the assumptions to be 

applied

Private Equity, Infrastructure and Private Debt The total value of Private Equity, 

Infrastructure and Private Debt 

investments in the financial 

statements as at 31st March 2022 

was £174.421m. 

A change in market price of those 

holdings with a valuation date prior 

to the 31st March 2022 would 

equate to a potential movement of 

 - Private Equity & Infrastructure 

£30.4m, 31.2%

 - Private Debt £4.9m, 9.0% 

There is a risk that these 

investments may be under or 

overstated in the accounts, see 

Note 26.

Effect if actual results differ from 

assumptions

The net Pension Fund liability is recalculated every three years by the appointed actuary, with annual updates in the intervening 

years.  The methodology used is in line with accepted guidelines.

The critical judgement is made by senior management of the Pension Fund, with advice from the Actuary, of the assumptions to 

be used in the Valuation but because they are assumptions, they could be a source of estimation uncertainty and are also 

covered in the following section.  The Pension Fund Liability is subject to significant variances based on changes to the 

underlying assumptions and these have been summarised in Note N24.

These actuarial revaluations are used to set future contribution rates and underpin the Fund's most significant investment 

management policies.

The items within the Financial Statements as at 31st March 2022, for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in 

the forthcoming year, are highlighted below:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

amounts reported for assets and liabilities at the year-end-date and the amounts reported for the revenues and expenses during 

the year. Estimates and assumptions are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant 

factors. However, the nature of estimation means that the actual outcomes could differ from the assumptions and estimates. 

Income and expenditure have been accounted for on an accruals basis.

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 

(Note 24)

Prior to 1st April 2014, pension benefits under the LGPS were based on final pensionable pay and length of pensionable service.  

From 1st April 2014, the scheme became a career average scheme, whereby members accrue benefits based on their 

pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th.  Accrued pension is uprated annually in line with the Consumer Prices 

Index.

A range of other benefits are also provided including early retirement, disability pensions and death benefits, as explained on the 

LGPS website - see www.lgpsmember.org. 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Fund's transactions for the 2021/22 financial year and its position at year end as at 

31st March 2022. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2021/22 which is based upon International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK 

public sector.  The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and reports on the net assets available to pay pension 

benefits. The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the 

financial year.  The actuarial value of promised retirement benefits, valued on an International Accounting Standard (IAS19) 

basis, is disclosed at Note 24 of these accounts.  The accounts are prepared on a going concern basis.

The effects on the net pension 

liability of changes in the individual 

assumptions can be measured as 

follows:

- A 0.1% decrease in the discount 

rate would increase the liability by 

£79m

- A 0.1% increase in the pension 

increase rate would increase the 

liability by £72m

- A 0.1% increase in the salary 

increase rate would increase the 

liability by £7m

- A 1 year increase in member life 

expectancy would increase the 

liability by £160m

Due to the normal delay in 

receiving quarterly valuation 

statements for some of the 

underlying funds, investments in 

Private Equity, Infrastructure and 

Private Debt funds totalling 

£151.5m have a valuation date 

earlier than 31st March 2022 and 

may be different when the 31st 

March prices are known.   The 

percentages used in the next 

column highlight the volatility that 

might occur.

Page 106



Pooled Property Funds

Management expenses

a) Investment management expenses

b) Acquisition and transaction costs of investments

c) Administration expenses

The total value of Pooled Property 

Funds in the financial statements as 

at 31st March 2022 was £246.138m. 

A change in market price of those 

holdings with a valuation date prior 

to the 31st March 2022 would 

equate to a potential movement of 

£10.0m, 15.0%.

There is a risk that these 

investments may be under or 

overstated in the accounts, see 

Note 26.

Contribution income

Revenue and expense recognition

Benefits payable and refunds of contributions

Benefits payable and refunds of contributions have been brought into the accounts on the basis of all valid claims approved 

during the year.  

Transfers to and from other schemes

Individual transfer values are accounted for when they are paid or received. Bulk transfer value calculations are made towards 

the end of the bulk transfer process and based on payment being made on a specific day.  Bulk transfer values are accrued 

when the value has been determined.

Investments are not publicly listed 

and as such there is a degree of 

estimation involved in the 

valuation.  Managers either apply 

open market values or a fair value 

process, open market values are 

in accordance with RICS valuation 

standards and fair value 

processes are driven by 

International Private Equity and 

Venture Capital Valuation 

guidelines. 

Due to the normal delay in 

receiving quarterly valuation 

statements for the underlying 

funds, investments in Pooled 

Property Funds totalling £66.9m 

have a valuation date earlier than 

31st March 2022. 

All Oversight and Governance expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  All staff costs associated with Oversight and 

Governance is charged to the Fund.  Associated management, accommodation and other overheads are apportioned to this 

activity and charged as expenses to the Fund.   The cost of investment advice from external consultants is included in Oversight 

& Governance.  Further information on Oversight and Governance expenses can be found in Note N20.  

d) Oversight & governance expenses

Pension Fund expenses have been accounted for in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for Local Government 

Pension Scheme Management Costs .   A more detailed breakdown of management expenses can be found in Note N20.

Acquisition costs of investments (e.g. stamp duty) and transaction costs are included within Investment Management Expenses 

with a corresponding offset against Profit on Disposal of Investments.  In addition to the transaction costs disclosed, indirect 

costs are incurred through the bid/offer spread on investments within pooled investment vehicles.   A more detailed breakdown 

of management expenses, including transaction costs, can be found in Note N20.

Federated Hermes deducts its fees from a combination of assets held and income distributions and is included within 

Investment Management Expenses. Technology Venture Partners (TVP) and Yorkshire Fund Managers Ltd. (YFM) deduct their 

fees from the value of the assets under their management. Fees for TVP and YFM have not been included as they are the legal 

responsibility of the managers and not the Fund.   Management costs for Arcmont are deducted from distributions.  Brunel's 

investment managers and Golub deduct their fees from the value of the pooled funds under their management.  The investment 

manager for Brunel's passive global equity pooled funds encashes units to cover their fees and all these fees have also been 

included within Investment Management Expenses. 

Contributions have been accounted for on an accruals basis where amounts due have been determined in time for inclusion in 

the accounts.   Additional employer's contributions in respect of ill-health and early retirements are accounted for in the year the 

event arose.  Employer deficit contribution lump sum payments are accounted for in the year the payment is made.  Any amount 

due in year but unpaid will be classed as a current financial asset.  Amounts not due until future years are classed as long-term 

financial assets.

Investment Management Expenses comprise of expenses which are incurred in relation to the management of pension fund 

assets. Broadly, these are based on the market value of the investments in the investment manager's portfolio and therefore 

increase or reduce as the value of these investments change.  Where an investment manager's fee has not been received by 

the reporting period end date, an estimate based upon the market value of the mandate at the end of the reporting period has 

been used. Where fees are netted off investment market values by investment managers, these expenses are grossed up to 

increase the change in value of investments.

All administrative expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.  All staff costs associated with administration is charged to 

the Fund.  Associated management, accommodation and other overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged as 

expenses to the Fund.  Further information on administrative expenses can be found in Note N20.  

Page 107



Investment Income

Cash and cash equivalents

The Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits

Valuation of assets

Derivatives

N3. Taxation

Gloucestershire Pension Fund together with nine other shareholders each hold a 10% share in Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 

(company number 10429110). As such, no fund is deemed to have a significant influence and this long term investment is 

accounted for at fair value. The asset was initially measured at cost and is subsequently revalued for any impairment. 

The accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022 use the valuations for the Fund's assets based on the figures provided by the 

Fund's custodian, State Street.

Financial assets are included in the financial statements on a fair value basis at the reporting date. A financial asset is 

recognised in the Net Assets Statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of the asset. From 

this date any gains or losses arising from the changes in the fair value of the asset are recognised in the Fund Account.

As permitted under the Code, the Fund has included a note disclosing the actuarial present value of promised retirement 

benefits by way of a note to the Net Asset Statement in Note N24.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place prior to the year-end giving rise to a possible financial obligation 

whose existence will only be confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events. Contingent liabilities can also arise in 

circumstances where a provision would be made, except that it is not possible at the balance sheet date to measure the value of 

the financial obligation reliably.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Net Asset Statement but are disclosed by way of narrative in the 

notes.

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place giving rise to a possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed 

or otherwise by the occurrence of future events.

The Fund is a registered public service scheme under Section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and is exempt from 

UK capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments sold and UK income tax on interest received.  Corporation Tax is deducted 

from UK equity dividends; tax deducted from property unit trusts can be reclaimed.  Withholding tax is payable on income from 

overseas investments.  This tax is recovered wherever local tax laws permit.

The SORP requires securities to be valued on a Fair Value Basis therefore assets and liabilities, where there is an active and 

readily available market price, are valued at the bid price. Where assets do not actively trade through established exchange 

mechanisms, a price is obtained from the manager of the investment asset through their quarterly reports. Further details of their 

approach to establishing fair value can be found within Note N26, Basis of Valuation table. Any amounts due or payable in 

respect of trades entered into but not yet completed at 31st March each year, accrued dividend income, Fund debtors and 

creditors and cash and cash instruments are accounted for as financial instruments held at amortised cost.  Investments held in 

foreign currencies are shown at market value translated into sterling at the exchange rates prevailing as at 31st March 2022.  

Purchases and sales during the year which require settlement in a foreign currency are converted from/to sterling at the 

exchange rate prevailing on the trade date.  Pooled investment vehicles are valued at closing bid price if both bid and offer 

prices are published; or if single priced, at the closing single price.  In the case of pooled investment vehicles that are 

accumulation funds, change in market value also includes income which is re-invested in the fund, net of applicable withholding 

tax.  The Pooled Property Investments are independently valued either in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered 

Surveyors valuation standards or by a fair value process driven by International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 

guidelines.  Private Equity and Infrastructure funds are valued using the latest financial statements published by the respective 

fund managers and in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Guidelines. The valuation standards 

followed by the managers are in accordance with the industry guidelines and the constituent management agreements. Such 

investments may not always be valued on year end valuation as information may not be available, and therefore will be valued 

based on the latest valuation provided by the managers adjusted for movements to the year end.

A detailed breakdown of investments can be found under Note N12.

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a triennial basis by the scheme actuary in 

accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 Post-Employment Benefits and relevant actuarial standards.

Cash comprises cash in hand (bank) and demand deposits (money market funds) which also includes amounts held by the 

Fund's custodian on behalf of its investment managers.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject 

to minimal risk of changes in value.

The values of investment as shown in the Net Assets Statement have been determined at fair value in accordance with the 

requirements of the Code and IFRS 13 (see Note 26). For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, the Fund has 

adopted the classification guidelines recommended in Practical Guidance on Investment Disclosures (PRAG/Investment 

Association).

Cash balances held in accordance with the County Councils' Treasury Management Strategy and those held with the Fund's 

custodian, State Street Bank & Trust Company, on behalf of investment managers, are in instant access accounts.

Dividends are accounted for when the holding is declared ex-dividend.  Any amount not received by the end of the reporting 

period is recognised as a current financial asset.  Investment income arising from the underlying investments of Pooled 

Investment Vehicles is reinvested within the Pooled Investment Vehicle and reflected in the unit price. 

Derivative contracts are valued at fair value and are determined using exchange prices at the reporting date.  The fair value is 

the unrealised profit or loss at the current bid or offer market quoted price of the contract.  Derivative contract assets, those with 

a positive value, are valued at bid price and derivative contract liabilities, those with a negative value, are valued at the offer 

price.   The amounts included in change in market value are the realised gains and losses on closed futures contracts and the 

unrealised gains and losses on open futures contracts.  The fair value of the forward currency contracts are based on market 

forward exchange rates at the year end date.

Page 108



N4. Investment movements summary

2021/22

Market  Value at     

31
st
 March 2021

Purchases 

during the year 

at cost and 

derivative 

payments

Sales proceeds 

during the year 

and derivative 

receipts

Change in 

market value 

during the year

Market  Value at     

31
st

 March 2022

Asset Class £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Bonds 360,751 775,844 -1,143,493 6,898 -                             

Equities -                                 -                           -                           -                           -                             

Pooled Investments 2,257,529 1,298,998 -934,775 152,079 2,773,831

Pooled Property Funds 202,134 53,600 -48,439 38,843 246,138

Private Equity/Venture Capital 4,856 -                           -1,516 513 3,853

2,825,270 2,128,442 -2,128,223 198,333 3,023,822

Derivative contracts:

   Futures -206 387 -383 202 -                             

   Forward currency contracts 499 -499 -                             

293 387 -383 -297 -                             

Long term investment assets

 Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 112 -41 71

112 -                           -                           -41 71

Net Investment Assets 2,825,675 2,128,829 -2,128,606 197,995 3,023,893

2020/21

Market  Value at     

31
st
 March 2020

Purchases 

during the year 

at cost and 

derivative 

payments

Sales proceeds 

during the year 

and derivative 

receipts

Change in 

market value 

during the year

Market  Value at     

31
st

 March 2021

Asset Class £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Bonds 331,206 63,441 -52,290 18,394 360,751

Equities -                                 -                           -                           -                           -                             

Pooled Investments 1,673,162 507,876 -496,390 572,881 2,257,529

Pooled Property Funds 200,277 8,032 -2,509 -3,666 202,134

Private Equity/Venture Capital 4,491 -                           -57 422 4,856

2,209,136 579,349 -551,246 588,031 2,825,270

Derivative contracts:

   Futures 415 777 -1,857 459 -206

   Forward currency contracts -1,619 -                           -                           2,118 499

-1,204 777 -1,857 2,577 293

Long term investment assets

 Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 427 -                           -                           -315 112

427 -                           -                           -315 112

Net Investment Assets 2,208,359 580,126 -553,103 590,293 2,825,675

The closing market value of the derivatives in the previous tables represents fair value as at the year end date.  In the case of 

derivative contracts, which are traded on exchanges, this value is determined using exchange prices at the reporting date.  

Forward foreign exchange contracts are over the counter contracts and are valued by determining the gain or loss that would 

arise from closing out the contract at the reporting date and entering into an equal and opposite contract as at that date. The 

profit or loss arising is included within the cash and accruals figure.

All derivative contracts settled during the period are reported within the table as purchases and sales.  

In addition to the investments there was £86,950k (£76,815k 2020/21) in cash, cash equivalents and accruals.  Cash 

movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled -£511k (£359k 2020/21).  As a result the total profit 

(-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of investments was -£197.5m (-£590.6m 2020/21). 

In addition to the investments there was £76,815k (£36,204k 2019/20) in cash, cash equivalents and accruals.  Cash 

movements, currency adjustments and other end of year settlements totalled £359k (-£550k 2019/20).  As a result the total profit 

(-) and losses on disposal of investments and changes in market value of investments was -£590.6m (£168.4m 2019/20). 

The change in market value of investments comprises all increases and decreases in the market value of investments held at 

any time during the year, including profits and losses realised on sales of investments during the year.

Page 109



N5. Management of fund assets

£'000 % £'000 %

Investments managed by the Brunel regional asset pool

Legal & General Investment Management 498,512 17.2 443,916 14.3

Brunel Global High Alpha Fund 436,140 15.0 408,878 13.1

Brunel ACS UK Equity Fund 373,224 12.9 405,123 13.0

Brunel Sterling Corporate Bonds Portfolio -                        -                        365,269 11.7

Brunel Global Sustainable Fund 254,269 8.8 362,852 11.7

Brunel Property Fund 208,809 7.2 246,138 7.9

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund 217,761 7.5 233,716 7.5

Brunel Multi Asset Credit Portfolio -                        -                        200,543 6.4

Brunel Emerging Equity Fund 176,328 6.1 179,114 5.8

Brunel Private Equity and Infrastructure Portfolio 29,709 1.0 97,394 3.1

-                        -                        76,181 2.5

Brunel Private Debt Portfolio -                        -                        20,921 0.7

 112 0.0  71 0.0

 2,194,864  75.7 3,040,116 97.7

Investments managed outside of the Brunel regional asset pool

582,266 20.1 -                        -                           

33,360 1.1 23,602 0.8

31,710 1.1 33,228 1.1

3,817 0.1 3,842 0.1

1,039 0.0 11 0.0

652,192 22.4 60,683 2.0

2,847,056 98.1 3,100,799 99.7

55,199 1.9 9,833 0.3

 235 0.0  211 0.0

2,902,490 100.0 3,110,843 100.0

2021/222020/21

Golub Capital Partners International 

Technology Venture Partners 

Arcmont Asset Management Ltd.

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (Shareholding)

Cash, cash instruments and accruals with Brunel

Where the value of an investment exceeds 5% of the total value of net assets, details have been disclosed in note N16. 

Cash instruments with Custodian

In-house cash and accruals

Total - External Managers

Yorkshire Fund Managers Ltd.

Western Asset Management Company Ltd.

The market value of investments managed by each external manager at the end of the financial year was:

Page 110



N6. Actuarial position of the Fund

















Primary Rate (% of pay)

Secondary Rate (£) 2017/18        32,487,000 2020/21      30,652,000 

2018/19        36,638,000 2021/22      26,850,000 

2019/20        40,905,000 2022/23      24,353,000 





2016 2019

Rate of return on investments (Discount Rate) 4.0% pa 4.2% pa

Rate of general pay increases 2.4% pa 2.6% pa

Rate of increase to pensions in payment 2.1% pa 2.3% pa

(in excess of guaranteed minimum pension) 







N7. Analysis of contributions receivable and benefits payable

Contributions Benefits Contributions Benefits

receivable payable receivable payable

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

**60,830 47,185 49,440 47,761

**76,371 35,530 49,768 37,377

***6,598 5,584 4,903 7,098

143,799            88,299         104,111         92,236            

* These numbers relate to active employers with active members

**

*** Contributions Receivable for Admitted Bodies for 2020/21 contained deficit payments of £2.1m in relation to employers

     who left the scheme.

The market value of the Fund's assets at the March 2019 triennial valuation date was £2,379m (£1,703m March 2016) 

and represented 102% (79.7% March 2016) of the Fund's accrued liabilities.

The contribution rate has been calculated using the projected evolution of each employers' assets and benefit payments 

and the main actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

See note N24 for details of the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits.

Funding Basis

During 2020/21 Gloucestershire County Council and four scheduled bodies made the decision to pay lump sum deficit 

contributions of £38.8m to the Fund to benefit from earning greater investment returns in the short term resulting in 

reduced contribution payments owing in future years.

This Valuation

31st March 2019

19.6% 20.9%

The table below summarises the whole fund Primary and Secondary Contribution rates at the 2019 valuation.  The 2016 

valuation results of the Fund are shown for comparison.

The aim is to achieve 100% solvency over a period not exceeding 17 years depending on the type of employer and to 

provide stability in employer contribution rates by spreading any increases in rates over a period of time.  Solvency is 

achieved when the funds held, plus future expected investment returns and future contributions, are sufficient to meet 

expected future pension benefits payable. 

The key elements of the actuarial valuation are:

to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, i.e. that sufficient funds are available to meet all pension liabilities as they 

fall due for payment

Gloucestershire County Council                                                          
[Administering authority]

Scheduled bodies now include 109 (102 20/21) schools who have converted to academy status.

Admitted bodies (39 21/22) (36 20/21)*                                  
[Bodies admitted by agreement]

Last Valuation

31st March 2016

The full actuarial valuation reports for 2013, 2016 and 2019 are published on the Pension pages of the County Council's 

website 

Scheduled bodies (177 21/22) (167 20/21)*                               
[Bodies admitted by right]

to ensure that employer contribution rates are as stable as possible

to minimise the long-term cost of the scheme by recognising the link between assets and liabilities and adopting an 

investment strategy that balances risk and return

to reflect the different characteristics of employing bodies in determining contribution rates where it is reasonable to do 

so

to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to the council tax payer from an 

employer defaulting on its pension obligations

In line with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, actuarial valuations of the Fund are required to be 

undertaken every three years for the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period.  

The latest valuation took place as at 31st March 2019 and established the minimum contribution payments for the three 

years until 31st March 2023.  Work on the 2022 valuation has commenced with results being issued towards the end of 

2022.

2021/22

The estimate of the pension fund liability is subject to significant variations, based on changes to the underlying 

assumptions used - please see table above.

2020/21

Individual employers' rates will vary depending on the demographic and actuarial factors particular to each employer.  

Full details of the contribution rates payable can be found in the 2019 actuarial valuation report and the Funding Strategy 

Statement on the Fund's website.  The Actuary has made an assessment of the contributions that should be paid into the 

Fund by participating employers for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023 in order to maintain the solvency of the 

Fund.

Page 111



N8. Investment Strategy Statement 

N9. Related party transactions

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Administrative expenses 2,144 2,299

Member

Cllr. M. Babbage

Cllr. D. Brown

Cllr. D. Gray

Transactions between employers and the Fund are disclosed in note N7.   

The Deputy Chief Executive & Executive Director and Director are members of the Fund as contributing 

Gloucestershire County Council employees.  This does not impact on their role as Finance Director and S151 

officer, which is clearly defined.

Each member of the Pension Committee is required to declare their interests at each meeting.

Mr. P. Clark, the Scheme Member Representative, is a non-voting member of the Pension Committee.  Mr. 

Clark is a contributing member of the Pension Fund  and this does not impact on his Pension Committee role.

Three members of the Pension Committee were also District Council members as at 31st March 2022 and 

these are detailed below:

Part of the Pension Fund's cash holdings are invested on the money markets by the Treasury Management 

team of Gloucestershire County Council, see notes N2, N21 and N25.

Cllr L. Stowe represents the Gloucestershire Pension Fund on the Brunel Oversight Board and is corporate 

shareholder representative for Gloucestershire County Council for UBICO Limited which is an employer in the 

Fund.  

District Council

Cheltenham Borough Council

The Pension Board was created on the 1st April 2015.  Four members of the Board are members of the Fund 

as contributing employees.  This does not impact on their roles as members of the Pension Board given the 

nature of the Board's functions.

Gloucester City Council

Of the County Council's key management personnel, some of the Deputy Chief Executive & Executive 

Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Finance remuneration costs were charged to the Fund to 

reflect time spent supporting the Fund.  These consisted of salary, fees and allowances of £12,781 (£28,528 

2020/21) and employers' pension contributions of £2,594 (£8,815 2020/21). The decrease on the year reflects 

the reduction in time spent by the Director of Finance following the appointment of the new Head of Pensions.

The Pensions Committee is the decision making body for the Fund and Gloucestershire County Council 

nominates 7 voting committee members.  Councillor Gray is also a County Councillor but is the District 

Council's representative on the Pension Committee.

The Fund's Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) as required by the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 can be found on the Fund's website https:// 

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/pensions/investments. It includes a statement on the Fund's approach to pooling 

its investment assets as required under the Regulations.

Tewkesbury Borough Council

Gloucestershire County Council, as Administering Authority for the Fund, incurred the following costs in 

relation to the administration of the Fund and was subsequently reimbursed by the Fund for these expenses.  

The Council is also the single largest employer of members of the Pension Fund.  All monies owing to and 

due from the Fund were paid or accrued for in the year.

Page 112



2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Income -                     -46

Expenditure 909                 836

Debtors - -

Payments in Advance 271 -

N9a Key management personnel

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Short-term benefits 54 92

Post-employment benefits 3 -                   

Other long-term benefits 1                     23                

Termination benefits -                     -                   

Share-based payments -                     -                   

58 115

Each of the ten local authorities, including Gloucestershire County Council own 10% of Brunel. As part of 

Gloucestershire's investment in Brunel the Fund provided regulatory capital.  This is subject to regular review 

by the regulator which could result in additional calls for capital.

Pension Fund transactions with Brunel are as follows:

In 2020/21 the Pension Fund, together with the other nine Funds in Brunel, entered into a Pension Cost 

Recharge Agreement whereby each Fund agreed to reimburse Brunel with its share of regular ongoing 

pension related cashflows via its Annual Operating Charge.  As part of this arrangement the Fund also 

agreed to pay or receive its share of any exit payment or credit should Brunel cease to be a member of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme.  At the end of September 2021 the Fund's share of the possible charge 

was £768k. 

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (Company Number 10429110)

The Head of Pensions position, formerly a 0.5 full time equivalent, was vacant between June and October 

2020 before the new Head of Pensions commenced in November 2020 as one full time equivalent.  

Therefore in relation to the Head of Pensions post the 2020/21 figure in the below table contains two months 

at 0.5 of a full time equivalent and 5 months at one full time equivalent. The costs for 2021/22 includes one 

full time equivalent for the whole year.

In addition to his role as Pension Committee member, Cllr. L. Stowe represents the Fund on the Brunel 

Oversight Board.

The key management personnel of the Fund are the Section 151 Officer and the Head of Pensions.  A 

proportion of the Section 151 Officer's costs have been charged to the Fund to reflect time spent supporting 

the Fund and those costs are included with those of the Head of Pensions in the table below.

Brunel was formed on the 14th October 2016 and oversees the investment of pension fund assets for Avon, 

Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset 

and Wiltshire Funds.  

Page 113



N10. Contingent liabilities and contractual commitments

Investment commitments

Total 

Commitment

Outstanding 

liability 

2020/21

Outstanding 

liability 

2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000

50,000 14,992 12,018

40,000 5,798 5,038

43,000 31,638 23,596

70,000 69,563 58,139

16,000 -                     16,000

43,000 30,664 17,503

130,000 122,865 95,276

20,000 -                     20,000

120,000 120,000 99,104

38,000 -                     38,000

570,000 395,520 384,674

Pension bonds

Contingent liability

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (infrastructure) Cycle 1

Arcmont  Asset Management Ltd. (private debt)

Golub Capital Partners International (private debt)

The Fund has investment commitments with three managers where the investment manager has not yet 

drawn down all monies due.  These commitments relate to investments in private debt, private equity and 

infrastructure and are requested as and when the respective investment manager identifies an investment 

opportunity.  The amounts requested can therefore be irregular in both size and timing.

   

In March 2022 the Fund increased its commitment to Brunel's infrastructure mandate by £20m, private equity 

mandate by £16m and private debt mandate by £38m.  Brunel anticipates that commitments in Cycle 1 and 

Cycle 2 will be fully drawn down by 2026 and Cycle 3 by 2027. 

 

Of the  Golub Capital Partners commitment, 87.5% has been drawn down.  Golub do not anticipate any 

further draw downs but reserve the right to still do so.  The commitment draw down period will end on the 1st 

July 2023 and Golub will return monies as investments mature. 

In relation to the Fund's private debt funds managed by Arcmont 76% of the Fund's total commitment has 

been drawn down and the private debt fund will start returning monies as investments mature rather than 

draw down the entire commitment.  

The following table shows the Fund's total commitment and the remaining liability, following drawdowns, at 

the year end.  

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (private equity) Cycle 3

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (private equity) Cycle 1

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (infrastructure) Cycle 3

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (infrastructure) Cycle 2

In 2020/21 the Pension Fund, together with the nine other Funds in Brunel, entered into a Pension Cost 

Recharge Agreement whereby each Fund agreed to reimburse Brunel with its share of regular ongoing 

pension related cashflows via its Annual Operating Charge.  As part of this arrangement the Fund also 

agreed to pay or receive its share of any exit payment or credit should Brunel cease to be a member of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme.  At the end of September 2021 the Fund's share of the possible charge 

was £768k (2020/21 £657k). 

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (private debt) Cycle 2

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (private equity) Cycle 2

During 2021/22, eleven (eleven 2020/21) admitted body employers in the Pension Fund held insurance bonds 

to guard against the possibility of being unable to meet their pension obligations.  These bonds are drawn in 

favour of the Pension Fund and payment will only be triggered in the event of employer default.  No such 

defaults have occurred in 2021/22 (2020/21 nil).

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. (private debt) Cycle 3

Page 114



N11. Stock lending

These investments continue to be recognised in the Fund's financial statements.  During the period the stock 

is on loan, the voting rights of the loaned stocks pass to the borrower

Brunel also operates a stock lending programme in relation to the underlying assets in two of the Fund's 

pooled funds.  At 31st March 2022 the market value of shares out on loan was £22.2m (2020/21 £17.1m) and 

the value of collateral held £24.3m (2020/21 £18.5m) equal to 109.3% (2020/21 108.2%) of stock out on loan.  

Income of £68k (2020/21 £40k) was reinvested into the pooled funds.

The Pension Funds' custodian is authorised to release directly held stock to third parties under a stock 

lending arrangement, however during the early part of 2021/22 all of the Fund's assets were transferred into 

pooled funds and the stock lending programme ceased.  Stock lending commission of £1k (2020/21 £3k)  

was received by the Fund for the part-year.

Page 115



N12. Financial asset analysis

2020/21 2021/22 Note

Investment Assets £'000 £'000

Bonds

  Public Sector   45,381 -                    

  Corporate   315,370 -                    

360,751 -                    

Pooled investment vehicles

  Equities 1,738,473 1,799,883

  Bonds 208,677 565,811

  Diversified Growth 217,761 233,716

  Private Equity 11,407 37,290

  Infrastructure 16,141 60,104

  Private Debt 65,070 77,027

2,257,529     2,773,831 N10

Other investments

Pooled Property Investments 202,134 246,138

   Venture Capital/Private Equity 4,856 3,853

206,990 249,991

  Derivative Contracts

    Futures 583 -                    

    Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 523 -                    

1,106            -                    N15

Cash (Managers)

  Cash instruments 13,239 35,969

  Cash deposits  2,577 40,019

15,816 75,988

Other investment balances

Debtors

   Outstanding settlement of investment sales  1  51

   Accrued dividend income and tax reclaims due on dividend income 5,799 1,078

5,800 1,129

Long term financial assets

   Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 112 71

112 71

Total Investment Assets 2,848,104 3,101,010

2020/21 2021/22 Note

Investment Liabilities £'000 £'000

Derivative Contracts

   Futures -789 -                    

   Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts -24 -                    

-813 -                    N15

Total Investment Liabilities -813 -                    

Long Term Assets

   Contributions due from employers 308 181

308 181 N22

Current Assets

   Contributions due from employers 4,974 5,256

   Other current assets (debtors) 277 1,382

   Payments in advance 275 5

   Cash balances 50,668 4,495 N21

56,194 11,138 N22

Current Liabilities

   Unpaid benefits -7 -13

   Other liabilities (creditors) -1,296 -1,473

-1,303 -1,486 N23

TOTAL 2,902,490 3,110,843

Page 116



N13. Investment income

Investment income arises from the following investment categories:

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Bonds 11,751 3,440

Pooled investment vehicles  3,608  7,355

Pooled property investments 8,325 7,672

Interest on cash deposits 140 107

Private equity  7 -                   

Other income from stock lending, underwriting and class actions 57 202

23,888 18,776

Withholding tax 43 -                   

23,931 18,776

N14. Separately invested additional voluntary contributions (AVC's)

Value of separately invested additional voluntary contributions 

The Prudential Assurance Company Limited 6,922 not available

Phoenix Life Limited 19 19

6,941 19

Gloucestershire Pension Fund provides additional voluntary contribution (AVC) schemes for its members with The 

Prudential Assurance Company Limited and Phoenix Life Limited. The AVC's are invested separately in funds 

managed by them.  These are in the form of with-profits, unit-linked and deposit accounts and secure additional 

benefits on a money purchase basis for those members electing to pay additional voluntary contributions.  Members 

participating in this arrangement receive an annual statement confirming amounts held to their account and 

movements in the year. These amounts are not included in the Pension Fund Accounts in accordance with 

Regulation 4 (1) (b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016 (as amended). 

Contributions paid by members in the Prudential scheme during 2021/22 totalled not available (2020/21 £610,385).

31st March 2021

£'000 £'000

31st March 2022

Page 117



N15. Derivatives

Derivative Contract Analysis

Contract 

type*

 2020/21 

Economic 

Exposure 

 2021/22 

Economic 

Exposure 

Expiration 2020/21 

Market 

Value

2021/22 

Market 

Value

INVESTMENT ASSETS £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Futures

    US 10yr Note Future ET -16,608 -                  Less than 3 

months

 478 -                  

  US Ultra Bond Future ET -1,839 -                  Less than 3 

months

 105 -                  

Overseas Futures 18,447------ -                   583 -                  

Total Futures -18,447 -                  583 -                  

Forward foreign exchange 

contracts

OTC 36,753 -                  Less than 6 

months

523 -                  

Total Derivative Assets 18,306 -                  1,106 -                  

INVESTMENT LIABILITIES

Futures

  UK - Fixed Interest

  UK Long Gilt Future ET  4,976 -                  Less than 3 

months

52------------ -                  

UK Futures  4,976 -                  52------------ -                  

  Overseas - Fixed Interest

    German Euro-Bund Future ET 7,733-------- -                  Less than 3 

months

24------------ -                  

  US 5yr Note Future ET  47,671 -                  Less than 3 

months

654---------- -                  

  US Treasury Long Bond 

Future

ET  1,120 -                  Less than 3 

months

59------------ -                  

Overseas Futures 41,058 -                  -737 -                  

Total Futures 46,034 -                  -789 -                  

Forward foreign exchange 

contracts

OTC 5,804 -                  Less than 6 

months

-24 -                  

Total Derivative Liabilities 51,838 -                  -813 -                  

Net Futures 293 -                  

* Contract types ET (exchange traded) OTC (over the counter)

Open forward Currency Contracts  Asset 

Value 

£'000 

 Liability 

Value 

£'000 

Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2022 -                  -                  

Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2022 -                  

Prior year comparative

Open forward currency contracts at 31st March 2021 523 -24

Net forward currency contracts at 31st March 2021 499

A derivative is a generic term for financial instruments used in the management of portfolios and is a financial 

contract between two parties, the value of which is determined by the underlying asset.  Derivatives include futures, 

forwards, swaps and options.

The table below reflects the outstanding contracts at 31st March 2021 which were subsequently closed in early 

2021/22.

In May 2021 the directly invested fixed income manager, who was employing the use of derivatives to reduce 

currency risk and duration risk, the risk associated with the sensitivity of a bond's price to a one percent change in 

interest rates, was terminated and all derivative positions closed.  Pooled funds investing in Sterling Corporate 

Bonds and Multi-asset Credit were purchased in their place.  Managers of these pooled funds are allowed the 

modest use of derivatives primarily for currency and interest rate hedging purposes.  Due to the nature of pooled 

funds where units are purchased in the fund itself rather than the underlying assets, details of derivative contracts 

are at fund level and not disclosed.   

Page 118



£'000 % £'000 % 

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity Fund 436,140 15.0 408,878 13.1

Brunel UK Equity Fund 373,224 12.9 405,122 13.0

Royal London Pooled Pension Company - Brunel Sterling 

Corporate Bond Fund
-                     -                  365,269  11.7

Brunel Global Sustainable Fund  254,269  8.8  362,852  11.7

Legal & General FTSE Paris Aligned Developed Equities 

Index Fund
-                     -                 307,747 9.9

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund  217,761  7.5  233,716  7.5

Brunel Emerging Markets Equity Fund 176,328 6.1 179,114 5.8

Legal & General Developed World Equity Hedged Currency 

Index Fund
167,613 5.8 * *

Legal & General SSciBeta Multi Factor Developed Equity 

Index Fund
263,530 9.1 -                      -                 

Legg Mason Global Funds - WA GMS 201,044 6.9 -                      -                 

2,089,909 72.1 2,262,698 72.7

*

The Brunel Funds are Unit Trusts.

The Legal & General Funds are passively managed Unitised Insurance Policies.

The Royal London Pooled Pension Company Fund is an Unitised Insurance Policy investing in sterling corporate bonds.

The Legg Mason Global Fund is an O.E.I.C. investing in overseas fixed interest.

N16. Investments exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets

At 31
st
 March 2022 the Pension Fund held seven (2020/21, eight) investments that each exceeded 5% of the total 

value of the net assets of the scheme.  These seven investments totalled £2,262,698k out of a total market value for 

the Fund of £3,110,843k.  These are detailed as follows:

2020/21 2021/22

Investments exceeding 5% of Total Net Assets

The Fund continues to hold the Legal & General Developed World Equity Fund, however it's value has dropped below 5% of 

Total Net Assets standing at £136,169,000 (4.4 %).

Page 119



N17. Agency services

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Discretionary Payments              1,109             1,091 

N18. Contributions breakdown 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

From Employers:

    Normal contributions 62,440 67,026

    Augmentation contributions -                      -                      

    Deficit recovery contributions 57,267 15,063

    Section 75 debt (cessation of employer) 2,066 -9

    Other 1,916 912

123,689 82,992

From Members:

    Normal contributions 19,937 20,923

    Additional voluntary contributions 173 196

20,110 21,119

Employers who leave the scheme may need to pay outstanding deficit payments and this is included under 

Section 75 debt.  

A revision to the Regulations in May 2018 and a further, more recent revision permits, at the discretion of the 

Pension Fund,  the payment of an exit credit to an employer.  Exit credit payments are also included within 

Section 75 debt.

The Pension Fund pays discretionary pension awards to former employees on behalf of some Pension Fund 

employers.  The amounts paid are not included within the Fund Account but are provided as a service and fully 

reclaimed from the employer bodies.  The sums are disclosed below.

The Fund's actuary undertakes a funding valuation every three years for the purpose of setting employer 

contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period.  The primary contribution rate, the rate which all employers 

in the Fund will pay was set at 20.9%, in addition most employers will also pay a secondary contribution rate 

depending on their own particular circumstances.  Full details of the contribution rates payable can be found in 

the 2019 Actuarial Valuation Report and the Pension Fund's Annual Report.

The employers' monthly contributions are expressed as a percentage of pensionable pay.  Deficit recovery 

payments are either based on a percentage of pensionable pay or paid as a lump sum.  Both monthly 

contributions and deficit funding payments have been identified above.  The deficit recovery contributions relate 

to past service benefit accrual and are payable over an agreed recovery period, not exceeding 17 years.  

Other contributions are those contributions paid by an employer to compensate the Pension Fund for early 

retirement or the recovery of ill health retirement costs. 

During 2020/21 Gloucestershire County Council and four scheduled bodies made the decision to pay lump sum 

deficit contributions of £38.8m to the Fund to benefit from earning greater investment returns in the short term 

resulting in reduced contribution payments owing in future years.

In addition Gloucestershire County Council also paid a higher percentage contribution rate in 2020/21 equivalent 

to £2.8m to benefit from earning greater investment returns.

Page 120



N19. Custody of investments

N20. Management expenses

Management expenses 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Investment management expenses * 10,146           16,306       

Administration expenses 1,556            1,553         

Oversight & governance 500               671            

12,202           18,530       

Investment management expenses

2021/22

Management Fees Performance 

fees

Transaction 

Costs

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Bonds                                                                                           74 -                      -                      74

Pooled Investment Vehicles                                                     9,331  1,160 3,243 13,734

Pooled Property Investments                                                   1,038  165  245 1,448

Derivative Contracts                                                                    - -                      7 7

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd.                                                 969 -                      -                      969

11,412  1,325 3,495 16,232

Custody Fees 71

Tax and Legal Costs 3

16,306

Pension Fund expenses have been accounted for in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for Local 

Government Pension Scheme Management Costs .   

These payments follow the principles outlined in the Funding Strategy Statement.  Early retirement costs are 

usually paid in one lump sum or were historically paid over several years dependent on the status of the 

employer.  When a payment is spread there is an extra cost to reflect the delay in total payment.  There are 

currently no early retirement costs being spread.  At 31
st
 March 2022, £34k (2020/21 £0) was due to the Pension 

Fund for early retirements and has been accrued. 

The majority of employers are covered by an ill health insurance policy and claims are made as they arise.  

Excess ill health retirement costs, not covered by the insurance policy, are invoiced for where necessary.  At 

31st March 2022, £50k (2020/21 £454k) was due to the Pension fund for ill health retirement costs and has been 

accrued. 

The accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022 use the valuations for the Fund's assets provided by our 

custodian, State Street Bank & Trust Company. This reflects the position of the custodian who is ultimately the 

master book of record. Custodian records are regularly reconciled with the Fund Managers' records. Using the 

custodian’s valuations ensures that the various portfolios are priced consistently, so that the same stocks, in 

different portfolios, are valued on the same basis. Investments held in custody by State Street Bank & Trust 

Company on behalf of the Pension Fund, are ring-fenced from the assets of the Bank and segregated within its 

books as belonging to Gloucestershire County Council's Pension Fund.

It had been agreed previously that an employer who left the Fund in 2008/09 could spread the payment of their 

deficit over a number of years.  The total amount was credited to the Pension Fund and an accrual made for the 

outstanding amount. The accrual is rolled forward each year and adjusted for deficit payments made.  

* Please see a more detailed breakdown of the investment management expenses below.

Page 121



Investment management expenses

2020/21

Management Fees Performance 

fees

Transaction 

Costs

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Bonds                                                                                         573 -                      -                      573

Pooled Investment Vehicles                                                     6,699 -                      554 7,253

Pooled Property Investments                                                   1,040 -                      -                      1,040

Derivative Contracts                                                                    - -                      142 142

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd.                                               1,049 -                      -                      1,049

9,361 -                      696 10,057

Custody Fees 89

10,146

Transaction and transition costs

When an asset is purchased or sold a cost is incurred for broker commission and stamp duty, when appropriate, 

based on a small percentage of the value of assets being transacted.  When an asset is directly held these costs 

are easily identified, when a pooled fund is held these indirect costs are less transparent as details of the 

underlying investments and transactions are not generally disclosed. 

 

For the first time the Fund has included indirect transaction costs within the accounts to show a complete 

reflection of the costs.  These costs have been identified from cost transparency templates provided by the 

investment managers as part of the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board Code of Transparency and Compliance 

initiative and accounts for the majority of the increase in transaction costs of £3,495k including transition costs of 

£1,231k compared to £696k (of which transition costs were £492k) in 2020/21.  As recommended by CIPFA 

transactions costs have been added to Investment Management Expenses with a corresponding offset against 

Profit on Disposal of Investments. 

Investment management expenses are generally set on a fixed fee basis, calculated using the market value of 

each portfolio. The cost of investment management expenses varies with the value of assets under 

management. 

The increase on investment management expenses during the period of £6.2 million arose as a result of four key 

factors:

•  Two of the Private Debt funds starting to return profits from which fees were deducted which also included a 

performance fee of £1.2m.

• The change in the Strategic Asset Allocation of the Fund and the final transitions to the Investment Pool and 

resultant transition costs.

• An increase in the amount invested in private equity and infrastructure which attract a higher fee structure.

• An increase in reported transaction costs. 

Change in Strategic Asset Allocation 

In accordance with the agreed strategic asset allocation, the existing fixed interest holdings were sold and the 

proceeds invested in a Sterling Corporate Bond Fund and Multi Asset Credit Fund managed by Brunel. This 

move resulted in transition costs of £1,231k (transition costs £492k in 2020/21) and £132k in investment 

management costs.  In addition the Fund sold its Low Carbon and Smart Beta pooled funds and invested in a 

Paris Aligned pooled fund to increase investments in climate solutions in line with the Paris goals, this resulted in 

transaction costs of £273k.  These changes, which were supported by the Independent Investment advisor to 

the Fund, are designed to improve investment returns, and increase diversification and reduce investment risks 

to the Fund.

Administration Expenses remained broadly even with a reduction in staff costs offset by an increase in IT and 

legal costs.  Whilst the increase in Oversight & Governance was mainly due to increased actuarial fees in 

readiness for the triennial valuation and professional fees incurred in improving the Fund's corporate governance 

structure.

Administration expenses and Oversight & Governance expenses

Page 122



N21. Cash

N22. Current & long term assets

2020/21 2021/22

Current assets £'000 £'000

Contributions due - Employees 925 1,100

Contributions due - Employers 4,049 4,156

Sundry debtors 277 1,382

Payment in advance 275 5

5,526 6,643

Cash balances 50,668 4,495

56,194 11,138

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Long term assets

Long term debtors 308 181

N23. Current liabilities

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Benefits payable -7 -13

Sundry creditors -1,296 -1,473

-1,303 -1,486

It had been agreed that an employer who left the Fund could spread the payment of their deficit over a number of 

years.  The total amount was credited to the Pension Fund and an accrual made for the outstanding amount.  

The accrual is rolled forward each year and adjusted for deficit payments made.  A payment of £127,200 is due 

to the Pension Fund within the next twelve months and is included in Current Assets - Sundry Debtors. 

From the 1
st
 April 2010 the Pension Fund has had its own bank account.  At 31

st
 March 2022 cash of £4.5m 

(£50.7m in 2020/21) was invested through the County Council's short-term investment procedures. During the 

year the average investment balance was £27.76m (£55.4m 2020/21) earning interest of £7k (£54.5k 2020/21).

Audit fees of £45,206 (£22,575 in 2020/21) were incurred in relation to Grant Thornton UK LLP, the auditors 

appointed by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd. (PSAA) for external audit services. 

Of the £45,206, £6,001 was in relation to additional fees for 2019/20 less a refund of £3,620 for 2020/21 as 

agreed by the PSAA and £21,500 for additional IAS19 assurance work.  The Fund recharged £8,500 to 

employers on whose behalf the IAS19 assurance work was undertaken in 2021/22.  This recharge is included 

within Recoveries for Services Provided on the Fund Account.  A further £4,000 will be recharged in 2022/23.

Audit fees

In addition to the recharged actuarial expenses, recoveries for services provided includes £27,977 (£5,959 

20/21) for pension and fee reimbursements.

Within Oversight and Governance costs there were actuarial expenses of £61,330 (£87,680 2020/21) generated 

by specific employer requirements, these were recharged back to the employer.  The corresponding income is 

included within Recoveries for Services Provided in the Fund Account.  

Page 123



N24. Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits:

31
st

 March 2022

£m

Active members                   1,900 

Deferred members                      922 

Pensioners                   1,184 

Total                   4,006 

Assumptions

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used

Financial assumptions:

31
st

 March 2022

% pa

Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 2.85 3.20

Salary Increase Rate 3.15 3.50

Discount Rate 2.00 2.70

Demographic assumptions:

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2022 Males Females

Current Pensioners 21.7 24.1

Future Pensioners ** 22.6 25.8

Longevity assumptions as at 31st March 2021 Males Females

Current Pensioners 21.9 24.3

Future Pensioners ** 22.9 26.0

                      1,277 

Year Ended

Year Ended 31
st
 March 2021

Years

Years

It should be noted that the above figures are appropriate only for the preparation of the Fund's accounts.  They 

should not be used for any other purpose (i.e. comparing against liability measures on a funding basis or a 

cessation basis).

In addition to the triennial funding valuation (See Note N6), the Fund's Actuary also undertakes a valuation of 

the Pension Fund liabilities on an IAS19 basis every year.  The promised retirement benefits at 31st March 

2022 have been projected using a roll forward approximation from the latest formal funding valuation as at 31st 

March 2019.   The approximation involved in the roll forward model means that the split of benefits between the 

three classes of member may not be reliable.  However the Actuary is satisfied that the total figure is a 

reasonable estimate of the actuarial present value of benefit promises.  

% pa

Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves with improvements in line with the CMI 2021 model, with a 

0% weighting of 2021 (and 2020) data, standard smoothing (Sk7), initial adjustment of 0.25% and a long term 

rate of improvement of 1.50% p.a. Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 

are summarised below.

£m

31st March 2021

The assumptions used are those adopted for the Administering Authority's IAS19 report and are different as at 

31st March 2022 and 31st March 2021.  It is estimated that the impact of the change in financial assumptions 

to 31st March 2022 is to decrease the actuarial present value by £309m (20/21 increase of £837m).  It is 

estimated that the impact of the change in demographic assumptions is to decrease the actuarial present value 

by £20m (20/21 increase by £49m).

                      4,148 

                      1,881 

                         990 

Page 124



Sensitivity Analysis 

Change in assumption at 31st March 2022

Approximate % 

increase to 

promised 

retirement 

benefits

Approximate 

monetary 

amount 

% £m

0.1% p.a. decrease in the Discount Rate 2 79

0.1% p.a. increase in the Salary Increase Rate 0 7

0.1% p.a. increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 2 72

1 year increase in member life expectancy 4 160

Change in assumption at 31st March 2021 *

Approximate % 

increase to 

promised 

retirement 

benefits

Approximate 

monetary 

amount 

% £m

0.5% p.a. decrease in the Discount Rate 10 424

0.5% p.a. increase in the Salary Increase Rate 1 37

0.5% p.a. increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI) 9 379

1 year increase in member life expectancy 3-5 n/a

* The percentage movements used in the Sensitivity Analysis for 31st March 2022 have changed from 0.5% to 

0.1% so a direct comparison is not possible.  

** Future pensioners are assumed to be aged 45 at the latest formal valuation as at 31st March 2019.

CIPFA guidance requires the disclosure of the sensitivity of the results to the methods and assumptions used.  

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the obligations are set out below:

Please note that the longevity assumptions have changed since the previous IAS26 disclosure for the Fund.

Page 125



N25. Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments

Market Risk

Other Price Risk

In general, excessive volatility in market risk is managed through the diversification of the portfolio in terms of 

geographical, industry sectors, individual securities, investment mandate guidelines and Investment Managers.  The risk 

arising from exposure to specific markets is limited by the strategic asset allocation, which is regularly monitored by the 

Committee as well as appropriate monitoring of market conditions and benchmark analysis.

Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 

prices, caused by factors other than interest rate or foreign currency movements, whether those changes are caused by 

factors specific to the individual instrument, its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the market.

Market price risk arises from uncertainty about the future value of the financial instruments that the Fund holds.  All 

securities investments present a risk of loss of capital.  Except for shares sold short, the maximum risk resulting from 

financial instruments is determined by the fair value of the financial instruments. Possible losses from shares sold short 

are unlimited. The Investment Managers mitigate this price risk through diversification in line with their own investment 

strategies and mandate guidelines. 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund's (“The Fund”) objective is to generate positive investment returns for a given level of 

risk.  Therefore the Fund holds financial instruments such as collective investment schemes (or pooled funds), cash and 

cash equivalents and debtors and creditors (which arise as a result of its operations).  The value of all these financial 

instruments in the financial statements approximates to their fair value.

The Fund's primary long-term risk is that the Fund's assets will fall short of its liabilities i.e. promised benefits payable to 

members. Therefore the aim of investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction on the value of 

the Fund and to maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole fund portfolio.  The Fund achieves this through asset 

diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit risk to an 

acceptable level.  In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund's 

forecast cash flows.

The Fund's investments are held by State Street Bank & Trust Company, who act as custodian on behalf of the Fund. 

Because the Fund adopts a long term investment strategy, the high level risks described below will not alter significantly 

during the year unless there are significant strategic or tactical changes in the portfolio.  

Market risk represents the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices, interest rates or currencies. The Fund is exposed through its investments in equities, bonds and investment funds, 

to all these market risks.  The aim of the investment strategy is to manage and control market risk within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return from the investment portfolio. 

The Fund's investments are managed on behalf of the Fund via Brunel and its appointed Investment Managers.  In 

addition the Fund also has a small number of directly appointed pooled funds.  Each Investment Manager is required to 

invest the assets managed by them in accordance with the terms of their investment guidelines or pooled fund prospectus.  

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund Committee ("Committee") has determined that the investment management structure is 

appropriate and is in accordance with its investment strategy.  The Committee regularly monitors each investment 

mandate and considers and takes advice on the nature of the investments made and associated risks.

Page 126



Other Price Risk - Sensitivity Analysis

As at 31st March 2022 Value Volatility of 

return

Value on 

Increase

Value on 

Decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

UK Bonds 365,269 8.10 394,856 335,682

Overseas Bonds 200,543 8.10 216,787 184,299

UK Equities 405,122 19.90 485,742 324,503

Multi National Equities 1,628,477 18.50 1,929,745 1,327,208

UK Property 220,656 15.00 253,754 187,557

Overseas Property               25,483 15.00 29,306 21,660

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 101,247 31.20 132,836 69,658

Private Debt 77,027 9.00 83,959 70,095

3,023,824         3,526,985        2,520,662 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 3,023,824 13.00% 3,416,921 2,630,727

As at 31st March 2021 Value Volatility of 

return

Value on 

Increase

Value on 

Decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

UK Bonds 333,654 8.00 360,346 306,962

Overseas Bonds 235,774 8.00 254,636 216,912

UK Equities 373,224 16.70 435,552 310,896

Multi National Equities 1,583,011 16.60 1,845,791 1,320,231

UK Property 188,361 14.20 215,108 161,614

Overseas Property               13,773 14.20 15,729 11,817

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 32,404 28.50 41,639 23,169

Private Debt 65,070 4.60 68,063 62,077

2,825,271         3,236,864        2,413,678 

Total Gloucestershire Fund 2,825,271 10.50% 3,121,924 2,528,618

Interest Rate Risk

The sensitivity of the Fund's investments to changes in market prices has been analysed using the volatility of return 

experienced by each investment portfolio during the year to 31
st
 March 2022. The volatility data is broadly consistent with a 

one-standard deviation movement in the value of the assets.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain 

constant.  

Movements in market prices would have increased or decreased the assets, as held by the Fund's custodian, at 31
st 

March 2022 by the amounts shown below:

The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on investments.  These investments are 

subject to interest rate risk, which represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. This risk will affect the value of both fixed interest and index linked 

securities. The amount of income receivable from cash balances will also be affected by fluctuations in interest rates.

The above table does not include investment manager cash, cash instruments and debtors or the Brunel Pension 

Partnership shareholding, long term and current assets and current liabilities of £87,019k as these are not subject to price 

risk. 

The above table does not include investment manager cash, cash instruments and debtors or the Brunel Pension 

Partnership shareholding, derivative contracts, long term and current assets and current liabilities of £77,219k as these 

are not subject to price risk. 

Page 127



Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis

Assets exposed to interest rate risk

Carrying 

amount as at 

31st March 

2022

+100BPS

(1% increase)

-100BPS

(1% decrease)

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash held directly by the Fund 4,495                -                        -                      

Cash and cash equivalents held on behalf of the 

Fund
82,305              -                        -                      

Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest Securities excluding 

cash

559,244            -32,040 32,040             

646,044            -32,040 32,040             

Assets exposed to interest rate risk

Carrying 

amount as at 

31st March 

2021

+100BPS

(1% increase)

-100BPS

(1% decrease)

£'000 £'000 £'000

Cash held directly by the Fund 50,668              -                        -                      

Cash and cash equivalents held on behalf of the 

Fund
15,816              -                        -                      

Bond Portfolio - Fixed Interest Securities excluding 

cash

551,606            -32,568 32,568             

618,090            -32,568 32,568             

Foreign Currency Risk

Changes in interest rates do not impact on the value of cash and cash equivalents but they will affect the interest income 

received on those balances.

Change in the year in the net 

assets available to pay benefits

In the above table, cash of £6,567k held in the Bond Portfolio pooled fund has been included with Cash and cash 

equivalents held on behalf of the Fund and deducted from the value of the Bond Portfolio. 

The analysis that follows assumes that all other variables, in particular, exchange rates, remain constant and shows the 

effect in the year on the values of a +/- 100bps (1%) change in interest rates on a time-weighted basis.

Foreign currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on both monetary and non-monetary 

investments denominated in a currency other than Sterling. For a Sterling based investor, when Sterling weakens, the 

Sterling value of foreign currency denominated investments rises. As Sterling strengthens, the Sterling value of foreign 

currency denominated investment falls.  The Fund's allocation to passive global developed world equities is held in a 

currency hedged share class, thereby providing the Fund with a certain level of currency exposure protection. 

Change in the year in the net 

assets available to pay benefits

The Council recognises that interest rates can vary and can affect both income to the Fund and the value of the net assets 

available to pay benefits.  In the UK, the benchmark 10-year gilt yield rose from 0.97% to 1.61% in the March 2022 

quarter, a rise of 64bps. There was a respite in the upwards trend following the Russian invasion of Ukraine, but concern 

about inflation and more hawkish central bank rhetoric meant that the fall in yields proved to be temporary. The same 

pattern was visible in the US and Germany, where yields rose throughout the period but temporarily dipped around the 

onset of war in Ukraine: the benchmark treasury yield rose from 1.51% to 2.34% in the March 2022 quarter, while the 10-

year bund yield rose from -0.14% to 0.55%.  Given the high degree of uncertainty over the future economic situation, the 

Fund's bond manager has advised that it is entirely possible that yields could fluctuate anywhere within this historic range 

in the next year, or in extreme circumstances outside these boundaries.

The Funds exposure to interest rate movements, as a result of its investments in fixed interest pooled funds, as at the 31st 

March 2022 is set out below along with the interest rate sensitivity analysis data.  Information supplied for 2020/21 relates 

to the Fund's directly held bond investments.

Page 128



Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

A 7% strengthening/weakening of the Pound against the various countries in which the Fund holds

investments would increase/decrease the net assets available to pay benefits as follows:

2021/22 Currency exposure - Asset type Asset value            

as at                 

31st March 

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000

+7% -7%

UK Equities* 1,470                1,573                 1,367               

Global  Equities 1,194,914 1,278,558 1,111,270

Global Bonds 34,221              36,616               31,826             

Overseas Private Debt 33,235 35,561 30,909

Venture Capital /Private Equity/ Infrastructure 43,284              46,314               40,254             

Diversified Growth 16,754 17,927               15,581             

Cash/Cash equivalents 14 15                      13                   

1,323,892         1,416,564          1,231,220        

2020/21 Currency exposure - Asset type Asset value            

as at                 

31st March 

2021

£'000 £'000 £'000

+6.9% -6.9%

UK Equities -                   -                    -                  

Global  Equities 1,140,344 1,219,028 1,061,660

Emerging Market Equities -                   -                    -                  

Overseas Private Debt 32,611 34,861 30,361

Venture Capital /Private Equity/ Infrastructure -                   -                    -                  

Diversified Growth 10,651 11,386               9,916               

Cash/Cash equivalents 739 790                    688                 

1,184,345         1,266,065          1,102,625        

Credit Risk

The Fund believes it has managed its exposure to credit risk within an acceptable level and its default experience over the 

last five financial years is not significantly out of line with the industry.  

Change to net assets available 

to pay benefits

Bankruptcy or insolvency of the custodian may affect the Fund's access to its assets.  However, all assets held by the 

custodian are ring-fenced as "client assets" and therefore cannot be claimed by creditors of the custodian.  Brunel, on 

behalf of the Fund, manages the risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the custodian.

Change to net assets available 

to pay benefits

* Amount of overseas currency within the Brunel UK Equity Pooled Fund

Credit risk on over the counter derivative contracts is minimised as counterparties are recognised financial intermediaries 

with acceptable credit ratings determined by a recognised rating agency.

The Fund's bond pooled funds have significant credit risk through their underlying investments.  This risk is managed 

through diversification across sovereign and corporate entities, credit quality and maturity of bonds. The market prices of 

bonds incorporate an assessment of credit quality in their valuation which reflects the probability of default (the yield of a 

bond will include a premium that will compensate for the risk of default). 

Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or financial instrument will fail to discharge an 

obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss.  This is often referred to as counterparty risk.  

In essence the Fund's entire investment portfolio is exposed to some form of credit risk, with exception of the derivatives 

positions, where the risk equates to the net market value of a positive derivative position.  However, the careful selection 

and monitoring of counterparties including brokers, custodian and investment managers minimises any credit risk that may 

occur through the failure to settle transactions in a timely manner.  The Fund's contractual exposure to credit risk is 

represented by the net payment or receipt that remains outstanding, and the cost of replacing the derivative position in the 

event of a counterparty default.  The residual risk is minimal due to the various insurance policies held by the exchanges 

to cover defaulting counterparties.

Following analysis of historical data, by the Fund's performance measurement service, the likely volatility associated with 

foreign exchange rate movements is considered to be 7% (as measured by one standard deviation).   

Page 129



Credit Analysis

31
st

 March 2022 AAA AA+

to AA-

A+ 

to A-

BBB+ 

to BBB-

BB+ 

to BB-

B+ 

to B-

CCC+

to C-

Unrated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

19,511 20,231 79,446  203,133 15,047 9,359   -           13,247   

2,451    159      3,607 18,472 36,048 90,031 40,831 7,672     
21,962 20,390 83,053 221,605 51,095   99,390  40,831 20,919

3.9 3.6 14.9 39.6 9.1 17.8 7.3 3.7

31
st

 March 2021 AAA AA A BBB BB B Unrated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

-            35,621 -            -             -           -           -           

9,224 -           -            -             -           -           -           

-            15,468 149,081 110,538 7,130   4,109   1,160   

1,098    5,483 4,966    19,044   2,296   -           -           

-            -           3,796    824        1,023   30        -           

-            1,908   -            -             -           -           -           

            2 1          -            -             -           -           8,527

10,324 58,481 157,843 130,406 10,449     4,139 9,687
 

2.7 15.3 41.4 34.2 2.7 1.1 2.6

Global Bonds

Another source of credit risk is the cash balances held to meet operational requirements or by the managers at their 

discretion.  Internally held cash is managed on the Fund's behalf by the Council's Treasury Management Team in line with the 

Fund's Treasury Management Policy which sets out the permitted counterparties and limits.  The Fund invests surplus cash 

held with the custodian in diversified money market funds.

Through its securities lending activities, the Fund is exposed to the counterparty risk of the collateral provided by borrowers 

against the securities lent.  This risk is managed by restricting the collateral permitted.

Foreign exchange contracts are subject to credit risk in relation to the counterparties of the contracts which are primarily 

banks.  The maximum credit exposure on foreign currency contracts is any net profit on forward contracts, should the 

counterparty fail to meet its obligations to the Fund when it falls due.

The credit risk within the bond pooled funds can be analysed using standard industry credit ratings and the analysis as at 31
st 

March 2022 is set out below.   Information supplied for 2020/21 relates to the Fund's directly held bond investments and has 

been categorised slightly differently.

UK Gilts

Overseas Govt Bonds

% of Fixed Interest Portfolio

% of Fixed Interest Pooled 

Funds

Corporate Bonds

Cash of £6,567k held in the Bond Portfolio pooled fund has not been included in the credit analysis table above. 

Asset backed

Emerging Markets

Mortgage Backed Securities

UK Corporate Bonds

Cash/Cash 

Equivalents/Currency 

Forwards/Derivatives

Page 130



Treasury Management Year End Cash Balances

Account Name Rating* £’000 Rating* £’000

Aberdeen Standard Liquidity Fund AAAm 10,000 AAAm 2,636

Federated Short Term Sterling Prime Fund AAAm 10,000 AAAm 1,274

Goldman Sachs AAAm 9,483 AAAm -           

HSBC Instant Access A-1 21,210 A-1 -           

Lloyds Instant Access -             A-1 545

HSBC Current Account A-1 -25 A-1 20

Lloyds Current Account -             A-1+ 20

Total 50,668   4,495

Liquidity Risk

Refinancing risk

Refinancing risk relates to the Fund being required to replenish a significant proportion of its financial instruments at a time of 

unfavourable interest rates.  Refinancing risk within the Pooled Bond Funds is mitigated through credit and liquidity analysis of 

all investments and diversification by issuer and maturity. The Brunel property portfolio managed on behalf of the Pension 

Fund is not leveraged or subject to refinancing risk.  However, the underlying investments within this portfolio are leveraged 

and so may be subject to refinancing risk.  This risk is mitigated by covenants written into the Fund documentation.  There are 

no other financial instruments that have refinancing risk as part of its treasury management and investment strategies.

The management of Pension Fund cash balances not held by the Custodian is delegated to Gloucestershire County Council's 

Treasury Management team to manage in accordance with their Treasury Management Strategy, which reflects the CIPFA 

Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services. Pension Fund cash is invested separately from 

Gloucestershire County Council monies.

The Fund's cash holding under its treasury management arrangements at 31st March 2022 is shown below:

Credit risk may also occur if an employing body not supported by central government does not pay contributions promptly, or 

defaults on its obligations.  The Pension Fund has not experienced any actual defaults in recent years and in the past the 

Fund has obtained a guarantee before admitting new employers so that all pension obligations are covered in the event of 

that employer facing financial difficulties. More recently the Fund has also admitted certain employers on a pass-through basis 

where the risks inherent in participating in the LGPS are shared between the new employer and the letting employer who is 

supported by central government.  Contributions due as at 31st March 2022 was £5,256k (2020/21 £4,974k) and as at 26th 

May 2022 £50k remained outstanding.

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Council 

therefore takes steps to ensure that the Pension Fund has adequate cash resources to meet its commitments. A substantial 

portion of the Fund's investments consist of readily realisable securities, in particular equities and fixed income investments, 

even though they are held in pooled funds.  However, the main liability of the Fund are the benefits payable, which fall due 

over a long period and the investment strategy reflects the long term nature of these liabilities.  Therefore the Fund is able to 

manage the liquidity risk that arises from its investments in less liquid asset classes such as property which are subject to 

longer redemption periods and cannot be considered as liquid as the other investments. The Fund maintains a cash balance 

to meet working requirements and has immediate access to its cash holdings.

* Ratings quoted are all Standard and Poors as at 31st March 2022 and 2021

 Balances as at 

31st March 2021 

 Balances as at 

31st March 2022 

Page 131



N26 Fair value hierarchy

Basis of valuation

Description of asset Valuation 

hierarchy

Basis of 

valuation

Observable 

and 

unobservable 

inputs

Key sensitivities 

affecting the 

valuations 

provided

Futures Level 1 Published 

exchange prices at 

the year end

Not required Not required

Quoted Bonds Level 2 Fixed interest 

securities are 

valued at a market 

value based on 

current yields

Source of 

pricing, 

valuation 

methodology 

documentation 

Not required

Forward foreign exchange derivatives Level 2 Market forward 

exchange rates at 

the year-end

Exchange rate 

risks

Not required

Pooled investments Level 2 Closing bid price 

where bid and 

offer prices are 

published

Closing single 

price where single 

price published.

NAV based 

pricing set on a 

forward pricing 

basis and prices 

published 

frequently.  

Not required

Property Pooled investments Level 2 Closing bid price 

where bid and 

offer prices are 

published

Closing single 

price where single 

price published

NAV-based 

pricing set on a 

forward pricing 

basis.  Ease of 

redemption

Not required

Quoted Bonds Level 3 Fixed interest 

securities are 

valued at a market 

value based on 

current yields

Source of 

pricing, 

valuation 

methodology 

documentation, 

trade 

comparison 

review

Low volume of 

trades in trade 

comparison 

review cohort.

Property Pooled investments Level 3 Closing bid price 

where bid and 

offer prices are 

published

Closing single 

price where single 

price published.

NAV-based 

pricing set on a 

forward pricing 

basis.  Ease of 

redemption

Valuations could 

be affected by 

changes in the 

structure of the 

holdings such as 

changing from a 

closed ended 

fund to an open 

ended fund.  

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is set out below.  There has been no change in the valuation techniques 

used during the year.  All assets have been valued using fair value techniques.

Page 132



Description of asset Valuation 

hierarchy

Basis of 

valuation

Observable 

and 

unobservable 

inputs

Key sensitivities 

affecting the 

valuations 

provided

Private equity Level 3 Direct 

investments: 

valuation 

performed in 

accordance with 

International 

Financial 

Reporting 

Standards, 

International 

Private Equity 

Valuation 

guidelines, 

Financial 

Accounting 

Standards Board 

Accounting 

Standard 820 and 

respective United 

States Generally 

Accepted 

Accounting 

Principles

EBITDA 

multiple, 

Revenue 

multiple, 

Discount for lack 

of marketability, 

Control premium

Valuations could 

be affected by 

material events 

occurring 

between the date 

of the financial 

statements 

provided and the 

Pension Fund's 

own reporting 

date, by changes 

to expected cash 

flows, and by any 

differences 

between audited 

and unaudited 

accounts

Private Debt Level 3 Fair value is 

determined by the 

enterprise value of 

a portfolio 

company, the 

nature and 

realisable value of 

any collateral, its 

ability to make 

payments and its 

earnings, 

discounted cash 

flows, market 

environment and 

changes in the 

interest rate 

environment.  The 

fair value of 

Brunel's private 

debt fund is valued 

in accordance with 

International 

Financial 

Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) 

and United States 

Generally 

Accepted 

Accounting 

Principles (US 

GAAP). 

Initial 

recognition cost, 

Principal 

repayments, 

effective interest 

method, 

Impairment 

reductions

Valuations could 

be affected by 

material events 

occurring 

between the date 

of the financial 

statements 

provided and the 

Pension Fund's 

own reporting 

date, by changes 

to expected cash 

flows, and by any 

differences 

between audited 

and unaudited 

accounts

Infrastructure Funds Level 3 Direct 

investments: 

valuation 

performed in 

accordance with 

International 

Private Equity 

Valuation 

guidelines and 

respective United 

States Generally 

Accepted 

Accounting 

Principles

Future free cash 

flows from 

underlying 

investments. 

Cost of capital 

of underlying 

investments

Valuations could 

be affected by 

material events 

occurring after the 

preparation of the 

independent 

reports, and by 

changes to 

expected cash 

flows

Page 133



Fair Value Hierarchy







Values at 31st March 2022

Quoted 

market price

Level 1

Using observable 

inputs

Level 2

With  

significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Bonds -                 -                       -                    -                      

Pooled investment vehicles -                 2,599,410 -                    2,599,410

Pooled property investments -                 221,682 24,456 246,138

Private Equity -                 -                       41,143 41,143

Infrastructure -                 -                       60,104 60,104

Private Debt -                 -                       77,027 77,027

Derivative contracts -                 -                       -                    -                      

Cash instruments held on behalf of the investment 

managers
-                 35,969                 -                    35,969                

Cash deposits 44,514           -                       -                    44,514                

Investment income and tax reclaims due 1,078             1,078                  

Amounts receivable for investment sales 51                  -                       -                    51                       

45,643           2,857,061 202,730 3,105,434

Non-financial assets at fair value through profit and 

loss 
-                 -                       -                    -                      

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss
-                 -                       -                    -                      

Amounts payable for investment purchases -                 -                       -                    -                      

Net Investment Assets 45,643           2,857,061 202,730 3,105,434

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 71

Debtors/Creditors* 5,338
Total Net Investment Assets 45,643 2,857,061 202,730 3,110,843

Values at 31st March 2021

Quoted 

market price

Level 1

Using observable 

inputs

Level 2

With  

significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Bonds -                 357,356 3,395 360,751

Pooled investment vehicles -                 2,164,911 -                    2,164,911

Pooled property investments -                 56,950 145,184 202,134

Private Equity -                 -                       16,262 16,262

Infrastructure -                 -                       16,141 16,141

Private Debt -                 -                       65,071 65,071

Derivative contracts 1,106 -                       -                    1,106.00             

Cash instruments held on behalf of the investment 

managers
-                 13,239                 -                    13,239                

Cash deposits 53,245           -                       -                    53,245                

Investment income and tax reclaims due 5,799             -                       -                    5,799                  

Amounts receivable for investment sales 1                    -                       -                    1                         

60,151 2,592,456 246,053 2,898,660

Non-financial assets at fair value through profit and 

loss 
-                 -                       -                    -                      

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 

loss -813
-                       -                    

-813

Amounts payable for investment purchases -                 -                       -                    -                      

Net Investment Assets 59,338 2,592,456 246,053 2,897,847

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 112

Debtors/Creditors* 4,531
Total Net Investment Assets 59,338 2,592,456 246,053 2,902,490

The Fund is required to classify its investments using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity of the inputs used in making an assessment of 

fair value.  Fair value is the value at which the investments could be realised within a reasonable timeframe.  This hierarchy is not a measure of 

investment risk but a reflection of the ability to value the investments at fair value.  Asset and liability valuations have been classified into three levels, 

according to the quality and reliability of information used to determine fair values.  Transfers between levels are recognised in the year in which they 

occur.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the 

measurement date.  Products classified as Level 1 comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed securities and quoted index linked securities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted market prices under Level 1, for example, when an instrument is traded in a market that is not considered 

to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to determine fair value.

Level 3 – At least one input that could have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation is not based on observable market data.

* Debtors and creditors have been added to this table to reflect the total net assets of the Fund.

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Pension Fund grouped into levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which 

the fair value is observable.

Page 134



Transfers between Levels 1 and 2

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3

2021/22 Assessed 

valuation 

range (+/-)

Value at 31st 

March 2022

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£'000 £'000 £'000

UK Pooled Property Investments 15.0% 14,425 16,589 12,261

Overseas Pooled Property Investments 15.0% 10,031 11,535 8,526

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 31.2% 101,247 132,836 69,658

UK Corporate Bonds 8.1% -                       -                    -                      

UK Private Debt 9.0% 43,799 47,740 39,857

Overseas Private Debt 9.0% 33,228 36,219 30,237

Total 202,730 244,919 160,539

2020/21 Assessed 

valuation 

range (+/-)

Value at 31st 

March 2021

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£'000 £'000 £'000

UK Pooled Property Investments 14.2% 145,184 165,800 124,568

Overseas Pooled Property Investments 14.2% -                       -                    -                      

Venture Capital/Private Equity/Infrastructure 28.5% 32,404 41,639 23,169

UK Corporate Bonds 8.0% 3,395 3,667 3,123

UK Private Debt 4.6% 33,360 34,895 31,825

Overseas Private Debt 4.6% 31,710 33,169 30,251

Total 246,053 279,170 212,936

Having consulted with independent advisors, who model 5,000 possible outcomes of future behavious of each economic variable and 

asset return,  the Fund has determined that the valuation methods described above are likely to be accurate to within the following 

ranges, and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31st March 2022.

There has been no movement between levels 1 & 2

All movements in the assessed valuation range of the above investments derive from changes in the underlying profitability of 

component companies, the range of the potential movement quoted is caused by how this profitability is measured and the economic 

circumstances in which the component company operates.

Page 135



Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements within Level 3

2021/22

 

UK Property 

Pooled Funds

Overseas 

Property Pooled 

Funds

Venture 

Capital/Private 

Equity

Overseas 

Private Debt

UK Private 

Debt 

UK Corporate 

Bonds Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Market Value 31st March 2021             145,184                         -                 32,404               31,710               33,360                 3,395 246,053

Transfers into Level 3*                 7,509                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -   7,509

Transfers out of Level 3* -137,838                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -   -137,838

Purchases during the year and derivative 

payments
                1,863                   9,339               62,177                       -                 23,787                 1,931 99,097

Sales during the year and derivative receipts -3,183                         -   -3,516                       -   14,496 -5,824 1,973

Unrealised gains/(losses) 670 691 10,257 -2,468 -28,071                       -   -18,921

Realised gains/(losses)                    220                           1 -75                 3,986                    227 498 4,857

Market Value 31st March 2022               14,425                 10,031             101,247               33,228               43,799                       -   202,730

2020/21

 

UK Property 

Pooled Funds

Overseas 

Property Pooled 

Funds

Venture 

Capital/Private 

Equity

Overseas 

Private Debt

UK Private 

Debt 

UK Corporate 

Bonds Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Market Value 31st March 2020             170,116                         -                 17,111               33,363               30,752               17,699 269,041

Transfers into Level 3**                 2,963                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                   2,963 

Transfers out of Level 3** -24,064                         -                         -                         -                         -   -14,369 -38,433 

Purchases during the year and derivative 

payments
                     25                         -                 23,501                       -                   2,540                       -   26,066

Sales during the year and derivative receipts                       -                           -   -8,644                       -   -93 -52 -8,789

Unrealised gains/(losses) -3,856                         -   450 -1,653 161 121 -4,777

Realised gains/(losses)                       -                           -   -14                       -                         -   -4 -18 

Market Value 31st March 2021             145,184                         -                 32,404               31,710               33,360                 3,395             246,053 

*

** Following further information received, on the 1st April 2020 £24.1m of Pooled Property Investment was transferred from level 3 to level 2 

and £3m Pooled Property Investment was transferred from level 2 to level 3.

In the quarter ending March 2021, £14.4m of UK Corporate Bonds were transferred from level 3 to level 2 due to there being more 

observed trading activity to corroborate the fair values given.   

On the 1st April 2021, £137.8m of UK Property Pooled Funds were transferred from level 3 to level 2 due to the restrictions on redemption easing.  

Similarly £7.5m of UK Property Pooled Funds were transferred from level 2 to level 3 due to restrictions on redemption.

P
age 136



N27. Financial instrument disclosure

2021/22

Fair value 

through profit 

and loss

Assets at 

amortised cost

Liabilities at 

amortised cost

£'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Bonds -                                         -                      -   

Pooled investment vehicles 2,773,831                              -                      -   

Pooled property investments 246,138                                 -                      -   

Venture Capital/Private equity 3,853                                     -                      -   

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 71                                          -                      -   

Derivative contracts                        -                       -                      -   

Cash                        -   80,483                               -   

Other investment balances                        -   1,129                                 -   

Debtors                        -   1,387                                 -    

3,023,893          82,999                               -   

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts                        -                       -                      -   

Other investment balances                        -                       -                      -   

Creditors                        -                       -   -1,473

Borrowings                        -                       -                      -   

                       -                       -   -1,473

3,023,893 82,999 -1,473

2020/21

Fair value 

through profit 

and loss

Assets at 

amortised cost

Liabilities at 

amortised cost

£'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Bonds 360,751                                 -                      -   

Pooled investment vehicles 2,257,529                              -                      -   

Pooled property investments 202,134                                 -                      -   

Venture Capital/Private equity 4,856                                     -                      -   

Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd. 112                                        -                      -   

Derivative contracts 1,106                                     -                      -   

Cash                        -   66,484                               -   

Other investment balances                        -   5,800                                 -   

Debtors                        -   552                                    -    

2,826,488          72,836                               -   

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts -813                     -                      -   

Other investment balances                        -                       -                      -   

Creditors                        -                       -   -1,296

Borrowings                        -                       -                      -   

-813                     -   -1,296

2,825,675 72,836 -1,296

Page 137



N27 (a) Net gains and losses on financial instruments

2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Financial assets

Fair value through profit and loss 590,652 197,484

                    -                      -   

Amortised cost - unrealised gains                     -                      -   

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit and loss                     -                      -   

                    -                      -   

Amortised cost - unrealised losses                     -                      -   

590,652 197,484

N28. Bulk transfers in and out of the Pension Fund

Transfers to or from other pension funds

N29. Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted

N30. Taxation where lifetime or annual allowances are exceeded 

N31. Events after the reporting date 

 

There were no events after the reporting date.

All realised gains and losses arise from the sale or disposal of financial assets which have been derecognised in the 

financial statements.

The Fund has not entered into any financial guarantees that are required to be accounted for as financial instruments.

Amortised cost - realised gains on de-recognition of assets

Amortised cost - realised losses on de-recognition of 

assets

During 2021/22  a bulk transfer value £1,069k was paid to another local authority pension fund in respect 

of a group of employees moving between funds (£0 2020/21).

The Code requires consideration of the impact of standards that have been issued but not yet adopted.  This is to 

enable users to evaluate the risk of these new standards on the Pension Fund’s current financial position. 

Amendments to IFRS1 (First-time adoption), IAS37 (Onerous contracts), IFRS16 (Leases), IAS41 (Agriculture) and 

IAS16 (Property, plant and Equipment) have been issued.  These will not have an impact on the Pension Fund and 

are therefore considered to be immaterial.

Where a member's benefit entitlement exceeds the United Kingdom Inland Revenue tax limits (Lifetime Allowance or 

the Annual Allowance), the member is liable for taxation.  This tax can be paid by the member or has to be paid by the 

Pension Fund on behalf of the member in exchange for a reduction in benefit entitlement.  The Pension Fund has 

paid £63k on behalf of members during 2021/22 (£67k 2020/21).  Any lifetime or annual allowance tax paid on behalf 

of members is recovered from their future pension payments.  No accruals are made for the recovery of this tax 

element on the grounds of materiality and the very long term nature of its recovery.

Page 138



Document is Restricted

Page 139

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 157

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 189

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 213

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 233

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 259

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 265

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Pension Committee Minutes -
	6 Pension Board Draft Minutes
	7 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 1
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 1 - Funding Update at 30 June 2022
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 2 - Investment Performance
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 3 - Strategic Asset Allocation
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 4 - Pensions Admin Summary
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 5 - Business Plan
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 6 - Governance Review Work Plan

	8 Risk Register
	Agenda Item 8 - Risk Register - Appendix 1 - Assessment Key
	Agenda Item 8 - Risk Register - Appendix 2

	9 Governance Compliance & Policy Statement
	Agenda Item 9 - Governance Policy & Compliance Statement - Appendix 1

	10 LGPS Performance Benchmarking Report
	Agenda Item 10 - LGPS Performance Benchmarking - Appendix 1

	11 Annual Report of the Pension Board for 2021/22
	Agenda Item 11 - Annual Report of the Pension Board 2021-22 - Appendix 1

	12 Pension Fund Financial Statements 2021/22
	Agenda Item 12 - Pension Fund Financial Statements 2021-22 - Appendix 1

	14 Pension Committee Exempt Minutes
	15 Pension Board Draft Exempt Minutes
	16 2022 Valuation Results
	Agenda Item 16 - 2022 Valuation Results (inc draft Funding Strategy Statement) - Appendix 1 - Fund Valuation Results
	Agenda Item 16 - 2022 Valuation Results (inc draft Funding Strategy Statement) - Appendix 2 - Draft Funding Strategy Statement
	Agenda Item 16 - 2022 Valuation Results (inc draft Funding Strategy Statement) - Appendix 3 - Contribution Rate Review Policy
	Agenda Item 16 - 2022 Valuation Results (inc draft Funding Strategy Statement) - Appendix 4 - Cessation Policy
	Agenda Item 16 - 2022 Valuation Results (inc draft Funding Strategy Statement) - Appendix 5 - Pre Payment Policy

	17 Investment Advisors Quarterly Report and Strategy Asset Allocation Review
	Agenda Item 17 - Quarterly investment report and Strategic Asset Allocation Review - Appendix 1 - 2022 Q2 Market Review
	Agenda Item 17 - Quarterly investment report and Strategic Asset Allocation Review - Appendix 2 - Impact Investing & Social Housing

	18 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2
	Agenda Item 18 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2 - Appendix 1 - Investment Analysis


